
 
 

 
 
 
DYDD LLUN, 21 TACHWEDD 2022 
 
 
AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R CABINET 
 
 
YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD AML-
LEOLIAD O’R CABINET A GYNHELIR YN SIAMBR,  NEUADD Y SIR, 
CAERFYRDDIN, SA31 1JP NEU O BELL AM 10.00 YB, DYDD LLUN, 
28AIN TACHWEDD, 2022 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R MATERION A 
AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA SYDD YNGHLWM 
 

Wendy Walters 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 

 

Swyddog Democrataidd: Julie Owens 
Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224 088 
E-bost: juowens@sirgar.gov.uk 
 

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 
 

 
 

Pecyn Dogfennau



 
 

   Y CABINET  
AELODAETH – 10 AELOD 

 
Cynghorydd Portffolio 

Cynghorydd Darren Price Arweinydd 

Cynghorydd Linda Evans Dirprwy Arweinydd ac Aelod Cabinet dros Gartrefi  

Cynghorydd Glynog Davie Addysg a'r Gymraeg  

Cynghorydd Ann Davies Materion Gwledig a Pholisi Cynllunio 

Cynghorydd Philip Hughes Trefniadaeth a'r Gweithlu  

Cynghorydd Gareth John Adfywio, Hamdden, Diwylliant a Thwristiaeth 

Cynghorydd Alun Lenny Adnoddau 

Cynghorydd Edward Thomas Gasanaethau Trafnidiaeth, Gwastraff a Seilwaith 

Cynghorydd Jane Tremlett Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 

Cynghorydd Aled Vaughan Owen Newid Hinsawdd, Datgarboneiddio a Chynaliadwyedd 

 

 



 
 

 
  

 

A G E N D A   
  

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB   
 
2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL   
 
3. LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR GOFNODION CYFARFOD Y 

CABINET A GYNHALWYD AR 14 TACHWEDD 2022  
5 - 8 

 
4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU   
 
5. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD   
 
6. STRATEGAETH ARLOESI LLEOL  9 - 90 
 
7. ADRODDIAD CHWARTEROL YNGYLCH RHEOLI'R TRYSORLYS 

A DANGOSYDD DARBODAETH EBRILL 1AF 2022 I MEDI 30AIN 
2022  

91 - 108 

 
8. FFIOEDD A THALIADAU CYN-YMGEISIO Y CORFF 

CYMERADWYO DRAENIO CYNALIADWY (SAB)  
109 - 118 

 
9. AILDDOSBARTHU'R A476 CROSS HANDS  119 - 124 
 
10. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 

AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN 
FATER BRYS YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF 
LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972.  

 

 
11. GORCHYMYN I'R CYHOEDD ADAEL Y CYFARFOD   
 NI DDYLID CYHOEDDI’R ADRODDIAD SY’N YMWNEUD Â’R 

MATER CANLYNOL GAN EI FOD YN CYNNWYS GWYBODAETH 
EITHRIEDIG FEL Y’I DIFFINIWYD YM MHARAGRAFF 14 O RAN 4 
O ATODLEN 12A I DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL 1972 FEL Y’I 
DIWYGIWYD GAN ORCHYMYN LLYWODRAETH LEOL 
(MYNEDIAD AT WYBODAETH) (AMRYWIO) (CYMRU) 2007. OS 
BYDD Y BWRDD, AR ÔL CYNNAL PRAWF LLES Y CYHOEDD YN 
PENDERFYNU YN UNOL Â’R DDEDDF, I YSTYRIED Y MATER 
HYN YN BREIFAT, GORCHMYNNIR I’R CYHOEDD ADAEL Y 
CYFARFOD YN YSTOD TRAFODAETH O’R FATH. 
 

 

 
12. STRATEGAETH DERBYNIADAU CYFALAF  125 - 136 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

CABINET 
 

DYDD LLUN, 14 TACHWEDD 2022  
 
 

PRESENNOL Cynghorydd D. Price (Cadeirydd) 
 
Cynghorwyr (Yn y Siambr): 
C.A. Davies G. Davies P.M. Hughes A. Lenny 
E.G. Thomas J. Tremlett A. Vaughan Owen  

 
Cynghorwyr (Yn rhithwir): 
G.H. John;    
 
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn rhithwir) 
Cynghorydd  D. Cundy; 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol (Yn y Siambr): 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr; 
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol; 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau; 
G. Morgans, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Addysg a Phlant; 
A. Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Amgylcheddol a Gwastraff; 
R. Griffiths, Pennaeth Lle a Chynaliadwyedd; 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith; 
C. Higginson, Media Manager; 
L. Jenkins, Swyddog Cymorth y Cabinet; 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd; 
M.S. Davies, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd; 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol  (Yn rhithwyr): 
N. Daniel, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau TGCh a Pholisi Corfforaethol; 
I.R. Llewelyn, Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio; 
J. Owen, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd. 
 
Siambr,  Neuadd Y Sir, Caerfyrddin: 10.00 yb - 10.35 yb 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

Cafwyd ymddiheuriad am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorydd L.D. Evans.  
 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 
 
Y Cynghorydd Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant 

A.    Davies 9 - Diweddaru Rhaglen 
Gyfalaf 2022/23 

Llwybr Beicio Dyffryn Tywi 
yn mynd drwy dir ei fferm. 

  
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  3



 

3. COFNODION - 31AIN HYDREF 2022 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi bod cofnodion y cyfarfod a 
gynhaliwyd ar 31 Hydref 2022 yn gywir, ar yr amod y nodir bod y 
Cynghorydd Deryk Cundy yn bresennol  yn y cyfarfod.   
 

4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau â rhybudd wedi cael eu 
cyflwyno gan yr Aelodau.  
 

5. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd.  
 

6. POLISI RHYDDID GWYBODAETH 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried Polisi Rhyddid Gwybodaeth diwygiedig arfaethedig a 
fyddai'n sefydlu'r egwyddorion sy'n sail i ddull Cyngor Sir Gaerfyrddin o hyrwyddo 
llywodraeth agored ac atgyfnerthu ei ymrwymiad i fod yn agored. Roedd y 
ddogfen wedi'i chymeradwyo'n wreiddiol fel y Côd Ymarfer ar Ganiatáu i'r 
Cyhoedd Weld Gwybodaeth ar 14 Mai 2013 ac roedd wedi mynd ymhell y tu 
hwnt i'w ddyddiad adolygu. Roedd y Polisi diwygiedig yn adlewyrchu nodweddion 
allweddol Deddf Rhyddid Gwybodaeth 2000 (y Ddeddf), gan gynnwys y 
categorïau gwybodaeth eithriedig a bennir yn y ddeddfwriaeth.  
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo'r Polisi Rhyddid 
Gwybodaeth diwygiedig.  
 

7. CYNLLUN DATBLYGU LLEOL DIWYGIEDIG SIR GAERFYRDDIN 2018-2033 
AIL FERSIWN ADNEUO DRAFFT 
Yn dilyn Cofnod 7.2 o gyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 9 Mawrth 2022 bu'r 
Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad yn nodi'r ail fersiwn adneuo drafft o'r Cynllun 
Datblygu Lleol Diwygiedig drwy nodi gweledigaeth y Cyngor o ran defnydd y tir, 
amcanion strategol a gofynion twf strategol ar gyfer y Sir hyd at 2033 ynghyd â 
set o bolisïau a darpariaethau cynhwysfawr a manwl - gan gynnwys dyraniadau 
penodol i safle ar gyfer tai a chyflogaeth yn ogystal ag ystyriaethau amgylcheddol 
ac ystyriaethau gofodol eraill. Gofynnwyd am gymeradwyaeth ar gyfer cyhoeddi'r 
CDLl Adneuo a dogfennau ategol fel rhan o ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus ffurfiol am 
gyfnod statudol o 6 wythnos gan ddechrau yn Rhagfyr 2022/Ionawr 2023. 
Nodwyd bod y CDLl Diwygiedig Adneuo, ynghyd â dogfennau ategol eraill, yn 
ddogfennau a fyddai'n dod i'r amlwg ac yn cael eu datblygu hyd at y pwynt lle 
byddai'r cynllun yn cael ei gyhoeddi. Roedd hyn yn adlewyrchu argaeledd rhai 
darnau o dystiolaeth ac amserlenni a oedd yn gysylltiedig â pharatoi'r cynllun ac 
yn sicrhau y byddai'r Cynllun yn cynnwys yr wybodaeth fwyaf cyfredol adeg ei 
gyhoeddi.  
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL I'R CYNGOR 
  
7.1 cymeradwyo cynnwys yr ail Fersiwn Adneuo Drafft o Gynllun Datblygu 

Lleol Diwygiedig 2018 - 2033 (a dogfennau atodol) at ddibenion 
ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus ffurfiol; 

  

Tudalen 6



 

7.2 cymeradwyo i gyflwyno'r Fersiwn Drafft o'r Canllawiau Cynllunio Atodol 
ynghylch Cilfach Byrri ac Ardal Cadwraeth Arbennig Caeau Mynydd 
Mawr i'w fabwysiadu yr un pryd â'r CDLl Diwygiedig; 

  
7.3 nodi'r Nodyn Briffio Drafft ar yr Adroddiad Twf Economaidd a Thai sy'n 

cael ei lunio a chytuno ar yr Opsiwn Twf diwygiedig a argymhellir; 
  
7.4 rhoi awdurdod dirprwyedig i swyddogion wneud unrhyw addasiadau 

teipograffyddol neu ffeithiol yn ôl yr angen, i wella eglurder o ran ystyr.  
 

8. ADRODDIAD MONITRO CYLLIDEB REFENIW Y CYNGOR 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad monitro'r gyllideb refeniw a oedd yn rhoi'r 
wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am y sefyllfa gyllidebol fel yr oedd ar 31 Awst 
2022/2023. Yn gyffredinol, roedd yr adroddiad monitro yn rhagweld gorwariant ar 
gyfer y flwyddyn ar lefel adrannol o £4,930k gyda gorwariant o £4,804k ar 
gyllideb refeniw net yr Awdurdod. Ar lefel uchel, roedd hyn o ganlyniad i gyfuniad 
o'r canlynol: 
  

       setliadau cyflog a drafodir yn genedlaethol (heb eu penderfynu hyd yn 
hyn) ar lefelau llawer uwch na'r hyn a gyllidebwyd, ac nid yw cyllid 
ychwanegol gan y llywodraeth ar gyfer hyn yn hysbys ar hyn o bryd.  
Amcangyfrifon lefel uchel yw y gallai hynny fod yn £7.1m yn uwch na'r 
gyllideb; 

       gorwario mewn meysydd gwasanaeth sy'n cael eu harwain gan fwy o 
alw ynghyd â llai o arian grant wrth gymharu â blynyddoedd blaenorol, 
yn enwedig Anableddau Dysgu a Gwasanaethau Plant; 

       gostyngiad parhaus mewn incwm masnachol, gan gynnwys meysydd 
parcio, canolfannau hamdden a phrydau ysgol;  

       tanwariant o ran cyllido cyfalaf oherwydd oedi gyda chynlluniau a llai o 
angen i fenthyg. 

  
Nodwyd bod yr Awdurdod, fel rhan o broses pennu cyllideb 2022/23, wedi cytuno 
ar gyllideb wrth gefn gwerth £3m yn ystod y flwyddyn a gedwir yn ganolog ar hyn 
o bryd a oedd yn gwrthbwyso'n rhannol y pwysau cyffredinol a nodwyd uchod.  
  
Nodwyd bod y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai yn rhagweld gorwariant o £27k ar gyfer 
2022/23, i'w ariannu trwy gyfraniad gan gronfeydd wrth gefn. Byddai hynny'n cael 
ei adolygu wrth i'r materion sylweddol a nodwyd ddod yn gliriach o safbwynt 
ariannol. Nodwyd hefyd mai'r Cyfrif Refeniw Tai fyddai'n ariannu'n uniongyrchol y 
cynigion cyflog a drafodir yn genedlaethol ar lefelau llawer uwch na'r hyn a 
gyllidebwyd, a allai ar lefel uchel, fod £0.5m yn fwy na'r hyn a gyllidebwyd.  
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL:  
  
8.1     Derbyn adroddiad monitro'r gyllideb, a nodi'r sefyllfa gyllidebol a'r 

camau unioni priodol a gymerwyd; 
  
8.2     O ran gorwariant sylweddol ar feysydd penodol o'r gyllideb, bydd y 

Prif Swyddogion a'r Penaethiaid Gwasanaeth yn adolygu'n feirniadol 
yr opsiynau sydd ar gael iddynt er mwyn mynd i'r afael â'r effaith 
barhaus.  

  

Tudalen 7



 

 
9. DIWEDDARU RHAGLEN GYFALAF 2022/23 

[SYLWER: roedd y Cynghorydd A. Davies wedi datgan buddiant yn yr eitem hon 
ac nid oedd yn bresennol yn ystod ystyriaeth o'r eitem na'r bleidlais.] 
  
Cafodd y Cabinet adroddiad a oedd yn amlinellu'r sefyllfa gyllidebol ddiweddaraf 
ar gyfer rhaglen gyfalaf 2022/23, fel yr oedd ar 31 Awst 2022 gan fanylu ar y 
 prosiectau newydd i'w nodi a'u cymeradwyo gan y Cabinet. Dywedwyd y 
rhagwelwyd gwariant net adrannol o £78,293k o gymharu â chyllideb net 
weithredol o £148,731k gan roi -£70,438k o amrywiant. Roedd hyn yn 
ailwerthusiad sylweddol o'r alltro a ragwelir i'r hyn a adroddwyd yn dilyn Monitro 
Mehefin yn bennaf oherwydd ailbroffilio a llithriant yn rhaglen y Fargen Ddinesig, 
Llwybr Dyffryn Tywi, y Rhaglen Moderneiddio Addysg a'r Rhaglen Cyfrif Refeniw 
Tai. Yn rhannol, roedd peth o'r llithriant o ganlyniad i faterion capasiti 
contractwyr. 
  
Roedd y gyllideb net yn cynnwys rhaglenni cyfalaf gwreiddiol y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai 
a'r Gronfa Gyffredinol a gymeradwywyd gan y Cyngor ar 2 Mawrth, 2022 a 
llithriant o 22/21. Nodwyd bod rhai cyllidebau hefyd wedi cael eu diwygio yn unol 
â’r gwahaniaethau yn y dyraniadau grant o gymharu â'r dyraniadau disgwyliedig 
pan gafodd y rhaglen ei chymeradwyo a grantiau newydd a gafwyd yn ystod y 
flwyddyn hyd yn hyn.  
  
Nodwyd bod Atodiad B yn manylu ar y prif amrywiannau ym mhob adran.  
  
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL:  
  
9.1     bod yr adroddiad ar ddiweddaru'r rhaglen gyfalaf 2022/23 yn cael ei 
dderbyn; 
  
9.2. bod y prosiectau newydd, fel yr oeddent yn yr adroddiad, yn cael eu 
nodi a'u cytuno.  
 

10. NODI BOD Y GRWP LLAFUR WEDI ENWEBU'R CYNGHORYDD MICHAEL 
THOMAS YN LLE'R CYNGHORYDD SHELLY GODFREY-COLES AR Y 
FFORWM DERBYNIADAU ADDYSG 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL nodi bod y Grŵp Llafur wedi enwebu'r 
Cynghorydd Michael Thomas yn lle'r Cynghorydd Shelly Godfrey-Coles ar y 
Panel Rhianta Corfforaethol.  
 

11. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 
AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN FATER BRYS 
YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau eraill o fater brys. 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CHAIR       DATE 
 

Tudalen 8



 

 
 
 

STRATEGAETH ARLOESI LLEOL 
 
Yr argymhellion / penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen:  
 

• Cymeradwyo cynnwys y Strategaeth Arloesi Lleol: 
 

• Cytuno ar y pedwar Cyfle Arloesi a nodwyd yn y Strategaeth, yn y meysydd canlynol: 
Digidol; Iechyd a Llesiant; yr Economi Sylfaenol a'r Economi Gylchol: 
 

• Gofyn i swyddogion archwilio'r cyfleoedd hyn ymhellach ar gyfer gweithredu lle bo 
modd. 

 
Y rhesymau:  
 
Cefnogi adferiad ac ailstrwythuro economi Sir Gaerfyrddin drwy arloesedd. 
 

  
Angen ymgynghori â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol Oes Cymunedau ac Adfywio  

Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad: Oes                        

Angen i'r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad: Nac oes                         

YR AELOD CABINET SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO: -   Y Cynghorydd Gareth John 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: Y Prif 
Weithredwr 

Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth: Jason 
Jones 
 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
Helen Morgan 
 

Swyddi: 

Pennaeth Adfywio 

 

Rheolwr Datblygu 
Economaidd 
 

 
JaJones@sirgar.gov.uk 

01267 242336 
 

HLMorgan@sirgar.gov.uk 

01267 224902 

CABINET
28 TACHWEDD 2022

Tudalen 9

Eitem Rhif  6

mailto:JaJones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:HLMorgan@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

Local Innovation Strategy 

Cardiff University’s Centre for Innovation Policy Research was commissioned by the 
Authority to explore innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire. The general aim was to 
identify proposals to support the recovery and restructuring of Carmarthenshire’s economy 
through innovation. The aims were to explore the contribution of certain key sectors, 
specifically: the role of the country council and the wider public sector, especially with 
respect to the use of public sector spending power to support innovation; and to focus in 
particular on the Foundational Economy; Health and Wellbeing; Digital innovation; and the 
impact of Climate Change and the prospects of a Green Recovery by harnessing the 
potential of the Circular Economy.  
 
The commission proceeded through three stages: (a) a desktop analysis of key documents 
such as the Business Advisory Group meeting notes, Economic Recovery and Delivery Plan 
and the CLES report work on community wealth building and progressive procurement; (b) 
consultations with 50 key stakeholders in the county, the region and the nation to identify the 
challenges, constraints and future opportunities for innovation; and (c) the development of a 
strategy to promote and support innovation in Carmarthenshire.  
 
The Strategy, a copy of which is attached, recommends 4 opportunities for innovation: 
 
Opportunity 1 – Digital 

• Improved fibre and mobile connectivity 
• Opportunities for next generation digital technologies 
• Addressing digital skills 
• Developing a rural digital innovation centre 

Opportunity 2 – Health 
• Development of a dispersed living laboratory to test new medical products and services 

Opportunity 3 – Foundational Economy 
• Sustainable food procurement and development of the local food supply chain 

Opportunity 4 – Circular Economy 
• Leveraging an approach for the Net Zero Agenda through reducing waste and 

recycling. 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

1. Endorse the content of the Local Innovation Strategy. 
2. Agree the four Innovation Opportunities identified in the Strategy, in the areas of Digital; Health 

& Wellbeing; Foundational Economy; and Circular Economy: 
3. Request officers to further explore these opportunities for implementation where possible. 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? Yes 
 

 
  

Tudalen 10



 

 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities 
 
Yes 

Legal 
 
 

N/A 
 

Finance 
 
 

Yes 

ICT 
 
 

N/A 

Risk 
Management 
Issues 
 
Yes 

 

Staffing 
Implications 
 
 
No 

Physical 
Assets  
 
 
Yes 

 
 
Policy 
 
Alignment with CCC’s Economic Recovery Plan is essential and this will monitor any 
significant changes in the economic climate and escalate as appropriate. 
 
Consideration has been afforded to how we can apply the five ways of working as we make 
progress on the identified opportunities. This will be further developed as detailed plans for 
delivering the opportunities are taken forward. 
 
Finance 
 
Funding will be required to deliver the recommendations of the Local Innovation Strategy.UK 
Government’s Shared Prosperity fund could be a possible source of external funding for any 
projects emanating from the Strategy 
 
Risk Management Issues 
 
Each intervention will be required to maintain a risk register and to mitigate the risks for the 
whole life period of the activity. 
 
Physical Assets 
  
Some interventions will entail investment opportunities in existing physical assets in our town 
centres. 
 

 
  

Tudalen 11



 

 
 

CONSULTATIONS 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 
 
Signed:         Jason Jones                      Head of Regeneration                                                 

 
1. Scrutiny Committee  

Report to go to Community and Regeneration Scrutiny 
2. Local Member(s) 

n/a 
3. Community / Town Council 

n/a 
4. Relevant Partners 

n/a 
5. Staff side representatives and other organisations  

n/a 
 

EXECUTIVE BOARD PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES/NO * Delete as appropriate 

Include any observations here 

Tudalen 12



 

0 
 

 

Exploring the innovation 
prospects for Carmarthenshire 
A Report prepared for Carmarthenshire County 
Council 

Kevin Morgan, Dylan Henderson, Rick Delbridge  October 2022  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Tudalen 13



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire 

 

 

 

Table of Contents  
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................. 1 

2. The multi-level policy landscape .................................................................................... 4 

The UK Level: the new centralism ..................................................................................... 4 

The National Level: two models of devolution ................................................................. 6 

The Subnational level: a new two-tier system ................................................................ 10 

3. The local and regional context for innovation .............................................................. 16 

Socio-economic position ................................................................................................. 16 

Innovation support grant performance .......................................................................... 25 

4. Deep dive analysis ....................................................................................................... 26 

Digital .............................................................................................................................. 26 

Health and wellbeing ...................................................................................................... 31 

Foundational economy ................................................................................................... 37 

Agrifood systems .......................................................................................................... 37 

Construction ................................................................................................................. 42 

Public procurement ...................................................................................................... 48 

Circular Economy ............................................................................................................ 53 

5. Conclusions: Opportunities for innovation ................................................................... 58 

Innovation narratives ...................................................................................................... 59 

Innovation opportunities ................................................................................................ 61 

Annex ............................................................................................................................. 66 

References ...................................................................................................................... 69 

 

  

  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Tudalen 14



 Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

0 

List of Figures  
Figure 1 The Ten Well-being Goals of the Programme for Government .................................... 8 

Figure 2 Policy Responsibilities for Decarbonisation in the UK .................................................. 9 

Figure 3 SBCD Project Portfolio and Lead Organisation ........................................................... 12 

Figure 4 Sectoral Focus of the Economic Recovery and Delivery Plan ..................................... 14 

Figure 5 Settlements in Wales by rural-urban classification, 2011 .......................................... 16 

Figure 6 Carmarthenshire internal migration flows ................................................................. 17 

Figure 7 GVA per head, 2018 .................................................................................................... 18 

Figure 8 VAT/PAYE enterprises per 10,000 residents, 2018 ..................................................... 18 

Figure 9 Births per 10,000 of the population aged 16 to 64, 2020 .......................................... 19 

Figure 10 The share of potential entrepreneurs across postcode sectors in Great Britain ..... 20 

Figure 11 Number of high-growth companies per Welsh local authority, 2011-2020 ............. 21 

Figure 12 Enterprises by industry (% of total), 2019 ................................................................ 22 

Figure 13 Business sector employment breakdown in Carmarthenshire benchmarked against 

Wales ......................................................................................................................................... 23 

Figure 14 Sectoral change in GVA / employment in South West Wales, 2012 to 2030 ........... 24 

Figure 15 Highest qualification levels of working age adults by qualification, 2020 (%) ......... 25 

Figure 16 Value of innovation support grants per 100K population, Swansea Bay City Region, 

2014-2020 ................................................................................................................................. 26 

Figure 17 Fixed broadband coverage -superfast broadband and full fibre availability (% of 

premises), 2020 ......................................................................................................................... 27 

Figure 18 4G geographic coverage by Welsh Local Authority, 2020 ........................................ 28 

Figure 19 Shared Rural Network coverage forecast improvements in Wales .......................... 29 

Figure 20 A Healthier Wales strategic plan ............................................................................... 31 

Figure 21 Energy emissions in Wales, 2018 .............................................................................. 38 

Figure 22 Dairy Production Holdings in the UK ......................................................................... 40 

Figure 23 Challenges facing the construction industry ............................................................. 43 

Figure 24 WLGA Food Group .................................................................................................... 52 

 

List of Tables   
Table 1 Enterprises by size band (% of total), 2019 .................................................................. 22 

1 

Tudalen 15



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

1  

  

1. Introduction  
 

Metropolitan areas have dominated the spatial policy agenda of governments in OECD 

countries for the past 25 years or so. This urban-centric focus has been driven by the belief 

that cities and city-regions are the ‘engines’ of their regional and national economies and 

therefore they need to be fostered rather than frustrated in their efforts to generate 

economic growth. Although there is a correlation between productivity, innovation and 

agglomeration, these urban-centric linkages have been exaggerated because the correlation 

does not hold true for all cities in all regions (Tyler et al., 2017). 

  

What’s more, the political dominance of this urban-centric spatial policy has led to some 

unintended consequences, the most damaging of which is the neglect of non-metropolitan 

areas, particularly rural areas. To a large extent the ‘rural question’ had virtually disappeared 

from the spatial policy agenda until very recently. Indeed, whenever rural and other 

nonmetropolitan areas registered on the political radar, they did so in a way that actually 

confirmed their second-class status by being referred to merely as ‘the hinterland’ of the city 

(Morgan, 2018).   

  

In the following report we venture to suggest that this urban-centric era may have peaked 

because of the combined effects of three emerging trends, namely societal trends, intellectual 

trends and political trends.   

  

Societal trends: while it is still too early to predict the long-term effects of COVID-19, because 

it’s impossible to disentangle the enduring from the ephemeral impacts at the moment, there 

is a good deal of evidence to suggest that one of the effects – hybrid working – could well be 

here to stay. For example, in a special report on ‘the future of work’ it was found that the 

average employee preferred to work from home for nearly half the week (Williams, 2021). 

Although the balance between home and office will vary from sector to sector and from firm 

to firm, it appears that a majority of city centre workers prefer hybrid working to the 

traditional 5-day commute, creating new opportunities for non-metropolitan areas to recruit 

and retain highly skilled people who would hitherto have looked to live in or close to the city. 

While the normalisation of hybrid working does not spell the death of cities, not least because 

agglomeration economies and face-to-face communication remain powerful forces in the 

generation and dissemination of knowledge, urban researchers predict that the pandemic will 

nevertheless trigger significant ‘social changes in the structure and morphology of cities, 

suburbs, and metropolitan regions’ (Florida et al., 2021: 1).   

  

Intellectual trends: the urban-centric bias in spatial policy over the past quarter century has 

its counterpart in innovation policy. One of the common mantras in innovation policy studies 

has been that innovation is largely an urban phenomenon. Indeed, one critic of urban bias has 

succinctly summarised the problem in the following way: ‘it has almost become a research 

premise, as opposed to a research question, that cities are the font of economic innovation’ 

(Shearmur, 2012: 29). According to this argument, the thrust of the mainstream innovation 

policy literature is that cities are quintessential innovative milieus, the implication being that 

Tudalen 16



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

2  

  

the rest of the planet plays little or no role in the innovation process. However, in recent years 

there has been a healthy intellectual backlash against this urban-centric bias as a new 

generation of researchers is beginning to discover that innovative firms come in many shapes 

and sizes and that it’s the quality of their linkages – local as well as non-local - to partners, 

suppliers, customers and universities that is the critical factor in their success. In short, 

researchers are beginning to discover that ‘innovation in the periphery’ is not the oxymoron 

it has been assumed to be (Eder, 2018; Fitjar & Rodríguez-Pose, 2011). This intellectual 

Zeitgeist is also finding echoes in the policy world because the OECD recently launched a new 

multi-country research programme that aims to explore the nature and extent of rural 

innovation. 

 

Political trends: perhaps the most important of all these trends is the new political trend in 

spatial policy designed to give parity of esteem to non-metropolitan places. The urban bias in 

spatial policy provoked a political backlash in non-metropolitan areas in many countries; so 

much so that researchers have variously described it as ‘the geography of discontent’ and ‘the 

revenge of the places that don’t matter’ (McCann & Ortega-Argilés, 2021; Rodríguez-Pose, 

2018). In the UK context the political backlash helps to explain the Conservative government’s 

electoral success in old industrial areas and its novel commitment to the “levelling up” 

agenda, its new spatial policy priority according to the Prime Minister (Johnson, 2021). What 

remains to be seen is whether the levelling up rhetoric can be translated into levelling up 

realities in the non-metropolitan areas of the UK. Although the much-promised Levelling Up 

White Paper has yet to materialise, the rhetoric is already informing a wide array of policies, 

especially spatial policy as well as policies that have not hitherto had an explicit spatial 

dimension, such as innovation policy for example. But as we will see in chapter 2, the UK 

Government (UKG) has introduced a strong levelling up dimension into its recently launched 

Innovation Strategy and it committed itself to enhancing research and innovation spending 

outside the ‘Golden Triangle’ of London, Oxford and Cambridge, where the majority of public 

research and innovation funds have been spent in the past (Forth & Jones, 2020).   

  

The fact that new opportunities may be opening up for non-metropolitan areas does not mean 

that they will amount to anything because local agents – firms, local authorities, universities 

and the like – need to have fashioned the collective capacity to work in concert to make the 

most of the rapidly changing spatial policy landscape in the UK. This capacity for place-based 

collective action is an important ingredient in the recipe for innovation and development, 

especially in rural and non-metropolitan areas which do not enjoy the density of local actors 

that characterise institutionally thick metropolitan regions.   

  

All the international evidence suggests that a capacity for collective action depends on the 

efficacy of linkages between local partners on the one hand and between local and non-local 

partners on the other. In short, it’s the quality of inter-organisational relationships that is most 

critical for local and regional development (OECD, 2018).   

  

While inter-organisational collaboration between local authorities has been underway for 

some time in Wales, it has accelerated in recent years as a result of the City and Growth Deals 

that we address in chapter 2. Also significant is the fact that a new Rural Forum has been 

Tudalen 17



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

3  

  

created in Wales to represent the nine largely rural local authorities and the rationale for this 

institutional innovation is twofold: to raise the collective voice of these non-metropolitan 

areas and to design joint solutions to common problems. To realise these twin aims a new 

Rural Vision has been produced to reflect the shared challenges faced by the Rural Forum 

members, including ‘lower population densities, distance from major population centres and 

transport infrastructure, higher costs of delivery for public services, and the impacts of broad 

social and economic trends on rural communities’ (Woods et al., 2021: 2).   

  

It is no coincidence that a new Rural Vision emerged when it did. Although the nine local 

authorities were concerned to counter the urban-centric bias in spatial policy, they were 

mainly animated by the fact that Brexit had triggered new threats and opportunities as a new 

set of policies would need to be designed in the UK - in areas including agricultural support, 

rural development and regional economic investment - that had previously been designed in 

the EU context. A post-Brexit environment was perceived as an opportunity to design a ‘new 

integrated approach, connecting previously separate policy silos’ (Woods et al., 2021: 2).   

  

But as we will see in chapter 2, a more integrated spatial policy has been conspicuous by its 

absence in the early days of the post-Brexit era because the governments in Cardiff and 

London have been unable or unwilling to synchronise their place-based policies.   

  

Finally, a word about the origins and aims of this report. Carmarthenshire County Council 

(CCC) has been one of the most pro-active in Wales in addressing the twin threats of Brexit 

and Covid. Among other things it has established an independent Business Advisory Group to 

help the authority to design and monitor a post-Covid economic recovery strategy (CCC, 

2021). In addition, it has been a pioneer in applying for, and winning, successive awards under 

the Welsh Government’s Foundational Economy Challenge Fund. And it recently secured 12 

of its 13 bids to the UK-managed Community Renewal Fund, having already secured 2 

important bids to the UK Levelling Up Fund. The commissioning of this report is arguably 

another sign of the council’s pro-active approach to local innovation and development.   

  

The aims of the commission were both general and particular. The general aim was to identify 

proposals to support the recovery and restructuring of Carmarthenshire’s economy through 

innovation. The particular aims were to explore the contribution of certain key sectors, 

specifically: the role of the country council and the wider public sector, especially with respect 

to the use of public sector spending power to support innovation; and to focus in particular 

on the Foundational Economy; Health and Wellbeing; Digital innovation; and the impact of 

Climate Change and the prospects of a Green Recovery by harnessing the potential of the 

Circular Economy.   

The commission proceeded through three stages: (a) a desktop analysis of key documents 

such as the Business Advisory Group meeting notes, Economic Recovery and Delivery Plan and 

the CLES report work on community wealth building and progressive procurement; (b) 

consultations with key stakeholders in the county, the region and the nation to identify the 

challenges, constraints and future opportunities for innovation; and (c) the development of a 

strategy to promote and support innovation in Carmarthenshire.  

Tudalen 18



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

4  

  

Although we originally planned to conduct around two dozen stakeholder consultations, the 

number eventually snowballed to 50 in total. These were all conducted on a Chatham House 

basis, so no information in the report is attributed to anyone. Fortunately, all the stakeholders 

consented to be included in the report and they are listed in the appendix. We would like to 

thank them all for so generously sharing their time and their knowledge.   

 

2. The multi-level policy landscape  
 

The post-Brexit era has already witnessed significant changes to governance systems and 

place-based funding schemes. National and local policymakers in Wales will need to keep 

abreast of these changes because governance and funding need to be understood in terms of 

the new multilevel policy landscape in the UK. For the first 20 years of devolution place-based 

funding schemes were largely governed by a combination of EU regulations on the on hand 

and Welsh Government policies on the other, since UKG were prone to adopt a ‘devolve and 

forget’ attitude to the policy domains that were devolved to Wales and the other Celtic 

nations. In this policy context, local authorities were attuned to the supra-national level in 

Brussels and the national level in Cardiff Bay, since the UK level seemed both distant and 

removed from economic life in Wales, even though large economic levers remained in London 

thanks to the Reserved Powers model of devolution (OECD, 2020).   

In governance terms the pre-Brexit past could not be more different to post-Brexit Britain, 

where the ‘devolve and forget’ attitude has been jettisoned in favour of a new centralism that 

is sometimes referred to as ‘muscular unionism’. Far from being a superficial political change, 

this new governance system carries important implications for the way in which placed-based 

policies are designed and delivered, especially the Shared Prosperity Fund that is intended to 

replace the EU Structural Funds.    

In this chapter we briefly focus on each of these new levels of governance to identify some of 

the key challenges, one of which is how to forge the necessary multilevel synergies without 

which place-based policies are rendered ineffectual. To this end we focus on: (a) the UK level, 

where placed-based policies are supposed to contribute to the UKG’s new Levelling-Up spatial 

policy agenda (b) the national level in Wales, where the Welsh Government is designing a new 

place-based innovation strategy and (c) the subnational level, where local authorities are 

increasingly engaged in two-tier working arrangements: regionally through their City and 

Growth Deals and locally within their local government jurisdictions.    

  

The UK Level: the new centralism  
  

The Devolved Administrations in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland have been forced to 

adjust to a radically new political environment where the UKG plays a much more 

interventionist role in all parts of the country. What is now abundantly clear is that UKG plans 

to assume the role that the European Commission once played in the management of the 

Structural Funds, albeit with one major difference. The main difference is that UKG intends to 

be more pervasive and more prescriptive than the EC was either able or willing to be, despite 

economic development being a devolved competence. This is the new centralism and it is 

Tudalen 19



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

5  

  

most clearly embodied in and symbolised by the United Kingdom Internal Market Act 

(UKIMA). The Act came into effect on 18 December 2020 and it represents the lowest point 

of inter-governmental relations in the history of devolution in the UK. Not surprisingly, the 

Welsh and Scottish Parliaments refused to give their legislative consent to the Internal Market 

Bill. The key provisions of the UKIMA include the following: new rules on how legislatures and 

governments in the UK can legislate to regulate goods and services in future; the regulation 

of professional qualifications in the UK; giving UK Ministers new spending powers in devolved 

areas; and reserve powers for UKG related to subsidy control. Of all these provisions, perhaps 

the most controversial are the mutual recognition principle (section 2) and the financial 

assistance powers (section 50).   

The mutual recognition principle for goods means that goods made, or imported into, one 

part of the United Kingdom that comply with relevant legislative requirements in that part, 

can be sold in the other parts of the United Kingdom, without having to comply with any 

relevant legislative requirements in those other parts. This principle in effect means that the 

Devolved Administrations cannot regulate the supply of goods in the Celtic nations if they are 

deemed to comply with regulations in England, thereby neutering their policies in all the 

devolved areas.    

Section 50 of the Act gives the UKG wide powers to provide financial assistance to any person 

for, or in connection with, a wide range of specified purposes. These purposes include 

promoting economic development, providing infrastructure, supporting cultural activities and 

events, and supporting educational and training activities and exchanges. The financial 

assistance powers extend to funding activities in policy areas devolved to the Celtic nations. 

It was under these financial powers that UKG launched the Community Renewal Fund and the 

Levelling Up Fund (Welsh Senedd, 2021). This Act proved to be so controversial that the three 

finance ministers of the Devolved Administrations issued a joint letter to protest about the 

way it allowed UKG to bypass devolved governments and undermine the devolution 

settlements. The crux of their protest letter is reproduced below.  

‘As Ministers in the Devolved Governments of Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, we wish 
to register our shared concerns about the UKG’s decision to bypass democratically agreed 
devolution arrangements to deliver the Levelling Up and Community Renewal Funds 
announced at Budget 2021…The UKG ignored the Devolved Governments’ efforts and 
requests to input to the development process for these funds for almost three years and is 
now using powers under the UK Internal Market Act to bypass us completely. It is ignoring 
our respective devolution arrangements, delivering funding to meet Whitehall’s priorities 
rather than those of the people of Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. This must be 
addressed before further policy development takes place on the Shared Prosperity Fund. 
Denying us any meaningful input, harms the effectiveness of these funds, will duplicate 
resources, and risks value for money and the achievement of better, fairer outcomes, which 
our communities and people deserve’ (Welsh Government, 2021c).   

A second key difference is the quantum and nature of the funding in comparison to EU funds. 

Though much later than originally planned, the first tranche of funding under the Levelling Up 

and Community Renewal Fund has been announced and the results have been uneven across 

Tudalen 20



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

6  

  

the UK and within Wales. In addition to these announcements the 2021 Spending Review also 

unveiled a whole series of other levelling up initiatives, some of which set worrying 

precedents. For example, the first allocation from the UKSPF was made in the form of the 

£560 million for a programme to improve adult numeracy across the UK over a three year 

period. As fiscal analysts in the Wales Governance Centre concluded: “Traditionally, UKG 

spending announcements in areas devolved to Wales (including education) trigger a Barnett 

consequential. However, since the programme is funded from the Shared Prosperity Fund 

rather than the Department for Education’s departmental budget, this will not be the case. 

The Levelling Up Fund and the Shared Prosperity Fund have been treated as separate 

departments in the budget documents, with no attached comparability factor” (Wales Fiscal 

Analysis, 2021).   

The 2021 Spending Review was also notable for the fact that the levelling up strategy was to 

be applied to domains that hitherto had been largely untouched by spatial policy 

considerations, like research and innovation funding. According to SR21: “The government 

will ensure that an increased share of the record increase in government spending on R&D 

over the SR21 period is invested outside the Greater South East, and will set out the plan for 

doing this in the forthcoming Levelling Up White Paper. The investment will build on the 

support provided throughout the UK via current programmes such as the Strength in Places 

Fund and the Catapult network”(UK Government, 2021: 86).   

The multiple levelling up initiatives announced in SR21 highlight the growing influence of 

central government in the devolved nations, underlining the need for coordination and 

collaboration between the administrations in London and Cardiff Bay. This issue needs to be 

addressed as a matter of urgency because the current system of inter-governmental relations 

in the UK is suffering from the lowest level of political trust since devolution was established. 

The Dunlop Review of inter-governmental relations confirmed this assessment, saying: “There 

is a broad consensus, with which the Review agrees, that the UK’s intergovernmental relations 

machinery is not fit for purpose. The problem should be addressed by the creation of a UK 

Intergovernmental Council (UKIC). It would replace the Joint Ministerial Committee and reset 

relationships for the future. It would be a forum for co-operation and joint working on both 

opportunities and challenges” (Lord Dunlop, 2019: 10).    

The challenge of multilevel policy coordination is arguably the most serious governance 

problems in post-Brexit Britain and it is symbolised in microcosm by the fact that central 

government’s Plan for Wales was written without UKG having a single conversation with the 

Welsh Government. In the context of the new multi-level policy landscape, when research, 

innovation and regional economic development are ever more dependent on harnessing 

multiple funding schemes at different levels of government, the failure to collaborate is a 

recipe for disaster if it is allowed to continue.   

  

The National Level: two models of devolution   
  

The UK and national levels provide the context and shape the nature of the opportunities at 

the regional level. The Welsh Government currently finds itself negotiating with two rapidly 

Tudalen 21



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

7  

  

evolving models of devolution in Wales. For the first 20 years of devolution the national model 

of devolution (from London to Cardiff) was the only game in town. More recently, however, 

this national model has had to co-exist with a subnational model of devolution within Wales 

as four regions begin to take shape to deliver their City and Growth Deals and, from next year, 

to assume new powers under the proposed Corporate Joint Committees. In other words, the 

Welsh Government finds itself in the middle of a new multilevel polity in the UK and this is 

doubly challenging because of the new centralism in the UK and the new regionalism in Wales 

where the policy landscape seems set to become ever more polycentric.  This new multilevel 

policy landscape means that the Welsh Government needs to re-think its role in regional 

development along the lines of the recent OECD review, which recommended a more 

strategic role for the national government as we highlight below (OECD, 2020).  

As regards its relationship with London, the Welsh Government has said that UKG is acting in 

‘an aggressively unilateral way’ towards the devolved nations. The First Minister, Mark 

Drakeford, summed up the inter-governmental problem by saying: ‘We have not seen the 

constructive and collaborative relationship between the governments of the UK that is 

essential’ (Drakeford, 2021).  

The Welsh Government feels it is being bypassed as UKG seeks to deal bilaterally with 

individual local authorities, a stance that undermines existing spatial policy goals which aim 

to build regional consortia of local authorities for City Deals and Growth Deals, all of which 

involve a trilateral partnership between UKG, Welsh Government and Local Government 

(Waite & Morgan, 2018). Local government leaders in Wales are concerned about these new 

forms of contested governance because “the importance of maintaining a three-way dialogue 

stands out from the points made above. It could become very confusing if different tiers of 

government are giving different messages, developing competing initiatives or, worse still, 

contradictory ones”(WLGA, 2021: 4).   

In this new multilevel policy environment it is important to refer back to one of the key 

recommendations of the OECD review of regional development and public investment in 

Wales. Given the Welsh Government’s tendency to work in silos, the OECD argued that there 

is an urgent need for stronger horizontal and vertical coordination of regional development 

activity among actors and for a stronger incentive for them to work together. Among other 

things, therefore, it urged the Welsh Government ‘to take a more strategic role, focused on 

setting objectives, coordinating policy and monitoring performance, while subnational 

authorities concentrate on meeting their service responsibilities’ (OECD, 2020: 26).   

Although the OECD report contained valuable findings and judicious recommendations, it was 

never asked to address the issue of inter-governmental relations in the UK, the issue that 

subsequently transpired to be the biggest governance problem in post-Brexit Britain, namely 

the problematical relationship between the governments in London and the devolved nations.  

At the time of writing there are no ministerial meetings taking place between the 

governments in Cardiff and London, save for the fortnightly meeting between Michael Gove, 

the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, and the First Ministers of the Devolved 

Administrations. In fact, the only substantive discussions that have taken place between 

Wales and UKG on the Shared Prosperity Fund have involved not the Welsh Government but 

Tudalen 22



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

8  

  

Welsh Local Government Association officers, who were invited to be part of a SPF Task Force 

convened by Whitehall. Clearly, the state of inter-governmental relations in the UK is crying 

out for urgent attention because innovation and regional development schemes need to be 

aligned if they are to be impactful.  

Although research, innovation and regional development funding will increasingly come from 

the UK level (and from the EU level for Horizon Europe funding), these funds could and should 

be synchronized with the priorities of the democratically elected Welsh Government. These 

priorities are summarized in the form of ten well-being goals in the Programme for 

Government for the Sixth Senedd and they are highlighted in Figure 1 below.   

Figure 1 The Ten Well-being Goals of the Programme for Government 

  

The fact that none of these goals explicitly refers to innovation is because the Welsh 

Government wanted innovation – technological as well as social innovation – to inform each 

and every goal, as opposed to the innovation strategy being a stand alone goal that did so 

much to undermine it in the past (Delbridge et al., 2021). Many of these well-being goals 

reflect the two key priorities of the Welsh Government, namely the twin commitments to the 

Well-being of Future Generations Act and the decarbonization strategy to achieve Net Zero by 

2050.    

  

The WFG Act is laudable in principle but challenging in practice because the public bodies that 

are subject to its mandate have been denuded of capacity during a decade of austerity under 

the Cameron and May governments. The Future Generations Commissioner has found the 

contrast between promise and practice to be most pronounced in the sphere of public 

procurement, where the potential for ‘procuring well-being’ has been stymied by a whole 

Tudalen 23



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

9  

  

series of factors, including lack of leadership within public bodies, inadequate skills sets and a 

focus on process rather than outcomes (Future Generations Commissioner for Wales, 2021).  

  

The Net Zero priority is the most significant of all the priorities because, even though the 

public may not be fully aware of its implications, it will have the most transformational impact 

on everyday life over the next 25 years, affecting how and where we work, how we travel, 

what we eat and how we heat our homes and buildings (Welsh Government, 2021e).  The Net 

Zero commitment also highlights better than any other policy sphere the need for good 

intergovernmental relations because decarbonization involves both devolved and reserved 

powers as Figure 2 indicates.   

 

Figure 2 Policy Responsibilities for Decarbonisation in the UK  

 

  

Inter-governmental collaboration is also required in the devolved policy spheres within Wales, 

where local government is just as important a player as the Welsh Government in 

implementing policies in agriculture, land use, energy efficiency and waste management etc. 

that contribute to the Net Zero strategy. Designing strategies has never been a problem in 

Wales because they have proliferated over the past twenty years; the real problem has been 

the ‘delivery gap’ between the promise and the practice, an implementation challenge that 

the OECD attributed to ‘a tendency to work in operational or sectoral silos’ (OECD, 2020: 43).    

As the Welsh Government prepares to launch its new innovation strategy it would do well to 

remember that organizational issues – especially how it relates to and works with its partners 

in local government, business and civil society – are the most important issues if Wales is to 

meet its Well-being and Net Zero goals. The new Welsh innovation strategy is expected to 

appear in Spring 2022 and it will be based on the following five priorities:  

 

Tudalen 24



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

10  

  

• ‘Ensure Wales has a fair share of available research, development and innovation 
funding and we will work to secure funding levels at least equivalent to those we 
received historically, via the European Union. We will also work to address historic 
underfunding from both competitive and non-competitive UK investment sources.  

• Deploy research, development and innovation capacity to support our Programme 
for Government focus on climate change, environmental recovery and 
decarbonisation, including support for local government decarbonisation plans.  

• Build our research, development and innovation capacity in health and life sciences 
while ensuring Wales is a full partner in delivering the UK Life Sciences Vision.  

• Develop a new cross-Welsh Government innovation strategy, with a particular focus 
on driving impact.  

• Continue to grow Wales’ capacity for excellent research by launching the next phase 
of Sêr Cymru’ (M. Drakeford (2021) – Written Statement: Five priorities for research, 
development and innovation, 23 November, Welsh Government).   

  

The Subnational level: a new two-tier system  
  

Although local authorities are often perceived to occupy the lowest and least significant rung 

of the multilevel policy landscape, this is unfortunate because it neglects the fact that local 

government has two unique functions: (a) it is the main agent of policy implementation and 

(b) it enjoys the closest proximity to citizens.  These two functions will assume ever more 

importance because policy implementation is crucial to bridging the ‘delivery gap’ in Wales 

and proximity to citizens is the key to effecting behavioural change at the local level, where 

low carbon lifestyles need to be framed and enabled and where environmental ‘spillovers’ 

(where one low-carbon habit can ‘spillover’ to another) can be encouraged though peer-

topeer engagement at community level (Mcloughlin et al., 2019).   

In Wales the subnational level is witnessing unprecedented change as local authorities are 

now working in a new two-tiered system. In addition to their traditional locally-based service 

functions, they are also regionally engaged in delivering their City and Growth Deals and in 

the process of becoming Corporate Joint Committees in their respective regions, where they 

will assume responsibility for strategic planning, transport and economic wellbeing.    

As regards its regional context, Carmarthenshire is a member of the Swansea Bay City Region 

(SBCR). Formed in 2013, the SBCR is a joint venture between four local authorities, 

Carmarthenshire, NPT, Swansea and Pembrokeshire, and the aim is to deliver the Swansea 

Bay City Deal (SBCD), which was agreed in 2017. The SBCR is a highly diverse City Region, 

straddling urban and rural areas with a total population of nearly 700,000, making it the 

second largest region in Wales after the Cardiff Capital Region.  The investment objectives of 

the SBCD portfolio are threefold:  

  

Tudalen 25



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

11  

  

  
Source: Swansea Bay City Deal (2021)  

  

The SBCD is a partnership of eight regional organisations made up of local authorities, 

universities and health boards that aims to accelerate economic and social advancement 

through regional infrastructure and investment funds.  The SBCD partners are:   

• CCC  

• City and County of Swansea Council  

• Neath Port Talbot Council  

• Pembrokeshire County Council  

• Swansea University  

• University of Wales Trinity Saint David  

• Hywel Dda University Health Board  

• Swansea Bay University Health  Board 

Tudalen 26



 Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire 

12  

  

This section does not address the minute details of the SBCD, or the challenges facing the  

South West Wales region, because these have been well documented already (SQW, 2021) 

(SBCD, 2021; SQW, 2021). However, it is worth highlighting the pivotal role that CCC occupies 

within this new regional architecture and in the governance of the SBCD itself. As well as being 

the Accountable Body for the whole City Deal, CCC is also the lead authority for 4 of the 9 

SBCD projects as we can see from Figure 3 below.  

Figure 3 SBCD Project Portfolio and Lead Organisation 

      

Source: Swansea Bay City Deal (2021)  

CCC plays a distinctive role in the SBCD arrangements on two counts because it is the lead 

organization on more projects than any other local authority and its projects involve a 

combination of economic development and health and wellbeing that cater for and resonate 

with the entire region, as opposed to Swansea’s projects for example, which are largely 

confined to its own local jurisdiction.   

Although it is too early to judge the success or otherwise of the SBCD projects, what is already 

clear is that the biggest challenges facing the region are twofold: (a) how to fashion a coherent 

and effective regional innovation ecosystem from eight somewhat disparate partners and (b) 

how to mobilise sufficient investment sources, especially from the private sector, because the 

Business Case freely concedes that ‘the City Deal cannot be successfully delivered without the 

engagement of and collaboration with the private sector’ (Swansea Bay City Deal, 2021: iv).   

As regards the local dimension of the two-tier system, the business development function is 

the most pertinent to innovation and local economic development. But this business 

development function occupies a paradoxical status: although it is the most critical function 

of all from an economic development perspective, it remains a non-statutory function of local 

government. This non-statutory status helps to explain why many local economic 

development departments have been so severely reduced in recent years, denuded by a 

decade of austerity-driven budget cuts.   

Although all local authorities have been affected in this way, CCC is especially challenged 

because it has one of the most ambitious economic recovery plans in Wales and this exacting 

Tudalen 27



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

13  

  

strategy places extra demands on its internal capacity and resources. To conclude this section, 

we briefly consider three ways in which CCC is seeking to engage more effectively with its 

local business community – through public procurement, planning policy, and business 

support.   

As public procurement is addressed in more detail in chapter 4, here we simply want to 

register its strategic significance. For the past 20 years public procurement has been touted 

as a panacea for many problems in Wales, be they economic, social or environmental 

problems. But reforming procurement practice is easier said than done because a culture of 

low-cost contracting is deeply embedded in the Welsh public sector; so much so that a recent 

review of public procurement found it falling short of meeting the WFG goals (Future 

Generations Commissioner for Wales, 2021). But the potential of public procurement is clear 

for all to see. In the case of Carmarthenshire for example, CCC spends nearly £250 million per 

annum on goods and services, with adult social care accounting for 34% of the total and 

construction accounting for another 20%. As we will see in chapter 4, CCC is now pursuing a 

series of reforms to achieve two goals: to enhance the amount that is spent in the county and 

to maximise the impact of that local spend.   

Planning is another local government policy that has a direct impact on the local business 

community because of its capacity to either foster or frustrate economic development. It is 

no secret that planning has been a problematical function in Carmarthenshire for many years, 

triggering perennial complaints from the business community and compromising local 

regeneration efforts (Audit Wales, 2021). Fortunately, these problems are now being 

addressed in a methodical fashion and a series of reforms has been put in place which will 

reduce the backlog of applications and expedite major projects that have a significant 

economic impact. Through these reforms CCC aims to make the planning function part of a 

more integrated and sustainable place-making process rather than the silo-like function it has 

been in the past.  

Finally, there is business support. Although this is a non-statutory function as we have seen, 

it has a higher status in CCC than in many other local authorities in Wales. As we noted in the 

introduction, CCC has been one of the most pro-active authorities in commissioning a 

postCovid Economic Recovery and Delivery Plan and in establishing an independent Business 

Advisory Group composed of key figures from the local business community in the county 

(CCC, 2021). Being a county that contains a mix of urban and rural communities, the business 

support function needs to strike a judicious balance between its sectoral and spatial focus. 

On the sectoral front the plan has chosen to focus on a combination of foundational sectors 

and high-growth sectors as in Figure 4 below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 28



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

14  

  

Figure 4 Sectoral Focus of the Economic Recovery and Delivery Plan  

   
As we explore the prospects for some of these sectors in chapter 4, suffice it to say that the 

high-growth sectors tend to be the targeted sectors of many other cities and regions in the 

UK, which means that CCC needs to be more granular and targeted with respect to its USP 

and with what it chooses to support within each of these sectors.  

As regards the spatial focus, which receives less attention in the Economic Recovery and 

Delivery Plan, CCC plans to build on its Ten Towns programme, an initiative that emerged from 

a Rural Affairs Task Group inquiry. The rural question is much more important in 

Carmarthenshire than it is in Wales generally because 61% of its population is deemed to be 

‘rural’ compared to just 33% nationally (Carmarthenshire Rural Affairs Task Group, 2019). The 

Ten Towns strategy is funded through the 2014-2020 Rural Development Programme and 

such funding will end in 2023, raising big questions as to how business support and economic 

development will be resourced in the county when EU funding ends. Currently business 

support in Wales (covering Business Wales and the SMART suite of innovation schemes etc) 

is funded to a tune of £27 million per year from EU funds and there is currently nothing in 

place to replace these funds.     

But as we shall see later, future funding for business support needs to be framed as one part 

of a larger question about the regional innovation ecosystem in West Wales, the place-based 

networks through which local partners work in concert to achieve collectively what none can 

achieve on its own. Although CCC has done relatively well in securing project funding from 

the first tranches of the Levelling Up Fund and the Community Renewal Fund, these modest 

projects are no substitute for securing the much larger funding streams that will come from 

the significant increase in R&D funding, which is likely to fund Innovation Deals and the like, 

Tudalen 29



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

15  

  

building on successful place-based innovation schemes like the Strength in Places Fund (Jones, 

2021).    

The business support system in the county and the region needs to be fit for purpose if it 

wants to take advantage of this new funding era. This era will set a premium on innovationled 

research, and the D side of the R&D spectrum, meaning that partnerships between 

universities and enterprises will be prioritised along with place-based consortia in which local 

authorities can play an important role in convening and managing the consortia. As all 

organisations have capacity constraints, the way forward is to make a virtue of necessity by 

pooling resources to find joint solutions to common problems. CCC cannot be expected to 

engage with all the businesses in its county on its own slender resources, still less to generate 

granular knowledge of these businesses, but it can do these things in concert with its partners 

in a regional innovation ecosystem – assuming the county and the region have the 

wherewithal to fashion such a system. This conception of CCC as (part of) an innovation 

ecosystem is a central thread to our report.   

   

Tudalen 30



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

16  

  

3. The local and regional context for innovation  
This section draws together key socioeconomic statistics on Carmarthenshire with the 

intention of providing contextual information in support of the Local Innovation Strategy. It 

does not report on traditional metrics of innovation such as research and development, as 

these are not collected at the level of local authorities (in Wales), but does provide an 

indication of how well firms in Carmarthenshire are engaging with the innovation support 

programmes of Welsh Government and Innovate UK.   

  

Socio-economic position  
  

Figure 5 shows that Carmarthenshire and the wider South West region have a high proportion 

of sparse settlements relative to the most urban parts of Wales. It is estimated that there are 

some 112,921 people living in rural areas of the local authority area, representing 61% of its 

population (Carmarthenshire Rural Affairs Task Group, 2019).  

 

Figure 5 Settlements in Wales by rural-urban classification, 2011 

  
Source: Statistics for Wales (2020) https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-

andresearch/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf  

  

Tudalen 31

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

17  

  

The population of Carmarthenshire (188,171, 2019) has grown steadily in recent decades 

though natural growth (fertility/mortality) as well as population in migration (see Figure 6). 

Such net inflows have been highest in the 30-65 age group  

  

Figure 6 Carmarthenshire internal migration flows 

  
Source: Edge Analytics (2019)  

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-

2019english.pdf  

  

GVA per head provides an indicator of the region’s economic prosperity. Here 

Carmarthenshire’s figure of £16,751 falls below other parts of the South West region and the 

Wales average. Caution is required in interpreting regional GVA figures, however, as it can be 

influenced by factors such as commuting (see Experian, 2006). In recent years analysis 

reported in the Carmarthenshire Economic Recovery & Delivery Plan (CCC, 2021) suggests 

that GVA fell at the start of the pandemic, but is expected to recover to its pre-pandemic 

levels within three years (in the most optimistic scenario).  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Tudalen 32

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-2019-english.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-2019-english.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-2019-english.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-2019-english.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-2019-english.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-2019-english.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-2019-english.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-2019-english.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-2019-english.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1221659/edge-analytics-addendum-2019-english.pdf


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

18  

  

Figure 7 GVA per head, 2018 

 

Source: National Statistics, 2020   

(https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-

economicand-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf)  

  

The business stock of Carmarthenshire is a further measures of its economic dynamism. Figure 

8 suggests that Carmarthenshire is consistent with the Wales average with respect to 

enterprises per 10,000 residents. In relation to the birth of new businesses, however, 

Carmarthenshire has fallen behind the Wales and South West averages, both of which are 

some way behind the UK average (see Figure 9).  

  

Figure 8 VAT/PAYE enterprises per 10,000 residents, 2018 

 

Tudalen 33

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

19  

  

Source: National Statistics, 2020  (https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-

research/2020-07/regional-economicand-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf)  

  

Figure 9 Births per 10,000 of the population aged 16 to 64, 2020 

 
Source: StatsWales (2020)  

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour- 

Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year  

  

There is some evidence, however, that the potential entrepreneurial capacity1 of the region 

may be great than Figure 10 suggests, with Carmarthenshire and the wider South West Wales 

amongst the parts of Wales with high entrepreneurship potential (Mewes & Ebert, 2021).  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 
1 Drawn from a survey of 368,364 participants in the UK, who are not yet self-employed, but who report 

‘Owning my own business as an important goal in their life’ (Mewes & Ebert, 2021: 334).  

  

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

United Kingdom Wales South West Wales Carmarthenshire 

Tudalen 34

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-07/regional-economic-and-labour-market-profiles-july-2020-208.pdf
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businessbirths-by-area-year


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

20  

  

Figure 10 The share of potential entrepreneurs across postcode sectors in Great Britain 

  
Source: Mewes & Ebert (2021)  

  

High growth businesses that have received equity investment provide a furth indicator of the 

dynamism of Carmarthenshire and the wider city region. Figure 11 shows that 

Carmarthenshire has 44 such companies, with this total largely consistent with other rural 

and semi rural regions of Wales, but some way behind the totals reported in the most 

populous areas of Wales. This is a policy area where CCC are seeking to review its supports 

for high growth firms, as part of its Economic Recovery Programme (CCC, 2021).   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

  

Tudalen 35



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

21  

  

Figure 11 Number of high-growth companies per Welsh local authority, 2011-2020 

  
Source: Beauhurst (2021)  

  

Table 1 provides further insights into the economic structure of Carmarthenshire. It shows 

that the majority of firms (like elsewhere in Wales) are micro in size (employing fewer than 9 

employees). It does, however, have a greater average number of small, medium and large 

firms than other areas of Wales and the UK.  

  

  

  

  

  

   

  

  

  

  

  

  

Tudalen 36



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

22  

  

Table 1 Enterprises by size band (% of total), 2019 

 Micro  

(0 - 9)   

Small  

(10  -  

49)   

Medium 

(50  -  

249)   

Large 

(250 +)  

All size 

bands   

United Kingdom  96  3.3  0.6  0.1  100  

Wales   95  3.6  0.8  0.6  100  

South  West  

Wales  

94.2  3.8  0.9  1.1  100  

Carmarthenshire   93.3  3.9  1  1.9  100  

Source: StatsWales (2019)  

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour- 

Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year  

  

  

The sectoral focus of Carmarthenshire’s businesses, as reported in Figure 12, shows that the 

region has a greater proportion of agricultural enterprises (17.5%). It also has strong 

concentrations of enterprises in the production sector and other services. These figures 

reflect their rural character of the county, as highlighted in Figure 5.  

  

Figure 12 Enterprises by industry (% of total), 2019 

 
Source: StatsWales (2019)  

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour- 

Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-

sic2007sizeband-area  

  

The breakdown of employment share in key sectors in Carmarthenshire and Wales. It shows 

that the employment percentage exceeds the Welsh average in foundational sectors such as 

Heath, Retail, agriculture, forestry education and fishing. Indeed, employment in agriculture, 

  

0.0 5.0 10.0 15.0 20.0 25.0 30.0 

Agriculture 

Production 

Construction 

Wholesale, retail, transport, hotels, food & 
communication 

Financial and business services 

Private sector health and education 

Other services 

Carmarthenshire South West Wales Wales United Kingdom 

Tudalen 37

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-sizeband-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Structure/Headline-Data/enterprises-by-industry-sic2007-sizeband-area


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

23  

  

forestry and fishing is almost double the national average. In contrast, employment in sectors 

such as information and communication, finance and insurance, professional, scientific and 

technical services are all below the Welsh average (see Figure 13).   

  

Figure 13 Business sector employment breakdown in Carmarthenshire benchmarked against 
Wales 

  
Source: Carmarthenshire Rural Affairs Task Group (2019)  

  

Analysis of the sectoral composition and prospective development of the wider South West 

region of Wales suggest that financial and business services are expected to grow in the 

coming decade, as are construction and accommodation and food services., Other sectors, 

such as government services are likely to remain important given their existing strength 

(Figure 14).  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Tudalen 38



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

24  

  

Figure 14 Sectoral change in GVA / employment in South West Wales, 2012 to 2030 

  
Source: Swansea Bay City Region  

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic- 

Regeneration- 

Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588 

190013  

  

Human resources are a component of a dynamic economy. Here Figure 15 shows that 

Carmarthenshire performs well against the highest qualification levels – NQF 2-4+. Such skills 

have been highlighted as important contributors to both productivity and innovation (Rao et 

al., 2002).   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

  

Tudalen 39

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/2815/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf?m=1630588190013


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

25  

  

Figure 15 Highest qualification levels of working age adults by qualification, 2020 (%)  

 
Source StatsWales (2020)  

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Educationand-

Training/Lifelong-

Learning/QualificationLevels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-

regionsofwales-qualification  

  

While these indicators point to the peripheral nature of Carmarthenshire’s economy, they 

also show the diversity of its economy (in spite the high proportion of agricultural 

enterprises), the presence many small, medium and large firms, and evidence of a high level 

of qualifications amongst the workforce. These indicators speak to the innovation context of 

Carmarthenshire, but also highlight some of the challenges and opportunities that may enable 

or constrain such activity.   

  

Innovation support grant performance  
 

A range of support for business and higher education institutions to innovation is available 

from Welsh Government and UK organisations such as Innovate UK. Data available from these 

sources of funding provides an insight into how firms in Carmarthenshire (and the wider city 

region) are innovating. Figure 16 profiles use of the three main funding sources: Smart Cymru 

– Welsh Government’s primary funding for innovation projects2, Innovate UK’s equivalent 

funding, and KTP awards for collaborative knowledge transfer projects3. These schemes are 

available to firms in Wales. This data shows that when adjusted for population 

Carmarthenshire firms perform above the all Wales averages for all indicators, and within the 

 
2 https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/support-and-funding-businesses/smartcymru 3 

https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-

andcolleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp  

  

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 

No qualifications 

Qualified to below level 2 

Qualified to NQF level 2 or above 

Qualified to NQF level 3 or above 

Qualified to NQF level 4 or above 

Carmarthenshire South West Wales Wales 

Tudalen 40

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/support-and-funding-businesses/smartcymru
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/support-and-funding-businesses/smartcymru
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/support-and-funding-businesses/smartcymru
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/support-and-funding-businesses/smartcymru
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/support-and-funding-businesses/smartcymru
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/support-and-funding-businesses/smartcymru
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/support-and-funding-businesses/smartcymru
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/support-and-funding-businesses/smartcymru
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp
https://businesswales.gov.wales/expertisewales/search-expertise-within-universities-and-colleges/knowledge-transfer-partnerships-ktp


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

26  

  

City Region only Pembrokeshire performs better in relation to Smart Cymru and Innovate UK3 

funding.  

 

Figure 16 Value of innovation support grants per 100K population, Swansea Bay City Region, 
2014-2020 

 
Source: Delbridge et al. (2021)/ Neil Roche, WERU Welsh Government  

  

These sources of data point to uneven levels of innovation activity in the city region partners. 

While much of this picture reflects the underlying characteristics of the firm population and 

presence of higher and further education partners, there may be potential for this 

comparative performance to be strengthened through greater support for innovation in the 

county by improving connections to the wider ecosystem of innovation support in Wales.    

 

4. Deep dive analysis  
 

Digital  
  

Introduction  

Rural areas have long faced challenges of ensuring infrastructure parity with their urban 

counterparts. Such disparities have been linked to the comparatively higher costs associated 

with deploying broadband in harder to reach areas, but also network economics that mean 

subscriber bases are much smaller than those in urban areas (Grubesic & Mack, 2016). 

Improving connectivity in Wales has, in recent years, focused on supporting deployment of 

digital infrastructure and addressing so-called not spots through programmes such as 

Superfast Cymru and its successors. This has helped to improve availability of superfast 

broadband availability to just over 95% of Wales (Ofcom, 2020). It is increasingly recognised, 

however, that digitalisation is not simply a question of deploying digital infrastructure, it is 

also a question of how business and individuals make use of it. Here such exploitation has also 

 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/innovate-uk  

  

 -  1,000,000  2,000,000  3,000,000  4,000,000  5,000,000 

Carmarthenshire 

Neath Port Talbot 

Pembrokeshire 

Swansea 

All Wales 

KTP Grant (£m) per 100k population 2010-2020 

Innovate UK R,D&I sum offered (£s)  per 100k population 2014-2020 

Smart Cymru  sum offered (£s) per 100k population 2014-2020 

Tudalen 41

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/innovate-uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/innovate-uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/innovate-uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/innovate-uk


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

27  

  

been supported by the Welsh Government, through programmes such as the Superfast 

Broadband Business Exploitation programme, delivered by Business Wales (Miller & 

Greenwood, 2019), alongside online support from organisations such as BT and Google4.   

  

Current position  

Carmarthenshire is a predominantly rural area with comparatively sparse population. These 

features have shaped its deployment of superfast broadband access, where despite 

substantial improvements it continues to lag behind Wales averages for both superfast 

broadband access – denoted by the vertical blue line (see Figure 17). These figures for fibre, 

however, are just above the Wales average (vertical orange line), and likely to be influenced 

by deployment support from Superfast Cymru and work of the so-called Alt Nets. The 

availability of 4G mobile connectivity also lags more urban areas of Wales and is consistent 

with other rural areas of Wales (Figure 18). In the case of both fixed and mobile broadband 

connectivity the challenges faced by Carmarthenshire are linked to its rurality, with evidence 

highlighting the comparatively large cost of broadband installation to rural premises relative 

to their urban counterparts (Woods et al., 2021).   

  

Figure 17 Fixed broadband coverage -superfast broadband and full fibre availability (% of 
premises), 2020  

 
Source: Ofcom (2020) 

 
4 https://www.bt.com/skillsfortomorrow/ 

https://learndigital.withgoogle.com/digitalgarage  

0 20 40 60 80 100 

BLAENAU GWENT 
BRIDGEND 

CAERPHILLY 
CARDIFF 

CARMARTHENSHIRE 
CEREDIGION 

CONWY 
DENBIGHSHIRE 

FLINTSHIRE 
GWYNEDD 

ISLE OF ANGLESEY 
MERTHYR TYDFIL 

MONMOUTHSHIRE 
NEATH PORT TALBOT 

NEWPORT 
PEMBROKESHIRE 

POWYS 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF 

SWANSEA 
TORFAEN 

VALE OF GLAMORGAN 
WREXHAM 

Full Fibre availability (% premises) SFBB availability (% premises) 

Wales average - SFBB Wales average – Full fibre 

Tudalen 42

https://www.bt.com/skillsfortomorrow/
https://www.bt.com/skillsfortomorrow/
https://www.bt.com/skillsfortomorrow/
https://learndigital.withgoogle.com/digitalgarage
https://learndigital.withgoogle.com/digitalgarage


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

28  

  

 

Figure 18 4G geographic coverage by Welsh Local Authority, 2020 

  
Source: Ofcom, 2020  

  

In addition to programmes such as Superfast Cymru and its successors support for broadband 

has also been accessed by the Swansea Bay City Deal. This includes the provision of a £55 

million Digital Infrastructure programme to further address not spots. Led by Carmarthenshire 

this is focused on connectivity improvements for households and businesses in both urban 

and rural areas (Carmarthenshire Rural Affairs Task Group, 2019). Carmarthenshire is also 

engaging in the UKG’s Shared Rural Network Scheme (via the UK’s four mobile operators) to 

improve 4G availability in rural areas (Wilkinson, 2021). It is expected to improve 4G 

connectivity in South West Wales from an average of 79% to 88% by the end of the 

programme in 2025 (Figure 19). That said, Ofcom have recently estimated that some 1% of 

premises in Carmarthenshire are unable to receive ‘decent’ broadband (10mbts download 

speed and 1mbts upload speed) from either a fixed or mobile connection (Ofcom, 2020).  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 43



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

29  

  

Figure 19 Shared Rural Network coverage forecast improvements in Wales 

  
Source: https://srn.org.uk/forecast-coverage-improvements/  

  

Future challenges and opportunities  

Fibre deployment represents a significant policy priority for the UKG, and is currently in the 

early stages of a £5 billion programme to ensure fibre access for more than one million hard 

to reach premises5. This intends to support the roll-out of fibre with a target of ensuring 85% 

gigabit coverage by 2025. Plans for Wales, however, have yet to be finalised. While the focus, 

to date, has been on England, the completion of Welsh Government’s Open Market Review 

is likely to precede deployment planning in Wales. To this end the opportunity for 

Carmarthenshire will be one of working with both Welsh and UKG to ensure that it is able to 

access such funding, and that it works to minimises the known challenges of deploying fixed 

broadband in rural areas, such as street works and access across land for cable and other 

infrastructure works (Henderson & Roche, 2020). Here the Council has developed a ‘barrier 

busting’ group to draw together key officials to discuss deployment challenges and solutions.   

 

Connectivity also remains an ongoing challenge with respect to next generation technologies. 

The local authority is in the early stages of creating a LoRaWan network across the local 

authority area. This has the potential to act as a test-bed for innovative applications such as 

the addition of sensors to objects such as bins, quad bikes, farm gates in order to monitor use 

and security. Such applications represent the early stages of the Internet of Things (IoT). While 

there is a case for facilitating the creation of such a network future support for use cases 

should, where, possible be aligned to council priorities and agendas such as smart towns6. 

Other future technologies in this space include 5G networks. Here the same deployment 

challenges facing fixed and mobile (4G) connectivity are relevant. The opportunities of 5G 

relate not only to faster mobile downloads, but in the range and services that may be enabled 

in key sectors such as education, health, business (Curwen & Whalley, 2021). The use cases 

 
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan  
6 https://www.hwbmenter.cymru/en/smart-towns  

Tudalen 44

https://srn.org.uk/forecast-coverage-improvements/
https://srn.org.uk/forecast-coverage-improvements/
https://srn.org.uk/forecast-coverage-improvements/
https://srn.org.uk/forecast-coverage-improvements/
https://srn.org.uk/forecast-coverage-improvements/
https://srn.org.uk/forecast-coverage-improvements/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/project-gigabit-phase-one-delivery-plan
https://www.hwbmenter.cymru/en/smart-towns
https://www.hwbmenter.cymru/en/smart-towns
https://www.hwbmenter.cymru/en/smart-towns
https://www.hwbmenter.cymru/en/smart-towns


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

30  

  

required to support 5G deployment in rural areas, however have yet to be established 

(Oughton & Frias, 2018). This is where rural test-beds funded by the DCMS/Welsh 

Government represent opportunities for Carmarthenshire to learn, but also contribute to 

with additional localised test beds focusing on applications relevant to the local authority 

area. Such work should be coordinated with existing 5G test-beds across to ensure synergies 

and avoid duplication.   

  

The challenge of helping individuals and organisations to make use of new digital connectivity 

represents a wider opportunity for Carmarthenshire to raise digital skills, but also the 

innovation potential of its firms. Here the recently announced £30 million Swansea Bay City 

Deal Skills and Talent programme for South West Wales offers the potential to support the 

development of such skills in Carmarthenshire, targeting sectors with the highest 

requirements7. In addition, Carmarthenshire should seek to interact with the forthcoming 

iteration of Business Wales. This is likely to incorporate a greater degree of digital exploitation 

support than earlier Business Wales programmes. The opportunity here, will be to ensure that 

such programmes have a greater presence in the local authority area. Other support that 

could be harnessed include BT’s Skills for Tomorrow programme and Lloyds Bank (Lloyds Bank 

Academy), targeting SMEs and charities, as well as other online provision such as Google 

Garage and Amazon Academy). There may also be opportunities to build on current activities 

to establish digital maker hubs across the county to provide greater support for digital skills 

in the heart of rural communities (CCC, 2017). Such an approach has already been piloted in 

Monmouthshire, and lessons should be sought (Woods et al., 2021).   

  

Raising digital skills represents a cross-cutting opportunity that has the potential to bring 

productivity and innovation benefits to firms in Carmarthenshire (WERU, 2020), as well as the 

potential for new business practices and business models in both the public and private 

sectors. For rural areas such connectivity and use have been linked to reducing social 

loneliness (Hart, 2016), but also the potential to attract skilled migrants and entrepreneurs 

(Norris & Henderson, 2019). Access to broadband connectivity also offers household benefits 

such as access to education, health and other public services. Such digital connectivity 

benefits have been highlighted during the COVID-19 pandemic, where working from home 

has seen an increase in broadband usage8.  

  

Digital skills development and greater digital connectivity also offer potential to support 

strategic projects in the county such as the Yr Egin, where plans are in place to develop a 

digital and creative hub at the UWTSD in Carmarthen9. The plans for Pentre Awel (see Health 

and Wellbeing deep dive) also include opportunities to exploit such digital connectivity to 

support innovative service offerings and new product development.   

 

 

  

 
7 https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/  
8 https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges  
9 https://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/projects/canolfan-s4c-yr-egin/  

Tudalen 45

https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://businessnewswales.com/30-million-boost-for-developing-skills-in-south-west-wales/
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2020/uk-internet-use-surges
https://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/projects/canolfan-s4c-yr-egin/
https://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/projects/canolfan-s4c-yr-egin/
https://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/projects/canolfan-s4c-yr-egin/
https://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/projects/canolfan-s4c-yr-egin/
https://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/projects/canolfan-s4c-yr-egin/
https://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/projects/canolfan-s4c-yr-egin/
https://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/projects/canolfan-s4c-yr-egin/
https://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/projects/canolfan-s4c-yr-egin/


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

31  

  

Health and wellbeing   
 

Introduction  

Health and wellbeing represent one of the grand challenges facing Wales, with its ageing 

population, long term health issues, such as chronic conditions and mental health, and 

increasing requirements for specialist treatment (Welsh Government, 2015). As a devolved 

area of policy responsibility Welsh Government (and its partners) has substantial agency by 

which to innovate in its response to this grand challenge area. The Healthier Wales strategy 

sets out a vision for innovation at the heart of healthcare, with plans for the greater 

integration of health and social care, and the provision of services close to home rather than 

in hospitals Figure 20. This presents a particular challenge for rural areas, where dispersed 

population adds to the challenge of delivering such healthcare plans locally, but also one 

where innovation offers opportunities to support service delivery and pre-empt condition 

exacerbation.   

  

Figure 20 A Healthier Wales strategic plan 

  

  
Source: Welsh Government https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-

10/ahealthier-wales-action-plan.pdf  

  

The move towards greater integration of health, social care and wellbeing is one area where 

partnership-based service provision is being developed across Wales, as well as links to other 

policy agendas such as the Economic Impact Plan. The COVID pandemic has, however, 

illustrated that the health and social care sector is well placed to produce innovative 

responses to such challenges.   

  

Current position  

There are a range of organisations and initiatives supporting innovation in the healthcare 

sector in Carmarthenshire forming what has been described as ‘life science and health 

ecosystem’ in the wider South West Wales (Davies et al., 2018). This includes organisations 

Tudalen 46

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/a-healthier-wales-action-plan.pdf


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

32  

  

responsible for healthcare and social care provision, as well as engagement with the third 

sector, and associated support for both organisational and technological forms of innovation 

in the county:   

  

Hywel Dda University Health Board (HDUHB) is the main agency responsible for healthcare 

provision in Carmarthenshire. Its research and innovation department has responsibility for a 

range of innovation activities, incorporating clinical trials, research, medical technology 

evaluation, organisational development and workforce training. To this end its focus is helping 

to improve the effectiveness of clinical processes, but also bringing innovation to bear on the 

wider objectives of supporting patients outside of hospitals / in the community. It has recently 

established Tritech10 to give a focus to its commercialisation activities. This brings together 

the HDUHB’s in house capacity with expertise spanning clinical engineering, research, and 

innovation, and a provides a front door for companies to explore collaborative opportunities. 

HDUHB recognises the importance of interacting with partners throughout the region and 

across Wales. This includes extensive research and innovation collaborations through 

initiatives such ARCH (A Regional Collaboration for Health), and its recently signed 

Memorandum of Understanding with Swansea University and University of Wales Trinity 

Saint David (UWTSD). The latter will support commercialisation of MedTech, offer doctoral 

studies and a Digital Professional Masters11.   

  

Pentre Awel in Llanelli is being developed by CCC, with partial funding from the Swansea Bay 

City Deal (Hywel Dda University Health Board, 2021a). It is being built on an 83 acre site, and 

brings together facilities for assisted living, life science businesses and higher education, with 

healthcare and leisure. Informed by a detailed Health Impact Assessment the Pentre Awel 

plans aim to improve health and wellbeing by addressing the wider determinants of health in 

areas such as education, employment, housing, access to services and community cohesion. 

It will be delivered through an integrated service delivery model for health and wellbeing in 

which Pentre Awel will act as a hub and spoke for service delivery, with 370 units of assisted 

living, health and wellbeing support (Swimming and hydrotherapy pools, sports hall, 

multipurpose studios), and linking the Health Board to other social care across 

Carmarthenshire. This integration was brought to bear through joint service planning 

between leisure and health and co-design of facilities, and will allow it to offer healthcare 

services such as rehabilitation to the community more effectively, improving both health 

outcomes but also economic benefits as people take charge of their own health in the 

community. The planning for Pentre Awel is also exploring the role that digital technologies 

might play in responding to the challenges of COVID greater use of provision of  telemedicine. 

It is also planning to act as a test-bed for MedTech evaluations (in collaboration with Tritech).   

 

 It is anticipated that innovation ‘spokes’ will be added to Pentre Awel via links to health and 

integrated care centres, as well as specialist centres such as the Welsh Wound Centre and the 

Bio Bank. It will also look to establish product development trials based on its resident 

population. This may be expanded to provide a bigger population to test product developments. 

 
10 https://tritech.nhs.wales/   
11 https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-

boardcollaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html   

Tudalen 47

https://tritech.nhs.wales/
https://tritech.nhs.wales/
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html
https://uwtsd.ac.uk/news/press-releases/press-2021/uwtsd-and-hywel-dda-university-health-board-collaborative-partnership-will-support-the-delivery-of-a-healthier-mid-and-west-wales.html


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

33  

  

Links may also be explored to support care workers to assist residents’ access to telemedicine 

in the community.  Other activities relevant to innovation include plans for The Care Academy 

to be located within Pentre Awel. This is a partnership between CCC, the Health Board and 

UWTSD and will focus on the delivery of skills across a broad range of healthcare disciplines. Its 

aim will be to provide a career qualifications pathway and support skills development for new 

and existing staff in the sector. This will include skills in technological areas such as the enhanced 

role of digital technologies in healthcare (e.g. remote diagnostics, monitoring, health and 

telecare). In this respect Pentre Awel reflects the aggregation of critical mass from multiple 

centres, in contrast to the traditional model of concentrating such activity in a single centre. 

This could be further enhanced through wider connectivity with integrated care centre 

proposed across the county, giving the Pentre Awel proposal access to greater number of 

residents than exist in its immediate locale (Llanelli).   

 

 
 

It is anticipated that Pentre Awel will contribute an addition £467.0 million to the City Region 

over the next fifteen years, plus 1,853 net additional jobs (Swansea Bay City Deal, 2021). The 

recent announcement that CCC and Pembrokeshire County Council and other local public 

service providers have secured £19.9million to create town centre hubs that will provide health 

and wellbeing services in town centres (amongst other services) 12  may further provide 

opportunities for Pentre Awel to work alongside the planned Carmarthen Hwb. This will provide 

careful planning, however, to ensure that duplications are avoided and that the wider work of 

Pentre Awel is not undermined.  

 

Delta Wellbeing provides technology expertise in care and support, to enable people to 

maintain their independence and quality of life. It was established in 2018, as a trading company 

of CCC, taking over the responsibilities of the former Careline service. It acts as a single point of 

contact, and operates as part of a 24/7 social care service. Extensive use of digital technologies 

are made in delivering its services, which has required it to develop its own digital skills and 

 
12 https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-

createexciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl  

Tudalen 48

https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl
https://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2021/10/chancellor-s-levelling-up-fund-secured-to-create-exciting-carmarthen-hwb#.YYAH1J7LeUl


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

34  

  

capabilities and to support residents to enable them to interact with care digitally. Delta 

Wellbeing has sought to learn from the experiences of social care delivery in Barcelona and the 

Basque Country (with funding from Welsh Government’s Transformation Fund). This has 

informed Delta Wellbeing’s Connect pilot project, which provides a package of support, adapted 

to an individual’s needs, to help them make use of technology enabled care, and to live 

independently. The ultimate aim of this and other support is to prevent the need for statutory 

care and to enable residents to make lifestyle changes. In delivering such support Delta 

Wellbeing interact with businesses offering digital technology solutions. Its focus, however, is 

to ensure that the care support provided to residents is focused on residents’ needs, with the 

support of technology, rather than being technology-led. In this way Delta Wellbeing is acting 

as an innovative test bed for partners across the social care system, from the regulators, through 

to tech companies, testing and trialling products and services, and providing feedback from 

practitioners and residents.  

 

Future challenges and opportunities  

Significant challenges associated with the ongoing response to the COVID pandemic alongside 

a constrained funding environment and technological change call for innovative responses to 

the healthcare needs of residents in Carmarthenshire. The current activities and initiatives 

supporting healthcare innovation (see Section 3) show that public and private partners are 

actively responding to this agenda. More action, however, will be needed to address the wide 

ranging nature of these challenges, not least funding for innovation and the need to ensure 

implementation of existing plans such as Pentre Awel and longer term plans for the new 

Hywel Dda hospital.  

  

A key opportunity here is one of supporting the capacity to innovate innovation in the health 

sector. This in part relates to encouraging more staff to engage in innovation activities in 

organisations such as HDUHB, but also the need for specialist staff that can seek out, support 

and manage innovative opportunities. This will be particularly important for the new 

developments taking place at Pentre Awel, the Tritech Institute and so on. Such capacity has 

the potential to develop and evaluate technologies for patient care, unearth latent innovation 

opportunities, and improve the delivery of health and social care in Carmarthenshire. It may 

also offer opportunities to disseminate results elsewhere in Wales and in the wider market.   

  

A further opportunity relates to the development of critical mass. Here there are a growing 

number of organisations and facilities able to contribute towards healthcare innovation both 

locally, regionally and nationally. While a number of partnerships have been established 

within the county and regionally (e.g. UWTSD and HDUHB) it is recognised that greater 

linkages between healthcare facilities could help to provide opportunities for the 

development of med tech, including product testing in the community. Key current and 

planned sites that could potentially contribute towards this agenda include Pentre Awel, 

Carmarthen Town, Llandovery and Cross Hands. Relatedly, there is a challenge of raising 

awareness of the innovative activities being developed in Carmarthenshire, as a route to 

gaining access to potential sources of funding for innovation (HDUHB interview). Here greater 

working with the Welsh Government’s Innovation Specialists provides one such avenue 

Tudalen 49



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

35  

  

through which the opportunities for innovation and commercialisation could be further 

developed.   

  

Procurement is an area where the significant spend of organisations such as HDUHB present 

opportunities to support innovation, by encouraging local and regional suppliers to establish 

new practices and business models. Moreover, this offers the potential for procurement to 

produce both social and economic value in particular places, spreading beyond the 

boundaries of the health board. In this way the place based nature of health and social care 

and its ability to link to other policy agendas presents a further opportunity to encourage 

innovation activity in this space. As illustrated by the plans for Pentre Awel the integration of 

healthcare, wellbeing and social care, supporting preventative based support for residents in 

an area of deprivation, show how innovation in this space can contribute towards place-based 

regeneration. Likewise, there may be opportunities to better connect to the digital skills 

agenda to ensure that residents are best able to engage with health and social care 

opportunities (e.g. telehealth). This again, may require collaboration with digital skills 

providers and initiative such as the Swansea Bay City Deal Skills and Talent initiative as well 

as organisations such as Business Wales.   

  

These opportunities do not rely on ‘new to the market’ forms of innovation. Instead, they call 

for innovation activity that is translated to into practice for to the benefit of residents and 

health and social care provision in Carmarthenshire. This calls for innovation to be viewed as 

a form of a social practice in which its activities may take the form of organisational as well as 

technological changes. They also call for the challenges and opportunities to be responded to 

in collaboration. That is, the complex nature of these challenges and the constrained funding 

landscape mean that a team-based approach is needed.   

  

The NHS and local authorities represent key actors with responsibilities for health and social 

care in Carmarthenshire. The private sector is also active in providing social care, and this is 

an area where there is potential for the Council to play a role in driving innovation through its 

commissioning and procurement strategies. Responding to the challenges and opportunities 

noted above, however, will require joined up action with other important actors not least 

technology companies in Carmarthenshire and beyond, many of which are active in 

approaching HDUHB, Pentre Awel and Delta Wellbeing to evaluate their products and services 

in a health and social care setting.   

  

Welsh Government support for healthcare and innovation through schemes such as its Smart 

Suite of programmes (including Innovation Specialists), but also through its healthcare 

division, with its funding support for digital transformation, technology development and 

adoption and transformation projects. The SBRI programme, focused on addressing 

innovation challenges is also potentially relevant to health and social care challenges. In the 

digital skills agenda the private sector may provide opportunities for partnership, with large 

and smaller businesses active in raising digital skills.   

  

In all these cases the opportunities will require actors to develop strong cases for support and 

align these towards its objectives of health and social care, but also those of Welsh 

Tudalen 50



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

36  

  

Government and other funders. The prize associated with developing greater innovation 

capability, however, is one that has the potential to support multiple policy goals and 

objectives in Carmarthenshire.   

  

Tudalen 51



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

37  

  

Foundational economy   
  

The foundational economy constitutes a radically new perspective of place-based 

development (The Foundational Economy Collective, 2018). In contrast to the traditional 

conceptions of economic development, all of which have been obsessively focused on a 

narrow range of high-tech sectors, the foundational economy focuses on those sectors and 

activities that make a direct contribution to social wellbeing. The foundational economy (FE) 

refers to the basic requirements of civilised life for all citizens irrespective of their income and 

location. It includes ‘material infrastructure’ – pipes and cables and utility distribution systems 

for water, electricity, retail banking, etc. – and ‘providential services’ – education, health, 

dignified eldercare, food provisioning and income maintenance. Conventional ways of 

theorising and measuring the economy render the FE invisible and overlook its contribution 

to development. Orthodox thinking is fixated on the contribution of hi-tech, knowledge-based 

industries and property-led regeneration to increases in GDP. But, growth in GDP is not 

translating into improvements in living standards for many households and provides only a 

narrow index of progress. Understanding the FE is essential to thinking about alternative 

forms of economic development because it is welfare-critical for those with limited access to 

private provision, underpins household consumption and is a large employer in sectors like 

water, energy and elderly care provision (Heslop et al., 2019).   

  

The Welsh Government was the first government to embrace the FE as part of its suite of 

regional development policies when it launched the Foundational Economy Challenge Fund 

in 2019 with three aims: (a) to support a series of experimental projects to test how we can 

best support the foundational economy and which Government interventions work best; (b) 

to increase the number of grounded firms in Wales and establish a firm base of medium sized 

Welsh firms which are capable of selling outside Wales but have decision-making rooted 

firmly in our communities; and (c) to spread and scale good practice by supporting social value 

within public procurement and by helping Public Service Boards to use and strengthen local 

supply chains. According to the Welsh Government: ‘this is not a small part of the Welsh 

economy, with estimates suggesting it is four in ten jobs and £1 in every three that we spend. 

In some parts of Wales this basic ‘foundational economy’ is the economy’ (Welsh 

Government, 2019).  

 

Because the FE covers so many sectors and activities, the focus of this deep dive is threefold: 

agrifood systems, construction and public procurement. Each looms large in discussions of 

the FE in Wales and Carmarthenshire has been playing a leading role in all of them.  

 

Agrifood systems  

Although agrifood is not a single sector of the economy in the official statistics, straddling as 

it does agriculture on the one hand and the production, processing and retailing of food on 

the other, there is a compelling logic for treating it in a holistic way because they are both 

integrated parts of what we think of as ‘the food system’. Carmarthenshire is on the front line 

of the challenges facing the agrifood chain because, as we saw in chapter 3, while agriculture, 

forestry and fishing represents one of the smaller employment sectors, the proportion 

working in the county is almost double the national average in Wales (see Figure 12). As the 

Tudalen 52



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

38  

  

county also has an above average dependence on small firms, it needs to think afresh about 

how to support such firms if they are to survive the upheavals that are underway in the 

agrifood chain. To explore these challenges we focus on two key issues: (a) the implications 

of the Net Zero target for agriculture and land use and (b) the problems and possible solutions 

facing smaller firms in the agrifood chain.  

  

As we can see from Figure 21, agriculture has been one of the slowest sectors in reducing its 

carbon emissions in Wales, with emissions falling from the base year (1990) by just 11%, due 

largely to a decline in livestock numbers and nitrogen fertiliser use. Agriculture will come 

under particular political pressure over the next decade for 2 reasons: (a) because Wales has 

a significantly higher proportion of total emissions from agriculture compared to the UK as a 

whole, 16% in Wales compared 10% in the UK; and (b) because the Welsh Government has 

declared this to be ‘a decade of action in Wales’ when ‘we need to make more progress in the 

next ten years than we have in the last thirty’ (Welsh Government, 2021b).  

  

In the balanced net zero pathway, Wales must undertake afforestation at a rate of 4,500 

hectares per year by 2025, further increasing this rate to 7,500 hectares per year by 2035. 

Other measures will include: a significant reduction in meat and dairy consumption and food 

waste; increasing average crop and livestock yield; conversion of agricultural machinery on a 

mix of electricity, hydrogen and biofuel; a shift towards more horticulture indoors; restoration 

of peatlands; and an increased cultivation of energy crops (Climate Change Committee, 2018).   

 

Figure 21 Energy emissions in Wales, 2018 

  
  

In the most recent Net Zero policy statement the Welsh Government plans to rely on two 

interventions to reduce emissions in agricultural production and land use patterns. The first 

Tudalen 53



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

39  

  

concerns low carbon farming practices: here policies will encourage the uptake of low carbon 

farming practices quickly and at scale to reduce the overall farm carbon footprint. The second 

concerns measures to release land, where changes in consumer and farmer behaviour will be 

encouraged to create new land use patterns (for afforestation etc as outlined above) whilst 

maintaining an improved food production sector (Welsh Government, 2021e).   

  

The composition of agricultural output is closely aligned with land use patterns: over 80% of 

farmland in Wales is used to produce red meat and dairy products. In fact, the narrow 

specialisation of Welsh agriculture is illustrated in the value of gross output, where some 50% 

of the value of Welsh agricultural output comes from livestock sales, mainly sheep and cattle, 

with a further 40 percent of the value coming from the sale of milk and milk related products 

from dairy herds. Given the exacting Net Zero target in Wales, ‘the logical policy implication 

going forward is that the key public good is decarbonization and that this requires significant 

reductions in flock and herd size along with changes in land use to deliver corollary benefits 

(including biodiversity)’ (Foundational Economy Research, 2021a: 12). Three key policy 

recommendations emerged from this analysis:  

• Welsh Government should set targets for continuing reductions in sheep 

cattle and poultry numbers for every five-year period up to 2050. Given the 

methane emissions from cattle the reduction in cattle numbers should be at 

least 10% every five years from 2025 which would reduce the cattle herd by 

about 40% by 2050. This delayed start in the mid-2020s would still leave Welsh 

agriculture well short of its 2050 carbon reduction target and (optimistically) 

we hope that genomics and other technologies could cover some of this 

shortfall.  

• Welsh Government targets for flock and herd size reductions should go hand 

in hand with targets for increased Welsh processing of meat and dairy 

commodities. On dairy, for example, the target could be to stabilise Welsh 

output of liquid milk at around 2/3 of current level; but at the same time 

setting a target to ensure that all of that liquid milk was processed into higher 

value-added milk products within Wales. In this case, the economic value of 

Welsh processed food output should increase as the economic value of Welsh 

agricultural commodity output decreased.  

• Changes in land use require new kinds of joined up support for farmers to 

profit from entering new activities. Practically, this requires the integration of 

active policies across three domains: (a) mapping soil and climate to identify 

sites for tree planting and fields suitable for arable so as to avoid 

environmental damage and commercial disappointment; with (b) agricultural 

advice services on small plot afforestation and arable/ horticultural conversion 

because pastoral farmers do not have the skills for new activities; with (c) 

construction of profitable pathways to market, particularly on arable and 

horticulture, where farmers need some assurance of a buyer and public 

purchasing of food can be used strategically (Foundational Economy Research, 

2021a: 13).  

  

Tudalen 54



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

40  

  

The above pressures on farming practices and land use patterns will clearly have a 

disproportionate impact on Carmarthenshire because, in milk production especially, the county 

hosts the largest concentration of dairy farms in Wales, accounting for some 28% of the Welsh 

total. A smaller dairy sector was perhaps to be expected, even without the Net Zero pressures, 

because it is the continuation of a long established trend, in Wales and the wider UK with the 

number of dairy producers in decline as we can see from Error! Reference source not found. 

below. 

 

Figure 22 Dairy Production Holdings in the UK 

 
        Source: Food Standards Agency, DHI, SEERAD, SDCA, DAERA - 

https://ahdb.org.uk/dairy/GB-producer-numbers 

 

Turning to the challenge of small firms in agrifood supply chains, this is another question that 

looms large for Carmarthenshire. In fact, this challenge resonates in all regions that are highly 

dependent on small firms and it is worth referring to this international evidence to distil the 

lessons of how best to support such firms. The Italian experience of supporting small firms is 

widely regarded as one of the most instructive because local and regional governments have 

played a prominent role in keeping small firms on an innovative footing. Distilling the Italian 

experience for an international audience, one classic report concluded by saying: ‘SMEs are 

often weak economic actors if considered individually, but they can reach high levels of 

competitiveness if they work in a local environment ensuring complementarities, common 

activities, collective goods and institutional stability…aimed at increasing the competitiveness 

of the cluster, promoting networks and cooperation between firms, upgrading technology 

and human resources, improving quality of products, etc’ (Bianchi et al., 1997).   

  

Although the Italian experience may seem irrelevant to small firm support in Wales today, its 

emphasis on ‘collective goods’ informs a new foundational economy perspective on SMEs in 

the Welsh food system that is highly pertinent for Carmarthenshire. One of its key policy 

prescriptions on the supply-side is the need for a more integrated business support 

Tudalen 55

https://ahdb.org.uk/dairy/GB-producer-numbers


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

41  

  

infrastructure for small firms in the food processing sector, involving a combination of both 

‘soft’ and ‘hard’ infrastructure (Foundational Economy Research, 2021b)).  

  

The ‘soft’ infrastructure refers to the development of business support and advice that 

currently exists in the shape of the three food centres in Wales. But this soft infrastructure is 

not part of a holistic strategy and there is a very real risk that it can atrophy as it is highly 

dependent on rapidly disappearing EU grant funding. As the Foundational Economy Research 

report says: ‘The challenge of defending existing provision is most acute with the innovation 

centres like the Wales Food Centre at Horeb, whose existing grant funding runs out in two 

years’ time. There is no commercial business model which would allow the food innovation 

centres to provide the same services to SMEs at prices they could afford’ (Foundational 

Economy Research, 2021b: 35).  

  

If Horeb had to rely on private funding then its key asset – its 7 person food technology team 

– would have to be severely reduced, perhaps to as little as a 2 person technology team. A 

more commercially driven Horeb would also have to address its services to the larger firms in 

the region, neglecting the micro and small firms that are most dependent on its offerings. To 

avoid such a scenario, two things are required as a matter of urgency: (a) there is an urgent 

need to put these food centres on a more sustainable financial footing, and this will only 

happen with public funding and (b) equally urgent is the need to integrate the food centres 

in a business support framework that is part and parcel of a more conscious and holistic food 

strategy.   

  

But the ‘soft’ infrastructure needs to be complemented by a ‘hard’ infrastructure that helps 

to overcome the problem that afflicts many small firms in rural areas of the north and west 

of the country, where property prices are so much lower. This is the cost versus value problem 

where the cost of construction of a facility is so much greater than the market value that is 

subsequently placed on it by banks when they seek collateral for their secured loans. It’s an 

astonishing fact that very few publicly-funded industrial units have been built in Wales since 

the demise of the WDA, even where there is a strong demand for quality premises. One 

practical solution to the cost versus value problem is the Cross Hands Food Park, which was 

entirely funded by CCC to provide rental units for both small and large firms. The Foundational 

Economy Research report concluded by saying that there is no reason why this model cannot 

be deployed again because: ‘Carmarthenshire Council says it could fill another food park 

tomorrow, if it had the resources to do so. This prompts the question of why public sector 

consortia are not building four or five new food parks across the Welsh regions; and relating 

them to the three existing innovation centres in a hub and spokes arrangement. This would 

allow co-ordination of the soft and hard infrastructure that support SMEs’ (Foundational 

Economy Research, 2021b: 38).   

  

Another issue that urgently needs attention concerns the roles of Castell Howell in the Welsh 

food system. Castell Howell (CH) is not just any old firm in the food sector in Wales. On the 

contrary, it is not too much to say that CH plays a food brokerage role that straddles the soft 

and hard infrastructure: ‘soft’ in the sense that CH can advise and mentor its smaller suppliers 

in dealing with complex and time-consuming public sector food tenders for example; and 

Tudalen 56



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

42  

  

‘hard’ in the sense that its supply chain functions as a conduit through which Welsh produce 

is procured and distributed in and beyond Wales.   

  

In other words, CH needs to be understood as a strategic part of the Welsh food system rather 

than just an ordinary firm among many others. If this is the case, then local and national 

governments in Wales need to address the concerns that have been shared with us about the 

future trajectory of CH. The most important concerns are twofold: first, that CH may be falling 

behind its main rivals (Brakes and Bidford) in the introduction of automation and the application 

of AI in particular; and, second, that the lack of succession planning could result in CH being sold 

to one of its main competitors. Should it be taken over by one of its rivals, then local Welsh 

produce would most likely be hollowed out of its supply chain - in the way that is currently 

happening in Brains following the Marstons takeover.   

  

These concerns need to be addressed as part of a more holistic Welsh food strategy where 

supply-side and demand-side measures are calibrated to avoid the fragmented, silo-based 

policies that have stymied Welsh food policy in the past, particularly with respect to public 

procurement.  

  

Construction  

Construction is a key part of the foundational economy on two counts: it is an important 

source of local employment, especially for the self-employed and for disadvantaged groups in 

the labour market, and its services include the provision of affordable housing and the 

retrofitting of the built environment.  

  

The sector is undergoing an unprecedented period of change on multiple fronts. On the 

supply-side, traditional methods of production are being challenged by the advent of Modern 

Methods of Construction (MMC), including Off-Site Manufacturing and Digitalisation; the 

sector is mired in a chronic skills and capacity crisis, exacerbated by the combination of Brexit 

and Covid; and supply chains are fragmented and subject to debilitating boom-and-bust 

cycles.   

  

Meanwhile on the demand-side, there is ever-growing pressure to build more and higher 

quality affordable housing as well as other private and public sector projects; government 

policies have encouraged local authorities to re-enter the house-building sector; and public 

procurement policies are exploring the potential to shift from low-cost to social value 

tendering. Many of the problems afflicting the sector have their origins in the three root 

causes highlighted in Figure 23 below.  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 57



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

43  

  

Figure 23 Challenges facing the construction industry 

  

  
              Source: Farmer (2016)  

  

As it is not possible to address all these challenges here, this section focuses on the three 

challenges where CCC can make a real difference, namely: (a) the skills pipeline (b) supply 

chain development and (c) public procurement.   

  

In terms of the construction data presented earlier (in Figures 12 and 13) we can see that 

there are comparatively fewer construction companies in Carmarthenshire relative to the 

regional and national averages. On the other hand, the county has an above average level of 

construction employment (5.9% of total employment in the county relative to the Welsh 

average of 5.3%), which suggests that construction firms are somewhat larger than those in 

other parts of Wales. Even so, the vast majority of construction firms are small and the largest 

firms fall into the SME category. At the beginning of 2021 the county’s three largest 

construction firms - in terms of turnover - were WRW Construction, TRJ and Morganstone. 

Although they are all classed as SMEs, these firms pursued very different business models, 

highlighting the commercial diversity that exists within the SME category.  

  

The skills pipeline: The most comprehensive review of the UK construction labour model 

came to the following conclusion with respect to the skills challenge: “The real ticking ‘time 

bomb’ is that of the industry’s workforce size and demographic. Based purely on existing 

workforce age and current levels of new entrant attraction, we could see a 20-25% decline in 

the available labour force within a decade. This scenario has never been faced by UK 

construction before and would be a capacity shrinkage that would render the industry 

Tudalen 58



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

44  

  

incapable of delivering the levels of GDP historically seen” (Farmer, 2016:8). This ticking time 

bomb was identified in 2016, that is before the effects of Brexit and Covid were factored into 

the analysis, which suggests that the construction sector faces not a conventional skills 

shortage but a chronic skills crisis.   

  

Remedying the skills crisis will require a lot more than yet another new training scheme; on 

the contrary the single most important change that is required is a new social compact 

between the key stakeholders in the sector as the Farmer Review said: “At the heart of this 

review’s recommendations…it is proposed that a new, ambitious and mutually beneficial 

tripartite covenant is established between the construction industry, its end clients (private 

and public) and government acting as a strategic initiator” (Farmer, 2016: 10).   

  

To its great credit Carmarthenshire crafted a strategic response to the skills crisis at a local 

level that prefigured the kind of ‘tripartite covenant’ that Farmer recommended for the UK. 

Although we cannot do justice to this local social innovation here, it is worth noting the 

strategic significance of what has been achieved – initially under the auspices of CCTAL (the 

Carmarthenshire Construction Training Association Ltd) and then under its successor scheme 

Cyfle (the shared apprenticeship scheme for the region).   

  

CCTAL was conceived in 2000 when Barry Liles (Coleg Sir Gar) and Robert Williams (WRW) in 

conjunction with the County Council saw the need for a locally organised training system for 

small firms in the construction sector. To that end they began to calibrate the activities of the 

industry, the college and the local authority and Anthony Rees was eventually appointed as 

the full-time manager. In 2002 CCTAL became the first independent training body in the UK, 

enabling it to receive direct grants from the Construction Industry Training Board (CITB). With 

a membership of 20 firms in the county, and in close collaboration with the CITB and Coleg Sir 

Gar, CCTAL launched the first shared apprenticeship scheme in the UK, an ideal solution for a 

sector in which small firms predominated. In this scheme CCTAL acted as the legally 

recognised employer and the original plan was to train twenty-five construction apprentices 

per annum for the first three years.    

  

The new scheme might have been destroyed by the Great Recession in 2008, but it was 

actually strengthened by another local innovation that forged a link between two critically 

important schemes – the CCTAL training scheme and the Carmarthenshire Homes Standard 

(CHS) scheme, a local version of the Welsh Housing Quality Standard which involved a large 

public procurement programme to improve the quality of social housing.   

  

By making CCTAL membership a community benefit clause of the CHS scheme, it not only put 

the shared apprenticeship scheme on a more sustainable financial footing, but it also doubled 

the corporate membership base of CCTAL between 2006-2011, highlighting the double 

dividend of using local public procurement policy to boost local training provision. This 

requirement was soon woven into the requirements for other capital related projects 

delivered by CCC. It was also applied to Welsh Government funded schemes, such as the 

Dinefwr trilevel reform of secondary schools in 2009 and all C21 schemes subsequently. The 

requirement was subsequently included as part of all property capital related major works 

Tudalen 59



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

45  

  

projects delivered by the authority. This tri-level approach between the different 

organisations within Carmarthenshire primarily, along with the need for contractors on the 

South West Wales regional contractors framework, has been recognised both regionally and 

nationally through various awards, including a Procurement Go Award in 2016.   

  

CCTAL proved to be so successful that it was scaled up into a regional scheme in 2012, covering 

four local authorities and three training groups, and in the following year it was rebranded as 

a charity and relaunched under the name of Cyfle as a shared apprenticeship scheme for the 

whole of South West Wales. Catering for just two trades at the outset, Cyfle now caters for 

nine trades. To date it has trained 780 apprentices and it is on course to meet its target of 

1000 by 2025. Since 2016, the SWWRCF was expanded and in 2020 now includes the five Local 

Authorities as primary partners and many other participants within the areas covered by 

Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion, Neath Port Talbot, Pembrokeshire, Powys and Swansea.  

  

The County Council has also been a key partner with local construction companies in the Next 

Steps Programme over the last 10 years, which provides work experience in the construction 

sector and apprenticeship placements.  

  

As an innovative response to the construction skills crisis, the Cyfle scheme is instructive in 

two respects: (a) because of its collaborative funding model and (b) because of the agile way 

it has pivoted to reach a younger labour market cohort. The Cyfle funding model is one that 

is applicable to many other sectoral training systems and to other place-based cluster-building 

schemes as well. The collaborative funding model consists of the following contributions: 55% 

of the total budget comes from construction firm members, 30% from the CITB and the 

remainder from a mix of Welsh Government, local authorities and housing associations, 

including Carmarthenshire as a significant contributor.   

  

Cyfle has also been forced to engage with a younger cohort than is traditionally the case 

because of a growing concern among employers about the educational quality of young 

people applying for apprenticeships. To address the quality problem, it launched the South 

West Wales Hub in March 2021 in an attempt to improve the level of entry level skills (Level 

1), an initiative funded for a limited period through a work experience grant from UKG. In 

both these cases. The Hub is a pre-apprenticeship scheme that offers 16 year-olds a 13 day 

work experience programme (with 10 days on site) and pays them £200 for their time. At the 

end of the scheme the teenagers learn to design a cv and they receive a toolkit with £150 

worth of tools.   

  

The key challenge for Cyfle is the sustainability of its funding model. This is also the key 

challenge for more recent initiatives to meet the construction skills crisis – such as the 

Construction Wales Innovation Centre (CWIC) and the Construct Net Zero Cymru (CNZC), both 

of which are hosted by UWTSD. The Cyfle model of collaborative funding would appear to be 

the only viable funding model for all these ventures, where contributions from all 

stakeholders need to be aggregated as a common pool resource to fund a more integrated 

construction skills pipeline along the lines recommended by the Farmer Review. Contributions 

to the common pool resource should come from public and private sector stakeholders, 

Tudalen 60



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

46  

  

including the large multinational construction firms that have been awarded the largest 

contracts in the region. A test case of this new funding model will be the local and regional 

asks that are made of Bouygues, the French company that has recently been awarded the 

prime contracts for Pentre Awel in Llanelli and the Kingsway in Swansea, an issue we address 

later in the context of public procurement.  

  

Supply chain development: far from being a local problem in Carmarthenshire, the problem 

of supply chain fragmentation is one of the key features of the UK construction sector and it 

is both a cause and a consequence of an industry structure with the following profile: • 

Structural fragmentation is the overriding feature of the industry, with limited vertical or 

horizontal integration and high levels of self-employment;  

• 40% of all construction contracting jobs are classed as self-employed 

compared to just 15% in the economy as a whole;  

• The lack of integration manifests itself in very high levels of sub-contracting 

and a transactional and adversarial culture that renders it cost-focused rather 

than value-focused;  

• Construction has the highest level of SMEs of any industry, with nearly a fifth 

of all SMEs working in the construction sector;  

• The unwritten rule in construction is that the industry is defined by its 

flexibility, which among other things means a reluctance ‘to hold a large work 

force or fixed cost investments’ (Farmer, 2016: 18).  

  

So deeply embedded are these structural features that it is difficult if not impossible to change 

them at a purely local level. Even so, much can still be achieved through creative place-based 

collaboration as we saw with the Cyfle shared apprenticeship scheme. Public procurement 

policy can be a catalyst for change on the demand-side, but complementary changes are also 

needed on the supply-side by supporting local firms that embody good practice. Given the 

tighter labour markets following Brexit and Covid, firms that can rely on their in-house skilled 

trades are likely to be more resilient and more grounded than firms that dependent on loose 

and unpredictable sub-contracting arrangements. Once a minority concern, labour security 

has become a mainstream industry-wide concern given the chronic skills shortage throughout 

the construction sector.      

  

Supporting grounded firms pre-supposes that public bodies have the capacity to perform the 

necessary due diligence to acquire the granular knowledge that allows them to engage in 

targeted business support. In short, it is not enough to target “local firms” purely on account 

of their postcode. CCC and its local partners should emulate the Welsh Government policy of 

supporting firms on a “something for something” basis to ensure their business models are 

well founded so that they do not create local versions of Carillion.    

  

As we will see in the following section on the role of public procurement, some local firms in 

the county feel that they are unable to access construction contracts above the £5m band. 

They also feel that CCC could do a lot more to promote supply chain development in the sector 

by calibrating minor and major work programmes so that there are clearer pathways to help 

small firms to scale up to SMEs and for SMEs to grow.   

Tudalen 61



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

47  

  

  

More targeted support for supply chain development will require a new level of collaboration 

among local authorities and between local authorities and housing associations because new 

skill sets are required by Off-Site Manufacturing and digital integration tools like Building 

Information Modelling. An independent review of affordable housing in Wales recommended 

more sharing of skills, capacity, and resources to support SME development in house building, 

a recommendation that is equally applicable to the entire construction sector (Pamment et 

al, 2019). The reasoning was obvious: there is simply not enough local supply chain capacity 

in Wales for local authorities and housing associations to operate in silos when they design 

their procurement policies.       

  

Public procurement in construction: the power of purchase can play a truly catalytic role if it is 

deployed in a strategic fashion and if it is synchronised with other business support policies. 

When it is clearly communicated to potential suppliers, the forward work plan for 

procurement can give confidence to suppliers as it helps them to plan longer term. This is 

especially important in the construction sector where firms are subject to boom-to-bust 

cycles and where forward work plans can provide the assurance they need to invest in training 

and capacity.  

  

After adult social care, construction is the largest item in CCC’s procurement budget, 

accounting for 20% of the total and amounting to nearly £50m in 2020-21, and the council is 

now seriously committed to securing more social and economic value from its power of 

purchase.  The scale of public works in the county and the region in recent years has created 

an unprecedented opportunity for generating a double dividend: by honing CCC’s 

procurement expertise on the one hand and by promoting a more innovative and sustainable 

construction supply chain on the other. Projects like the 20th Century Schools programme 

(Renamed Sustainable Communities for Learning from 01/01/2022), the Carmarthenshire 

Homes Standard and large-scale projects like Pentre Awel should be expected to leave an 

enduring developmental legacy in the county in terms of better schools, healthier homes and 

a platform for local construction firms to acquire the skills sets to exploit the burgeoning 

commercial opportunities associated with MMC, Net Zero and Retrofitting etc.  

  

A case in point is the South West Wales Regional Contractors Framework, which amounts to 

more than £1 billion over a four year period from 2020-2024. With the exception of Lloyd & 

Gravell Ltd and WRW, the county’s local SMEs were not successful in the procurement process 

for the largest project bands (£5m+). Although they are not included in the larger financial 

frameworks, they ought to be able benefit by being included in the supply chains of the 

companies that secure the primary contracts for these major public works. The County 

Council encourages the successful contractor to engage with local suppliers and contractors 

to afford them opportunities, although current procurement rules stipulate that the client 

cannot direct them to use local businesses.  

  

Local SMEs in construction seem to be unaware of some of the proposed changes underway 

in the council’s procurement policy, changes that clearly need to be better communicated to 

the sector in the county. Among other things for example, CCC is considering moving to a new 

Tudalen 62



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

48  

  

weighting system for the price/quality ratio; it is considering exploring new payment methods 

based on results rather than hours on site etc; it has created a new procurement post for a 

dedicated community benefits officer; it is putting more effort into publicising its forward 

work plan for purchasing to support discussions with WG’s Construction Forum; and it is 

striving to utilise its major and minor works programme in a more strategic fashion.   

  

There are opportunities for the County Council to make significant improvements in the field of 

procurement and contract / supplier management to support the local economy, but this will 

require additional resources to realise the benefits. Key performance indicators, linked to local 

economic benefits, may also be a way of demonstrating the envisaged benefits.  

  

CCC’s new procurement policy will be tried and tested in the Pentre Awel project in Llanelli: 

at £70m it is the largest single project in the county’s history. As we noted earlier, the primary 

contract was awarded to Bouygues, a French multinational. Apart from ensuring that the 

project is delivered on time and to budget, the challenge for CCC will be to ensure that there 

is an enduring local legacy in terms of skill sets, supply chains and community benefits. None 

of these things is assured because Bouygues has its own ready-made supply chain and it is 

also well versed in offering clients a standard diet of targeted recruitment and training and 

other community benefits that tick the social value box.   

  

But in awarding the primary contract to Bouygues, CCC signalled its ambition for the project 

and demonstrated its capacity for innovation by breaking with conventional procurement 

practice by giving more weight to quality relative to price in the scoring criteria. While a 40% 

price/60% quality split deviated from CCC’s traditional procurement practice (which is 

70%/30% in favour of price), it was nevertheless aligned with project goals to deliver social 

value and maximise local socio-economic impact.  During the assessment of tenders, this new 

weighting system ensured that community benefits, far from being a tokenistic consideration, 

were deemed to be central to the goal of securing an enduring socio-economic legacy from 

the Pentre Awel project.  

  

Public procurement  

Public procurement garners more attention than any other foundational policy because it is 

deemed to have the greatest potential for effecting economic, social and environmental 

change. This is because Wales spends over £6 billion per annum on goods, services and works 

and it is widely believed on all sides of the political spectrum that public procurement - the 

power of purchase - ought to be deployed in a more consequential manner than it has been 

to date. The need for more innovative public procurement policies is now widely recognised, 

at both national and local levels in Wales, and this section aims to explore the potential of 

deploying the power of purchase in more creative ways. Public food provisioning is used to 

illustrate the scope for creative public procurement because it is the sector that 

Carmarthenshire has chosen to explore the contribution of the foundational economy in the 

county. Tapping the potential of public procurement, however, is easier said than done.   

  

It is more than twenty years since the Welsh Government published Better Value Wales, the 

first systematic review of procurement in the Welsh public sector. Although it was a 

Tudalen 63



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

49  

  

pathbreaking review of purchasing practice in 95 public bodies, it was marred by the fact that 

it was framed almost exclusively in terms of a cost-saving rather than a value-creating 

exercise. Among other things, the review assumed that major savings could be secured if the 

public sector consistently achieved prices in ‘the lower quartile’ of their price spreads. Twenty 

years on, the Welsh Government is committed to framing public procurement guidance in 

terms of the Well-being of Future Generations Act, an approach that extols “values for 

money” not merely value for money in the narrow sense of the term (Morgan, 2012; Morgan 

& Morley, 2002).  

  

But there is continuity as well as contrast between then and now because the public 

procurement landscape in Wales today remains very uneven. While there are recognised 

pockets of good practice, in general terms the procurement service is not fit for purpose and 

good practice remains a bad traveller. The main problems have a familiar ring: the 

procurement process is perceived as too complicated, especially for SMEs; the status of 

procurement tends to be seen as a back-office function, subordinate to the finance function, 

when it needs to be elevated into a higher level board room function; procurement skill sets 

are woefully inadequate and recruitment and retention have been rendered more challenging 

by the pandemic; and the procurement profession faces and ever-expanding set of policy 

priorities in the face of diminishing resources and budgets.   

  

In short, the good intentions of policymakers and public sector managers need to be 

translated into good practice on the ground across the public sector in Wales. This is nowhere 

more important than in public sector food procurement, where new guidance from the Welsh 

Government needs to inspire and enable the procurement profession to secure the “values 

for money” ethos that informs the Well-being of Future Generations Act.     

  

Food can deliver multiple benefits because: (a) it is a key part of the foundational economy 

(b) it is vital to health and wellbeing and (c) it can play a major role in helping the Welsh 

Government to realise its net zero ambitions. There is an urgent need for new policy guidance 

for public sector food procurement for the reasons set out in the Foundational Economy 

Research report on how to increase grounded SMEs in food processing and distribution 

(Foundational Economy Research, 2021b).   

  

Commissioned by the Welsh Government, the Foundational Economy Research report 

assessed the scope for, as well as the barriers to, public sector food procurement in Wales 

and two of its insights need to be incorporated into new guidance as a matter of urgency:  

  

• Welsh public sector spend on food and catering amounts to just £94.4m per 

annum, roughly equal to the (non-fuel) turnover of a single Tesco hyper 

market. This total is divided into many product categories, which means that 

even the largest categories (like meat and dairy) account for no more than 

£10-£15m per annum, which is too modest to transform the fortunes of 

Welsh SMEs;  

• Because public procurement expenditure is too small to directly support 

SMEs at scale, Wales needs to use procurement in a more innovative and 

Tudalen 64



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

50  

  

integrated way as one element in a larger suite of policies for growing value 

and volume, in addition to meeting socio-cultural objectives like the quality 

of food on the public plate (Foundational Economy Research, 2021b).  

  

The Foundational Economy Research report recommended a major change in the way that 

public contracts are viewed and valued so that they shift the price/quality weightings in Welsh 

public sector food contracts away from quality weightings as low as 20% in some current 

contracts and towards a 50% quality weighting in new contracts, where quality would be 

understood primarily as local provenance. Local food sourcing needs to have a clearer and 

more robust rationale that distinguishes between two goals that have been confused in the 

past because they have been uncritically bundled together.   

  

New food procurement guidance needs to help policy makers and public sector managers to 

appreciate the difference between goals which have a socio-cultural impact and those which 

have volume economic reach: for example, policies for quality school meals vs policies for 

increasing supermarket stocking of Welsh product lines. Both are valid in their different ways, 

but we should not confuse them and suppose that the one necessarily delivers the other.   

  

New guidance would also need to draw on recent thinking around Social Value, Community 

Benefits and TOMs (Themes, Outcomes and Measures) that has been developed by local 

authorities and health boards working with the Social Value Portal for example. This new 

thinking is being used in Wales to help to measure and give practical effect to the seven goals 

of the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Welsh Government, 2015) and the ten principles 

of the latest Wales Procurement Policy Statement (Welsh Government, 2021d).   

  

CCC has long been considered one of the exemplars of good procurement practice in Wales, 

especially with respect to school food provisioning, where the catering service was led by Elin 

Cullen, an award-winning council official who was widely perceived to be a leading light in the 

sector (Morgan & Sonnino, 2008). More recently Carmarthenshire has been one of the most 

successful local authorities in Wales in bidding to the Foundational Economy Challenge Fund 

(FECF), which has supported two foundational food projects to date:  

• Carmarthenshire Public Sector Food Procurement: the first FECF project 
involved all the Public Services Board (PSB) partners and it sought to tap the 
potential of the £5 million that they collectively spent on food to secure the 
economic, health and environmental dividends of ‘smart public food 
procurement’.  While a significant amount of this is already spent with local 
suppliers, the PSB noted that ‘it may not necessarily be locally produced’ (CCC, 
2019).   

• Cook-Freeze Project: the second FECF project sought to extend the work of the 

above project by exploring the commercial viability of a delivery model to 

bridge the gap between demand and supply. The rationale for the proposal 

said: ‘In order to give the local food supply chain the confidence to invest in 

and develop the delivery model, there needs to be a demand for that 

provision. Hywel Dda University Health Board, working with the local 

authorities within its areas, are looking at ways to develop the way they 

Tudalen 65



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

51  

  

prepare and provide their meals for in-patients at their facilities.  A cook/freeze 

delivery model, using locally sourced produce which fulfils both nutrition 

standards and patient experience, is being considered’ (Hywel Dda Uhb, 

2021b).   

  

Although these foundational food projects are eminently sound and sensible pilot exercises, 

they remain modest when set against the barriers on the demand-side and the supply-side. 

On the demand-side there are two main problems. First, the scale of the combined 

procurement budget needs to be aggregated across more public bodies in the local authority 

and public health sectors where there has been little or no shared procurement up to now. 

Second, it is unclear what scope exists for local action within the national agreements of the 

NHS Wales Shared Services Partnership because, as the CLES analysis put it: ‘The UHB’s 

procurement approach is governed by these national arrangements, with no local bespoke, 

local procurement strategy in place– hence, there is currently no specific policy in place in 

relation to food procurement in terms of the potential to maximise wider socio-economic 

impact through food procurement activity’ (CLES, 2021: 12)  

  

On the supply-side there are even bigger barriers, as the CLES analysis found, namely: the 

fragmented nature of small-scale growers and food producers; complications and risks for 

large public procurers when dealing with multiple small businesses; seasonality; and the cost 

and time commitment associated with necessary quality and safety assurance processes 

(CLES, 2021: 20). A recent audit of the supply-side found that over 94% of the gross food spend 

of the Carmarthenshire PSB is leaving Wales through purchasing imported produce and 

ingredients, with the result that ‘public sector demand and local supply are almost completely 

out of tune’ (Wright & Cook, 2021).   

  

Along with Hywel Dda UHB, the county council is the other key actor in the Carmarthenshire 

PSB and therefore the prospects for more creative public procurement will largely revolve 

around organisational innovation within these two public bodies. The county council is in the 

process of introducing significant reforms to its procurement practice, not least a new 

weighting system to give a higher priority to quality vis-à-vis price, a dedicated procurement 

officer to cover Community Benefits and the inclusion of local suppliers on its shortlists of 

suppliers. But local innovations need to be framed in and synchronised with wider reforms in 

the region and the nation. This is especially the case with the new public procurement 

landscape in Wales, where Caerphilly County Borough Council has been asked to manage the 

former NPS food frameworks and one of these covers the 16 local authority areas of south 

and west Wales as we can see from Figure 24 below.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 66



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

52  

  

 

Figure 24 WLGA Food Group 

  
                                    Source: Caerphilly County Borough Council  

  

While localism can be a source of strength, it can also be a fatal weakness if it compromises 

the commercial viability of potentially transformative food policy initiatives like the 

CookFreeze project in Carmarthenshire. There is a genuine commercial opportunity here to 

design a new delivery model to bridge the yawning gap between demand and supply in the 

public food provisioning sector in Wales and we address this opportunity in the final chapter.  

  

Tudalen 67



 Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire 

53 

  

Circular Economy   
  

Introduction  

The Circular Economy is widely thought of as a recent, and increasingly influential, attempt to 

conceptualize the integration of economic activity and environmental wellbeing in a 

sustainable way. In fact, this set of ideas has been traced back to China as the basis of their 

economic development and was included in both the 11th and the 12th ‘Five Year Plan’ 

(Murray et al., 2017). There are a variety of approaches that may be grouped under the 

umbrella term, Circular Economy. Most place an emphasis on the redesign of processes and 

(re-)cycling of materials. These are intended to contribute to more sustainable business 

models but too frequently there is an absence of the social dimension necessary for 

understanding and delivering sustainable development at a system level (Aarikka-Stenroos et 

al., 2021). Our interest here is in presenting an inclusive conception of the Circular Economy 

as an idea and, crucially, in exploring its potential as a key element in a regional innovation 

ecosystem. For these reasons, we follow Murray et al’s definition of the Circular Economy as 

“an economic model wherein planning, resourcing, procurement, production and 

reprocessing are designed and managed, as both process and output, to maximize ecosystem 

functioning and human well-being” (2017: 369).   

  

Circular Economy approaches are a key element of a net zero agenda but have many elements 

(from re-fit, repair, re-making through sustainable design and manufacture to considerations 

of natural resources and land use). CE can also be used to engage citizens and raise awareness 

of climate change and the decarbonisation agenda. In this deep dive we focus in particular on 

two examples that provide insights into the key considerations in developing such approaches 

and consider how these initiatives could be grown to deliver benefits that embrace both 

commercial and environmental outcomes:  

1. Project Slurry (Prosiectslyri) which has been delivered through a very impressive 

network of partners and could potentially see greater local economic benefit begin to 

accrue in the local area;  

2. The possibility of an Eco-park which could be developed at the Nantycaws site where 

Cwm Environmental has earned itself a good reputation in dealing with recycling and 

waste management.  

  

Current Position  

  

Prosiectslyri  

The potential of the circular economy as a focus for collaboration and innovation is very well 

demonstrated by the Slurry Project and its subsequent development through Welsh 

Government, SMART Expertise and EU funding. The original project was created and delivered 

by Coleg Sir Gâr’s Gelli Aur agricultural campus and Power & Water, a Swansea based 

company specialising in electrochemical-based water treatments. This project achieved 

impressive results in slurry management, removing contaminating elements before 

discharging the ‘cleaned’ liquid into the local watercourse. Novel technology developed in 

partnership lay at the heart of the initial project which has been in the vanguard of such 

developments and attracted considerable interest. From the outset, the intention of the 

Tudalen 68



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

54  

  

project was to design, develop and validate economically viable systems that would be made 

available commercially and used on farms. Throughout the work has benefited from engaging 

with the farming community and utilising farm facilities at-scale.  

  

The next phase of the project has seen the challenge broadened and the network of partners 

has expanded to meet the increased technological and knowledge needs. The range of 

processes is captured in the accompanying diagram. Power and Water have remained as a 

key partner and been joined by, amongst others, GEA, Netafilm, Aquatreat and Honesty Foods 

who are working with the other partner organizations to develop a modular treatment system 

that can be tailored to end-user needs.   

  

The facilities and expertise of the Coleg Sir Gâr Agriculture Research Centre have been crucial 

in supporting individual partners, providing an ideal testbed for developing and applying their 

respective technologies. The further benefit of the centre is in bringing these companies 

together and providing the facility for them to work alongside each other for both individual 

and mutual benefit and in seeking integrated modular solutions.  

  

  
  

It is worth noting that this ‘local ecosystem’ has emerged organically as the success of the 

initial project both created further opportunities and attracted interest from outside 

organizations. The contribution of both the SMART team and senior members of CSG was 

acknowledged as a key element in developing the further activity. The current programme is 

developing activities across a group of commercial partners, producing commercial benefits 

as well as delivering environmental returns. A key next step would be to explore the 

possibilities of engaging more local firms and looking to see how commercial benefits might 

accrue to the local economy. Current activity has a collaborative agreement with regard to 

intellectual property but not commercial rewards. As the approach is picked up by local 

Tudalen 69



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

55  

  

farms it is also anticipated that there will be increased demand for the skills and support 

services needed to deliver it.   

  

Nantycaws   

Our second example is also an existing Circular Economy activity with equally pragmatic 

purposes: the recycling site at Nantycaws. We feature this as our second example since there 

appears to be an emerging set of ideas for which further opportunities are being scoped. 

These build from the progress that Cwm Environmental has already made in growing and 

extending their activities from landfill to waste treatment and materials recovery, the results 

of which are now being disposed of on the market.   

  

The future plans are ambitious and potentially include renewable energy, including solar 

and/or wind energy to power the site, a major energy from waste facility, and a new site for 

commercial circular economy businesses. The possibility of establishing facilities for charging 

electric vehicles, powered by renewable energy sources (possibly even a hydrogen facility), 

was also raised. This would appear to be a potentially significant contribution to the local 

authority’s increasingly urgent decarb agenda. Along with these larger industrial plans, 

smaller-scale and household operations were discussed, including paint recycling facilities to 

make recycled paint available for community uses, and a carpentry service. These are good 

ways of engaging local citizens and possibility of establishing further community links and 

facilities that are valued by the public – such as a version of the remaker space that is being 

created in the sparc | spark building at Cardiff University – are also worthy of serious 

consideration.   

  

The opportunity here is to develop a centre of excellence and specialist facilities in support of 

the Circular Economy. Road access, change in land use regulations (for solar energy) and grid 

capacity were mentioned as possible constraints but the ambition seems deliverable with the 

right partners and support. People we spoke to were keen to see this pursued through some 

form of public-private partnership – or perhaps even through a public sector solution.   

  

Future Challenges and Opportunities  

The Slurry Project is a live example of the potential that collaboration can deliver around CE 

objectives. As one of our respondents put it, Prosiectslyri demonstrates ‘the power of 

collaboration and how bringing in partners adds to the capability matrix necessary to solve 

complex problems and the process of an effective collaboration to make it all work’. It is 

important to recognise the key roles played by individuals who have brought leadership, 

expertise and imagination to the project and also the funding that has underpinned the 

development of both capacity and capability. The development has thus been organic but 

benefited from a process whereby the partners have jointly scoped and developed their own 

projects while embracing a shared CE outcome, thereby producing a commitment to the 

initiative and a sense of shared enterprise. The network of organizations is ‘working together 

sharing effort, knowledge, risks and rewards’. This is a prime example for the county to 

consider in mobilising its innovation efforts. And it may be that there is more that can be 

leveraged from the activities underway in the form of local economic benefits.   

  

Tudalen 70



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

56  

  

There is an important skills component when considering the potential of the Circular  

Economy. As the Welsh Government’s Beyond Recycling strategy document (2021a) makes 

clear, investment in green skills such as eco-design, re-use, repair, remanufacture and 

reprocessing will be needed to support the development of Wales’ workforce. There are 

opportunities here to work with accrediting bodies and training providers, especially local 

colleges. The CE is also a potentially important focus for apprenticeships which can help bring 

individual firms into networks of CE activity.   

  

As regards green skills, one of the most important priorities is to align local plans with the 

Welsh and UK policy commitments to Net Zero. Among the most promising developments in 

the county and the region is the Construction Wales Innovation Centre (CWIC) in which 

UWTSD plans to locate its new Net Zero skills centre. This aims to provide a comprehensive 

Net Zero knowledge ecosystem, with skills training and a supply chain development 

programme which is not geographically constrained as it has mobile facilities that can be 

accessed by small firms throughout the county. As a comprehensive green skills training 

system, it can also cater for both new build and retrofit schemes in the built environment 

based on circular economy principles. CWIC and the NZ centre would seem to be well attuned 

to new trends in the construction industry, especially the shift to modern methods of 

construction and the growing preference for Welsh timber products.   

  

There are also smaller-scale activities that will help to broaden and deepen understanding of 

the Circular Economy. Carmarthenshire is already home to establishments that are part of 

Repair Café Wales, a movement of more than 1,800 cafes globally. This is remarkable given it 

was founded in 2017. The primary purpose of the cafes is to address the unsustainable 

wasteto-landfill of items whose lifetime could be extended with repair. But Repair Cafes 

contribute to more than waste reduction, in particular the social dimensions of skill sharing, 

and community cohesion. There are now around 30 cafes located across Wales (Welsh 

Government, 2021a).   

  

As the council considers the opportunities and priorities that are offered by activity in the 

Circular Economy, there are some conceptual frameworks that may prove useful. It is 

important, in our view, that the approach takes an ecosystem perspective and identifies the 

various environmental, commercial and social benefits and implications. As Aarikka-Stenroos 

et al (2021: 260) have recently observed, ‘the notion of the “ecosystem” has become 

important in understanding how linear models can be transformed into circular ones, 

representing resource efficiencies and material flows typified by feedback loops and 

interdependencies among different actors’. Such an approach ‘allows a consideration of 

complex constellations of actors, technologies, and institutions that are bound together via 

loosely coupled interdependencies and co-evolutionary patterns’ (Aarikka-Stenroos et al., 

2021: 260). As this suggests, such matters are complex and multi-faceted. The authors suggest 

that an important aspect of any CE ecosystem is its sustainable ecosystem outcome which can 

be defined by circular processes of recycling, reuse, and/or reduction. They use this and a 

series of other variables to distinguish between types of CE ecosystem, for example 

differentiating between those that are intended to lead to new venture creation.   

  

Tudalen 71



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

57  

  

At the level of the ecosystem, previous research has identified three open innovation 

approaches and the authors (Bocken & Ritala, 2021) distinguish between those concerned 

with narrowing, slowing and closing the loops in a circular economy:   

1. Narrowing focuses on efficiencies and seeks to reduce waste in design and production 

(this is also common in the linear economy)  

2. Slowing seeks to extend the product life and thereby lower the environmental 

footprint and resource burden  

3. Closing focuses on reusing resources (recycling)  

  

Consideration of these points begins to signpost both the opportunities in terms of existing 

actors and resources in the county and where there may be the need for further extension of 

networks. For example, what are the possibilities and local capacity with regard to digital 

platforms in supporting and promoting Circular Economy activity?  

  

  

   

Tudalen 72



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

58  

  

5. Conclusions: Opportunities for innovation  
 

The local innovation opportunities that we discuss below pre-suppose that CCC and its 

partners have the capacity, the resources and the commitment to do justice to the ambitious 

economic development strategies that they have set themselves. In the case of CCC this 

concerns initiatives such as the Economic Recovery and Delivery Plan, the Community Wealth 

Building experiments in progressive public procurement and the Swansea Bay City Deal 

projects, particularly the exciting but challenging Pentre Awel project.  To tap the potential of 

these opportunities the local authority will need to be internally agile, with respect to its own 

working practices, and externally engaged with its partners at different levels of the multilevel 

policy landscape in the SBCD region, in Wales and indeed in Whitehall.    

  

Like charity, innovation begins at home and CCC has lost no time in trying to improve its own 

working practices in response to the pandemic. The Authority’s decision to spend nearly £2m 

in agile working initiatives, including providing staff with the right equipment to allow them 

to work in a more flexible way, has helped support an almost seamless move to homeworking. 

This enabled the council to help over 4,000 businesses to receive Welsh Government’s 

business rates grant payments of between £10,000 and £25,000 with a total amount of over 

£46 million. As regards service delivery the council made over 40 transactional council services 

available to the public online, many of which were developed extremely quickly. The 

challenge now is to embed the organisational innovations that have been triggered by the 

pandemic and to this end the Transformation, Innovation and Change (TIC) team has been 

charged with evaluating the Council’s response to the COVID-19 crisis to ensure that any 

learning and positive changes are used to re-design services and the Council’s future strategic 

and operational delivery framework.   

  

But there’s no room for complacency because, according to the National Survey for Wales, 

there are still areas where CCC falls well below the Welsh average, especially in affording 

people the opportunity to participate in making decisions for example (CCC, 2021c – Annual 

Report for 2020/2021).   

  

On the economic development front, CCC will need to engage with its local economy in new 

and more effective ways. As the Economic Recovery Plan makes clear, the county council and 

its partners in Business Wales etc will need a much better understanding of the needs and 

nuances of the targeted sectors and this means ‘establishing regular communications with 

representative groups of these sectors through existing partnerships and forums’ (CCC, 2021: 

27). As over 90% of the county’s businesses are micro-businesses (<10 employees), engaging 

with such firms is no easy task because they have little or no time to engage with the policy 

world.   

  

Research and experience suggest that firms learn best from other firms; so much so that the 

first line of a business support strategy is not government grants etc, but peer-to-peer 

learning within the business sector. What this means is that the real problem in small 

firmbased regions is not so much being small as being lonely - that is not being part of a cluster 

or a network that can offer mentoring and support (Morgan & Nauwelaers, 1999).     

Tudalen 73



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

59  

  

  

Building the necessary intelligence on the local economy is beyond the capacity of the county 

council and indeed of any single organisation in the region. Pressures on CCC capacity will 

become even more acute when EU funding ends in 2023 because EU funds currently support 

many functions within the council, including some 65% of the officers in the Regeneration 

Service for example.   

  

The way forward, as we stressed earlier, is to make a virtue of necessity by spreading the 

business intelligence tasks among the members of the regional innovation ecosystem in south 

west Wales. Among other things this will require much more concerted action from the three 

main public sector partners - CCC, Hywel Dda and UWTSD - who also happen to be three of 

the largest employers in Carmarthenshire. Although inter-organisational links between these 

three actors have improved greatly in recent years, the fact that we encountered many 

examples of silo-based working suggests that a mature regional innovation ecosystem is not 

yet the default position in the region.   

  

But this will need to be remedied as a matter of urgency because the new innovation funding 

schemes that are in the UK policy pipeline – like new iterations of the Strength in Places Fund 

and the Catapult Network for example – will require evidence of strong partnership working 

in place-based coalitions. To access these new innovation funding schemes, compelling 

placebased narratives will be necessary to broadcast the advantages and achievements of the 

area and we now turn to the question of spatial narratives.   

  

Innovation narratives  
  

In concluding this report we consider the importance of innovation narrative – an aspect of 

innovation strategy that is seldom considered in regional innovation policy. Interest in 

placebased innovation narratives has been increasing recently in recognition of their power 

to effect change and influence future developments. Recent examples of policy reports that 

have advocated the development of a place-based innovation narrative include the Welsh  

Government’s Brown Review (2019) and our own report on innovation policy in Wales 
(Delbridge et al., 2021). Effective narratives are based in reality and speak to the ‘identity’ of 
a particular place.   
  

Narrative is closely related to issues of both ‘place-making’ and ‘place-branding’. While 

notions of branding started with rather facile tourism marketing, ‘More recently, 

placebranding has been charged with more ambitious pursuits, including helping to support 

and cultivate regional socio-economic benefits and even the fostering of sustainable 

development’ (Reynolds, 2021: 15). This has led to the suggestion that the overlapping of 

place-branding and its counterpart of place-making, perhaps along the lines indicated in the 

Brown Review, can provide an opportunity for people to come together to develop practices 

and policies that may produce real and substantive change to their localities. This moves 

activity beyond marketing gimmicks linked to logos, slogans, poised imagery that are crafted 

to gain the attention of a predefined audience. Instead, place branding should be considered 

Tudalen 74



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

 

60  

  

as a complex and holistic process that draws on the place itself as well as people’s associations 

to bring about change.   

  

The point that reputation or image of a place can be enhanced by a positive and compelling 

narrative is particularly important for rural and relatively isolated regions in overcoming any 

limitations of peripherality because the evidence is that connectivity beyond the region can 

be a key resource in innovation. Research on innovation in Norway, for example, suggests that 

the formation of regional hubs with strong connections to international innovative networks 

can help to overcome peripherality in order to innovate. The evidence shows that companies 

with a wide range of international partners involved in their innovation processes were 

significantly more likely to develop new products and generate radical innovations. In other 

words, regional hubs in the periphery with strong connections to international collaborative 

networks can successfully produce innovation and economic development (Fitjar & 

Rodríguez-Pose, 2011).   

  

In our view there is an opportunity to develop a specific Carmarthenshire innovation narrative 

that is grounded in the distinctiveness of the county, reflects its comparative strengths and 

captures a suitable level of ambition for the future. Such a narrative will draw on key 

attributes, including the outstanding environment, healthy lifestyles and a supportive 

infrastructure for innovation and development (one which seeks to overcome bureaucracy 

and cynicism), and draws on existing examples and role models to communicate what is 

possible.  

  

Tudalen 75



 Exploring the i   

61 

  

nnovation prospects for Carmarthenshire 

Innovation opportunities  

The purpose of this study has been to review the current position of Carmarthenshire and to 

inform CCC’s local innovation strategy in the coming years. We conclude the report with the 

following opportunities that have been derived from consultations with stakeholders and 

documentary analysis.  

  

Opportunity 1 - Digital  

Enhancing Digital connectivity and exploiting Digital opportunities across Carmarthenshire  

Overview  

Improving and enhancing digital connectivity is an important priority for Carmarthenshire. 

While fixed and mobile digital connectivity has improved substantially in recent years the 

county continues to face challenges to ensure that it does not fall behind other parts of Wales, 

and that its businesses and communities are able to gain social and economic prosperity 

through the use of Digital. Four opportunity areas are highlighted:  

i. Fibre and mobile connectivity: This opportunity represents a long-term challenge for 

Carmarthenshire. It will require the county to work closely with the current SBCR and the UKG 

Gigabit and Shared Rural Network programmes, but also successive deployments of 

infrastructure and connectivity. Here the county has a range of policy levers that it is able to 

use to assist deployment including regeneration, planning, legal and highways to ensure that 

‘barriers’ are removed, and deployment secured and facilitated. The challenges faced by rural 

areas such as Carmarthenshire, however, will require significant ongoing leadership, 

coordination and action beyond the life of the current funding programmes.    

ii. Next Generation Digital Technologies: This opportunity is one of developing the 

county as a test bed for novel and emerging future technologies such as IoT and 5G use cases, 

trials and test beds. Here there are a number of planned strategic sites such as Pentre Awel 

and Yr Egin, and projects such as the Towy Valley path that might be able to act as test beds 

for social and digital innovation. In addition, Gelli Aur farm and agricultural college represents 

a current opportunity that the Council may be able to pursue, building on the work of the 

Agricultural Research Centre, and the potential for an Agri Tech test bed to address 

agricultural challenges through improved connectivity infrastructure, data and applications.   

iii. Digital skills: In parallel to the challenges of deploying connectivity there is the 

associated opportunity of stimulating demand, raising awareness, and encouraging 

exploitation of these digital technologies. These are areas where programmes such Swansea 

Bay City Deal Skills and Talent programme, Business Wales and other private actors could be 

brought to bear to address digital skills with the local knowledge and support of the Council.   

iv. A rural digital innovation centre: A number of innovation centres are planned or in 

operation across Wales, including M-Sparc in North Wales, the Swansea Innovation Matrix, 

and Cardiff’s Spark development. Such centres respond to their local contexts and support 

business and others to innovate in association with universities and address place-based 

economic, social and environmental challenges. Carmarthenshire has the opportunity to 

develop a similar centre focused on digital innovation and connectivity for a rural area, 

Tudalen 76



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

62  

  

building on the expertise of partners such as UWTSD and other within and beyond the County, 

and to apply innovation to locally derived challenges, problems and solutions.   

  

Outcomes  

Research shows that businesses that adopt digital technologies tend to achieve greater 

economic outcomes. It also has the potential to produce social benefits (as highlighted by the 

pandemic), as well as contribute towards wider agendas such as public service delivery and 

net zero. In this respect digital represents a cross-cutting theme that has the potential to 

support other opportunities in this strategy.   

Actors  

The UKG is an important source of funding digital connectivity in Carmarthenshire and the 

wider City Region. This includes funding for Gigabit and 5G developments, and will be an 

important partner for the region. This will require the county to develop its plans in support 

of funding bids. Welsh Government continues to be an important partner to support this 

agenda, as does the private sector, with potential to draw on expertise to exploit the IoT 

network and 5G test-beds.  

Timing  

2022-2025  

  

Opportunity 2 – Health  

Development of a dispersed living laboratory  

Overview  

Many plans are underway to promote health innovation initiatives across the County. This 

includes developments taking place at Pentre Awel as well as the proposals for the Hwb in 

Carmarthen, plus sites at Llandovery and Cross Hands. The opportunity here is one of working 

to knit these elements together into a functioning innovation ecosystem and exploiting 

opportunities for a dispersed living laboratory in the HDUHB region. Such labs represent a 

user-centred, iterative, open approach to innovation in a particular place. While most typically 

linked to urban areas, the dispersed centres could work alongside innovators to develop and 

test new medical and non-medical products and services that have health and wellbeing 

benefits.   

The opportunity is one of increasing the scale and scope of such innovation activity in the 
County. Here the facilities and the co-location of partners at Pentre Awel provide a unique 
opportunity for it to act as a hub for the dispersed living lab, with a focus on building synergies 
across the County (and within its tenant base), developing critical mass for trials and product 
development in the area of health and medtech innovations.   

This opportunity will be further enhanced by the development of a strategic partnership with 
Cardiff University. The Cardiff University team will engage with the wider healthcare and 
innovation sector to ensure that Pentre Awel and the wider living lab can be explored and 
proof of concept opportunities maximised. This partnership will provide direct access for 
Pentre Awel to Cardiff University’s Accelerate Network and wider innovation expertise. Such 

Tudalen 77



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

63  

  

developments will help to ensure that the County becomes identified as a location of health 
and medtech business as well as a beacon of social innovation in health and wellbeing.  

Outcomes  

The outcomes from a living lab are not necessarily leading-edge novel solutions, but rather the 

adaptation of technologies and solutions that enhance health and wellbeing outcomes. By 

developing a distributed network there is an opportunity to amplify these outcomes for the 

residential population of Carmarthenshire, through testing out a range of medtech solutions 

in the community. These solutions have the potential to improve health and wellbeing 

outcomes for the county, as well as produce economic benefits for businesses that engage in 

such initiatives. It may also help to limit duplicated innovation activity across the Centres. A 

distributed lab, using appropriate technologies, can overcome the lack of critical mass in a 

rural region by aggregating scattered locations digitally.   

Actors  

The living lab concept is based on interaction and learning amongst a broad range of 

stakeholders, including users. In addition to including local partners such as the council, 

HDUHB and UWTSD, this has the potential to build on the relationships that have developed 

through the Pentre Awel with the wider Welsh life sciences network, including the Life 

Sciences Hub Wales and Cardiff University.  

  

Timing  

2022-2023  

  

  

Opportunity 3 – Foundational Economy  

Sustainable food procurement   

Overview  

Carmarthenshire’s PSB has been a leader in aligning its local well-being plans with the major 

policy drivers in Wales, particularly the Foundational Economy (FE). Sustainable food 

procurement has been the chosen theme to explore the potential of the FE in the county 

because it integrates the twin priorities of progressive public procurement on the one hand 

and local food chains on the other. Laudable as they are, these efforts have been limited in 

scope and character by the fact that they remain highly localised within the county. A unique 

opportunity for scaling up these efforts has recently presented itself in the form of the 

LabourPlaid Cooperation Agreement to extend free school meals to all primary school 

children, a radical social innovation described as “a transformational intervention in terms of 

child hunger and child poverty, which will support educational attainment and child nutrition 

and local food production and distribution, benefiting local economies”. The key challenges 

facing the free school meals commitment revolve around infrastructure (kitchens, dining halls 

etc), staffing and food sourcing.   

 

 

Tudalen 78



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

64  

  

Outcomes  

The outcome of this social innovation would help to bridge the long-standing gap between 

demand and supply of sustainable public food in Wales for both schools and hospitals. The 

proposed innovation would aim to scale up the Phase 2 Foundational Economy project that 

involves the Cook-Freeze project in Hywel Dda. A scaled-up initiative would aim to explore 

the feasibility of supplying locally-sourced nutritious food to public plates in the health and 

education sectors in and beyond Wales. The Hywel Dda project will require work on the 

scaling up of local supply (particularly horticulture to meet fruit and vegetable demand), 

cooperation between producers and consideration of joint processing facilities, all of which 

will also apply to local food ambitions for school food provision.   

Whilst a cook-freeze solution makes sense for hospitals, schools have the ability to place a 

fresh school kitchen at the heart of school life. Effectively putting school lunch on the 

curriculum and fulfilling healthy eating educational aims in respect of cooking, learning to eat 

well and understanding the relationship between food and health, climate change and nature. 

All of which will need to accompany the introduction of universal free school meals at primary 

level if the initiative is to fulfil the transformational ambitions of the Cooperation Agreement.  

The catalytic effect that this will have on local economic activity and the development of local 

supply chains will not be limited to public sector demand as that same infrastructure is 

desperately needed in respect of local food reaching commercial markets.  

The delivery vehicles for supplying sustainable food are therefore likely to be a mix of public 

sector infrastructure, social and cooperative enterprises and commercial business.   

Actors  

A foundational economy innovation pilot in sustainable food procurement would need to 

involve supply-side (farmers, growers) and demand-side actors (councils and health boards).  

Timing  

2022-23  

  

Opportunity 4 – Circular Economy 

Leveraging a CE Approach for the Net Zero Agenda 

Overview  

Circular Economy approaches are a key element in the Net Zero agenda (CCC, 2020). They 
offer new opportunities to inform and engage citizens in climate change discussions and help 
to change behavioural attitudes to repair and re-use. The success of the repair café social 
movement demonstrates the appetite for CE activities.   

  

There is also an opportunity to engage local businesses to extend the uptake and influence of 
a CE approach across the county. At the ecosystem level, three open innovation approaches 
are relevant for businesses of all sizes to consider. They distinguish between those concerned 
with narrowing, slowing and closing the loops in a circular economy:   

1. Narrowing focuses on efficiencies and seeks to reduce waste in design and production  

Tudalen 79



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

65  

  

2. Slowing seeks to extend the product life and thereby lower the environmental 
footprint and resource burden  

3. Closing focuses on reusing resources (recycling) 

In advancing this agenda it will be important to build on existing activities, for example CE 
schools education centres such as the John Burns Centre in Cydweli and at the National 
Botanic Gardens, the repair cafes already operating in the county, and exemplar CE firms such 
as NappiCycle in Ammanford. But most promising of all are the opportunities to develop the 
proposed Eco Park, by extending the work underway at Nantycaws and to begin to secure 
commercial benefits from the successful Slurry Project.   

Outcomes  

A Circular Economy approach can generate multiple dividends. First, educating school 
children and engaging citizens in one or more aspects of repair, re-design and repair will lay 
the foundations for delivering the behaviour change necessary to meet Net Zero aspirations. 
Second, CE can be a key element in the Carmarthenshire innovation narrative, highlighting 
exemplar projects and existing good practices and building on local comparative strengths. 
Third, the transformation of the Nantycaws site into a more fully operational CE facility will 
generate societal and environmental benefits alongside further commercial and innovation 
opportunities in and beyond the county.  
  

Of all the CE opportunities in the county, the Eco Park concept at Nantycaws would seem to 
be the most promising, especially if CCC is allowed to develop the synergies between waste, 
energy and manufacturing. Currently, the biggest challenge to the Energy from Waste (EfW) 
opportunity is the moratorium on plants in Wales over 10MW in production capacity. But 
Welsh Government has recently acknowledged that there is a demonstrable need for new 
EfW capacity in SW and Mid Wales, so this opportunity needs to be explored as a matter of 
urgency.  

Actors  

These CE opportunities will require collaboration across the council, schools and further and 
higher education institutions, local businesses, charities and social movements. There is also 
a green skills component and this could be more fully developed through engagement with 
partners in the Swansea Bay City Deal. The EfW moratorium will need to be explored with 
Welsh Government ministers.   
  

Timing   

2022-2025  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 80



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

66  

  

Annex  
The authors 

Professor Kevin Morgan is Professor of Governance and Development at Cardiff University, 

where he is also the University Dean of Engagement and co-convenor of the Centre for 

Innovation Policy Research. He is an advisor to the European Commission on regional 

innovation policy; he was a member of the OECD Multilevel Governance Team that produced 

the recent OECD report on Wales; and he is a visiting research fellow at Orkestra (the applied 

research institute of Duesto University) in the Basque Country.    

Dr Dylan Henderson is a Lecturer in Innovation and Organisation at Cardiff University. His 

research and teaching interests include business innovation, digital transformation and 

regional development. He is a member of the Centre for Innovation Policy Research, and the 

Welsh Economy Research Unit at Cardiff University. As a former policy consultant he has 

extensive experience of developing and evaluating regional innovation policies across Europe, 

and acted as a researcher to Wales first generation regional innovation strategy – the Regional 

Technology Plan.   

Professor Rick Delbridge FAcSS FBAM FLSW is Professor of Organizational Analysis and 

coconvenor of the Centre for Innovation Policy Research at Cardiff University where he leads 

the university in its partnership with the Cardiff Capital Region to design and deliver its 

challenge fund. He researches and teaches the management and organization of innovation. 

He is a member of the ESRC Strategic Advisory Network and the Board of the Campaign for 

Social Science. He is a member of the assessment panel for the Strength in Places Fund and 

Special Advisor on Research and Innovation to the Learned Society of Wales.   

  

Consultees  

David Gilbert   A local economic development consultant  

Bronwen Raine   Antur Teifi  

Wynfford James   Chair of the Arsyllfa: Observatory project   

Emlyn Dole  

Jonathan Fearn  

Gareth Jones   

Jason Jones   

Jane Lewis   

Wendy Walters  

 CCC  

Iestyn Davies   Colegau Cymru  

Andrew Cornish   Coleg Sir Gar  

Sean Gallagher   Cwm Environmental  

Tudalen 81



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

67  

  

Jonathan Morris  

Anthony Rees   

 Cyfle  

Sam Watkins   Delta Wellbeing  

Robert Brown   Engineering consultant  

Chris Hopkins   

Peter Jones  

Leighton Phillips   

Huw Thomas  

 Hywel Dda University Health Board  

Richard Evans   Local Partnerships  

Robin Davies   Magstim  

Mark Grant   MG Commercial Business Solutions  

Mark Roscrow   NHS Shared Services  

Sharon Burford   Pentre Awel  

Ross Gill   SQW  

Jonathan Burnes   Swansea Bay City Deal   

Gary  Walpole  (Circular  

Economy Innovation)  

Swansea University   

Owain Jones  TRJ  

Barry Liles   

Medwin Hughes   

Gwilym Dyfri Jones   

UWTSD   

  

Phil Allen  

Simon Brindle  

Alan Davies  

Michael Groves  

Huw Morris   

Simon Ripton   

Richard Sewell   

Terry Stubbs  

Welsh Government  

Richard Dooner  WLGA  

Tudalen 82



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

68  

  

Simon Wright   Wright’s Food Emporium  

Cefin Campbell  Welsh Senedd  

Plus the CCC Business Advisory Group  

  

Tudalen 83



Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

69  

  

References  
  

Aarikka-Stenroos L., Ritala P. & Thomas L. D. (2021) Circular economy ecosystems: A 
typology, definitions, and implications,  Research handbook of sustainability agency. Edward 
Elgar Publishing.  

Audit Wales (2021) Review of planning services – Carmarthenshire County Council. Retrieved 

from https://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/carms_p.pdf.  

Beauhurst (2021) Investing in Wales: The Welsh high-growth ecosystem 2021. Retrieved from 

https://www.beauhurst.com/research/investing-in-wales/  

Bianchi P., Miller L. M., Bertini S., Crestanello P., Durante A. & Magnatti P. (1997) The Italian  

SME experience and possible lessons for emerging countries. Retrieved from 

https://www.unido.org/sites/default/files/200805/the_italian_SME_experience_and_possib

le_LL_0.pdf.  

Bocken, N. and Ritala, P. (2021) Six ways to build circular business models, Journal of Business 

Strategy, forthcoming. https://doi.org/10.1108/ JBS-11-2020-0258  

Brown P. (2019) Wales 4.0: Delivering economic transformation for the better future of 

work. Retrieved from https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-

09/deliveringeconomic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf.  

Carmarthenshire Rural Affairs Task Group (2019) Moving rural Carmarthenshire forward. 

Retrieved from 

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/councildemocracy/strategies-and-

plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/.  

CCC (2019) Carmarthenshire public sector food procurement   

CCC (2017) Carmarthenshire library service: Moving forward for 2017 - 2022. Retrieved from 

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214220/gd4443-librariesstrategy-en.pdf.  

CCC (2020) Route towards becoming a net zero carbon local authority by 2030. Retrieved 

from https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223704/gd6245-

netzerocarbonplan3.pdf.  

CCC (2021) Carmarthenshire economic recovery & delivery plan Retrieved from 

https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=51856#:~:text=This 

%20is%20our%20Economic%20Recovery,supporting%20Business%2C%20People%20and%2 

0Place.  

CLES (2021) Carmarthenshire anchors – food procurement. Retrieved from 

https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurementfeb-

2021.pdf.  

Tudalen 84

https://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/carms_p.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/carms_p.pdf
https://www.beauhurst.com/research/investing-in-wales/
https://www.beauhurst.com/research/investing-in-wales/
https://www.beauhurst.com/research/investing-in-wales/
https://www.beauhurst.com/research/investing-in-wales/
https://www.beauhurst.com/research/investing-in-wales/
https://www.beauhurst.com/research/investing-in-wales/
https://www.unido.org/sites/default/files/2008-05/the_italian_SME_experience_and_possible_LL_0.pdf
https://www.unido.org/sites/default/files/2008-05/the_italian_SME_experience_and_possible_LL_0.pdf
https://www.unido.org/sites/default/files/2008-05/the_italian_SME_experience_and_possible_LL_0.pdf
https://www.unido.org/sites/default/files/2008-05/the_italian_SME_experience_and_possible_LL_0.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1108/%20JBS-11-2020-0258
https://doi.org/10.1108/%20JBS-11-2020-0258
https://doi.org/10.1108/%20JBS-11-2020-0258
https://doi.org/10.1108/%20JBS-11-2020-0258
https://doi.org/10.1108/%20JBS-11-2020-0258
https://doi.org/10.1108/%20JBS-11-2020-0258
https://doi.org/10.1108/%20JBS-11-2020-0258
https://doi.org/10.1108/%20JBS-11-2020-0258
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/delivering-economic-transformation-for-a-better-future-of-work.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-rural-carmarthenshire-forward/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214220/gd4443-librariesstrategy-en.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214220/gd4443-librariesstrategy-en.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214220/gd4443-librariesstrategy-en.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214220/gd4443-librariesstrategy-en.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214220/gd4443-librariesstrategy-en.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214220/gd4443-librariesstrategy-en.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223704/gd6245-netzerocarbon-plan3.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223704/gd6245-netzerocarbon-plan3.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223704/gd6245-netzerocarbon-plan3.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223704/gd6245-netzerocarbon-plan3.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223704/gd6245-netzerocarbon-plan3.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223704/gd6245-netzerocarbon-plan3.pdf
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=51856#:~:text=This%20is%20our%20Economic%20Recovery,supporting%20Business%2C%20People%20and%20Place
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=51856#:~:text=This%20is%20our%20Economic%20Recovery,supporting%20Business%2C%20People%20and%20Place
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=51856#:~:text=This%20is%20our%20Economic%20Recovery,supporting%20Business%2C%20People%20and%20Place
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=51856#:~:text=This%20is%20our%20Economic%20Recovery,supporting%20Business%2C%20People%20and%20Place
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=51856#:~:text=This%20is%20our%20Economic%20Recovery,supporting%20Business%2C%20People%20and%20Place
https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurement-feb-2021.pdf
https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurement-feb-2021.pdf
https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurement-feb-2021.pdf
https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurement-feb-2021.pdf
https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurement-feb-2021.pdf
https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurement-feb-2021.pdf
https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurement-feb-2021.pdf
https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurement-feb-2021.pdf
https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurement-feb-2021.pdf
https://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/ckll1owf/cles-food-procurement-feb-2021.pdf


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

70  

  

Climate Change Committee (2018) Land use: Reducing emissions and preparing for climate 

change. Retrieved from https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Landuse-

Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf.  

Curwen P. & Whalley J. (2021) Understanding 5G mobile networks: A multidisciplinary primer. 

Emerald Publishing, Bingley.  

Davies G. H., Clement R. M., Huxtable-Thomas L., Johnson G., Perkins B. L., Roderick S., 
Gregory J., Rodde B. M. & Daniels J. (2018) Life sciences and health in South West Wales: A 
sub-regional innovation ecosystem, in James J., Preece J. & Valdés-Cotera R. (Eds)  
Entrepreneurial learning city regions: Delivering on the UNESCO 2013, Beijing declaration on 

building learning cities, pp. 267-292. Springer International Publishing, Cham.  

Delbridge R., Henderson D. & Morgan K. (2021) Scoping the future of innovation policy in  

Wales. Retrieved from 

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/202107/innovation-advisory-council-for-

wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-inwales.pdf.  

Drakeford M. (2021) Foreword, in Welsh Government (Ed) Reforming our Union: Shared 

governance in the UK,  June 2021.  

Eder J. (2018) Innovation in the periphery: A critical survey and research agenda, International 

Regional Science Review, 42(2), 119-146.  

Experian (2006) Commuting in and around Wales: Final report. Retrieved from 

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commutingin-

and-around-wales-en.pdf.  

Farmer, M. (2016) The Farmer review of the UK construction labour model. Retrieved from: 

https://www.constructionleadershipcouncil.co.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2016/10/FarmerReview.pdf  

Fitjar R. D. & Rodríguez-Pose A. (2011) Innovating in the periphery: Firms, values and 

innovation in Southwest Norway, European Planning Studies, 19(4), 555-574.  

Florida R., Rodríguez-Pose A. & Storper M. (2021) Cities in a post-COVID world, Urban Studies.  

Forth T. & Jones R. (2020) The missing £4 billion: Making R&D work for the whole UK. Nesta. 

Retrieved from https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/the-missing-4-billion/.  

Foundational Economy Research (2021a) Make the composition of agricultural output an 

object of policy: Response to the Welsh Government’s Agriculture (Wales) White Paper  

Foundational Economy Research (2021b) What can Welsh Government do to increase the 
number of grounded SME firms in food processing and distribution?  
https://foundationaleconomy.com/research-reports/  

Future Generations Commissioner for Wales (2021) Procuring wellbeing in Wales: A review 

into how the well-being of future generations act is informing procurement in Wales. 

Tudalen 85

https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Land-use-Reducing-emissions-and-preparing-for-climate-change-CCC-2018.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/innovation-advisory-council-for-wales-scoping-the-future-of-innovation-policy-in-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/070327-commuting-in-and-around-wales-en.pdf
https://www.constructionleadershipcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Farmer-Review.pdf
https://www.constructionleadershipcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Farmer-Review.pdf
https://www.constructionleadershipcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Farmer-Review.pdf
https://www.constructionleadershipcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Farmer-Review.pdf
https://www.constructionleadershipcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Farmer-Review.pdf
https://www.constructionleadershipcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Farmer-Review.pdf
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/the-missing-4-billion/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/the-missing-4-billion/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/the-missing-4-billion/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/the-missing-4-billion/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/the-missing-4-billion/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/the-missing-4-billion/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/the-missing-4-billion/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/report/the-missing-4-billion/
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffoundationaleconomy.com%2Fresearch-reports%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cmorgankj%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C3481ec4a557740c8999b08d9ced6eebb%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1%7C0%7C637768244792820321%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=0d%2Fw%2BgibKdCkpTMqIT4GaQTb6GFd%2Bddi4J260c%2B7uWU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffoundationaleconomy.com%2Fresearch-reports%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cmorgankj%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C3481ec4a557740c8999b08d9ced6eebb%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1%7C0%7C637768244792820321%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=0d%2Fw%2BgibKdCkpTMqIT4GaQTb6GFd%2Bddi4J260c%2B7uWU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffoundationaleconomy.com%2Fresearch-reports%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cmorgankj%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C3481ec4a557740c8999b08d9ced6eebb%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1%7C0%7C637768244792820321%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=0d%2Fw%2BgibKdCkpTMqIT4GaQTb6GFd%2Bddi4J260c%2B7uWU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffoundationaleconomy.com%2Fresearch-reports%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cmorgankj%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C3481ec4a557740c8999b08d9ced6eebb%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1%7C0%7C637768244792820321%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=0d%2Fw%2BgibKdCkpTMqIT4GaQTb6GFd%2Bddi4J260c%2B7uWU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffoundationaleconomy.com%2Fresearch-reports%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cmorgankj%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C3481ec4a557740c8999b08d9ced6eebb%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1%7C0%7C637768244792820321%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=0d%2Fw%2BgibKdCkpTMqIT4GaQTb6GFd%2Bddi4J260c%2B7uWU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffoundationaleconomy.com%2Fresearch-reports%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cmorgankj%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C3481ec4a557740c8999b08d9ced6eebb%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1%7C0%7C637768244792820321%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=0d%2Fw%2BgibKdCkpTMqIT4GaQTb6GFd%2Bddi4J260c%2B7uWU%3D&reserved=0


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

71  

  

Retrieved from https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-

content/uploads/2021/02/ENGSection-20-Procurement-Review.pdf.  

Grubesic T. H. & Mack E. A. (2016) Broadband telecommunications and regional development. 

Routledge, Abingdon (Oxon).  

Hart J. (2016) Older people in rural areas: Vulnerability due to loneliness and isolation paper, 

rural england. Retrieved from https://ruralengland.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/04/Finalreport-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf.  

Henderson D. & Roche N. (2020) Examining the policy mix for broadband deployment in 

Wales: The role of informal coordination in the last mile, Local Economy, 35(1), 48-67.  

Heslop J., Morgan K. & Tomaney J. (2019) Debating the foundational economy, Renewal: A 

journal of social democracy, 27.  

Hywel Dda University Health Board (2021a) Phase 2 of the Cook-freeze Strategy.  

Hywel Dda University Health Board (2021b) Our research and innovation strategy 20212024.  

Johnson B. (2021) The Prime Minister’s levelling up speech: 15 july 2021’. Retrieved from 

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15july-

2021.  

Jones R. (2021) UK science after the spending review, soft machines blog. Retrieved from 

http://www.softmachines.org/wordpress/?p=2626.  

Lord Dunlop (2019) The Dunlop review into UK government union capability. Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ 

data/file/972987/Lord_Dunlop_s_review_into_UK_Government_Union_Capability.pdf 

[Accessed: 30th March 2021].  

McCann P. & Ortega-Argilés R. (2021) The UK ‘geography of discontent’: Narratives, Brexit 
and inter-regional ‘levelling up’, Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society, 14(3), 
545-564.  

Mcloughlin N., Corner A., Clarke J., Whitmarsh L., Capstick S. & Nash N. (2019) Mainstreaming 

low-carbon lifestyles. Retrieved from https://climateoutreach.org/download/15949/ 

[Accessed: 30th March 2021]. 

Mewes L. & Ebert T. (2021) Where do people want to become entrepreneurs? Mapping 
entrepreneurship potential across Great Britain, Regional Studies, Regional Science, 8(1), 
332-335.  

Miller N. & Greenwood A. (2019) Evaluation of next generation broadband Wales 

programme 2015-18, gsr report number 44/2019. Retrieved from 

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-

nextgeneration-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf.  

Morgan K. (2012) Values for money, Agenda: The Journal of the Institute of Welsh Affairs, 

Spring Issue.  

Tudalen 86

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/ENG-Section-20-Procurement-Review.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://ruralengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Final-report-Loneliness-and-Isolation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/the-prime-ministers-levelling-up-speech-15-july-2021
http://www.softmachines.org/wordpress/?p=2626
http://www.softmachines.org/wordpress/?p=2626
https://climateoutreach.org/download/15949/
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/evaluation-next-generation-broadband-wales-programme-2015-18.pdf


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

72  

  

Morgan K. (2018) The rise of metropolitics: Urban governance in the age of the city-region, in 
Bradford, N. & Bramwell, A. (Eds) Governing urban economies: Innovation and inclusion in 
Canadian city regions, pp. 297-318. University of Toronto Press.  

Morgan K. & Nauwelaers C. (Eds) (1999) Regional innovation strategies: The challenge for 

less favoured regions. Routledge, London.  

Morgan K. & Sonnino R. (2008) The school food revolution: Public food and the challenge of 

sustainable development. Routledge.  

Morgan K. J. & Morley A. (2002) Re-localising the food chain: The role of creative public 

procurement, Regeneration Institute, Cardiff University.  

Murray A., Skene K. & Haynes K. (2017) The circular economy: An interdisciplinary 
exploration of the concept and application in a global context, Journal of business ethics, 
140(3), 369-380.  

Norris L. & Henderson D. (2019) Digital technologies and future opportunities for rural 

businesses and areas in Wales, Cardiff. Retrieved from 

https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/1438802/Horizon-

scanning_ruralopportunities-03.pdf.  

OECD (2018) Rethinking regional development policy-making. Retrieved from 

https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-

making9789264293014-en.htm  

OECD (2020) The future of regional development and public investment in Wales, United 

Kingdom. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/unitedkingdom/the-future-of-

regionaldevelopment-and-public-investment-in-wales-united-kingdom-e6f5201d-en.htm 

[Accessed: 30th March 2021].  

Ofcom (2020) Connected nations 2020: Wales report. Retrieved from 

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/209441/connected-nations-

2020wales.pdf [Accessed: 29th October 2021].  

Oughton E. J. & Frias Z. (2018) The cost, coverage and rollout implications of 5G infrastructure 

in Britain, Telecommunications Policy, 42(8), 636-652.  

Pamment, L. et al (2019) Independent Review of Affordable Housing Supply, Welsh  

Government. Retrieved from: 

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/201904/independent-review-of-

affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf [Accessed: 20 December 2021].   

Rao S., Tang J. & Wang W. (2002) The importance of skills for innovation and productivity, 

International Productivity Monitor, 4, 15-26.  

Reynolds, L. (2021) Reconsidering place branding: ‘connecting the dots’ between 
placemaking, policy making and sustainable development, Welsh Economic Review, 28, 14- 
22.   

Tudalen 87

https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/1438802/Horizon-scanning_rural-opportunities-03.pdf
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/1438802/Horizon-scanning_rural-opportunities-03.pdf
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/1438802/Horizon-scanning_rural-opportunities-03.pdf
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/1438802/Horizon-scanning_rural-opportunities-03.pdf
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/1438802/Horizon-scanning_rural-opportunities-03.pdf
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/1438802/Horizon-scanning_rural-opportunities-03.pdf
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/1438802/Horizon-scanning_rural-opportunities-03.pdf
https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/1438802/Horizon-scanning_rural-opportunities-03.pdf
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://www.oecd.org/governance/rethinking-regional-development-policy-making-9789264293014-en.htm
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/independent-review-of-affordable-housing-supply-report_0.pdf
https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/138467/
https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/138467/
https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/138467/
https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/138467/
https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/138467/
https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/138467/


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

73  

  

Rodríguez-Pose A. (2018) The revenge of the places that don’t matter (and what to do about 
it), Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society, 11(1), 189-209.  

Shearmur R. (2012) Are cities the font of innovation? A critical review of the literature on cities 

and innovation, Cities, 29, S9-S18.  

SQW (2021) South West Wales regional economic delivery plan.  

Swansea Bay City Deal (2021) Swansea Bay City Deal: Portfolio business case. Retrieved from  

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s113331/EIS5-7-21%20- 

%20Evidence%20from%20Swansea%20Bay%20City%20Region%20Deal.pdf.  

The Foundational Economy Collective (2018) Foundational economy: The infrastructure of 

everyday life. Manchester University Press.  

Tyler P., Evenhuis E., Martin R., Sunley P. & Gardiner B. (2017) Growing apart? Structural 
transformation and the uneven development of British cities, Cambridge Journal of Regions, 
Economy and Society, 10(3), 425-454.  

UK Government (2021) Autumn budget and spending review 2021: A stronger economy for 

British people. Retrieved from 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ 

data/file/1029973/Budget_AB2021_Print.pdf.  

Waite D. & Morgan K. (2018) City Deals in the polycentric state: The spaces and politics of 

metrophilia in the UK, European Urban and Regional Studies, 26(4), 382-399.  

Wales Fiscal Analysis (2021) UK government budget and spending review 2021: Implications 

for Wales. Retrieved from 

https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/2580715/spending_review_2021_b 

riefing_formatted.pdf.  

Welsh Government (2015) Well-being of future generations (Wales) act 2015: The essentials. 

Retrieved from https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-08/wellbeing-of-

future-generations-wales-act-2015-the-essentials.pdf [Accessed: 24th March 2021].  

Welsh Government (2019) The foundational economy. Retrieved from 

https://gov.wales/foundational-economy.  

Welsh Government (2021a) Beyond recycling: A strategy to make the circular economy in 

Wales a reality. Retrieved from 

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/202103/beyond-recycling-strategy-

document.pdf.  

Welsh Government (2021b) Net zero Wales carbon budget 2 (2021 – 2025). Retrieved from 

https://gov.wales/net-zero-wales-carbon-budget-2-2021-2025.  

Welsh Government (2021c) Regional investment for Wales steering group meeting: 24 

march 2021. Retrieved from https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-

groupmeeting-24-march-2021.  

Tudalen 88

https://gov.wales/foundational-economy
https://gov.wales/foundational-economy
https://gov.wales/foundational-economy
https://gov.wales/foundational-economy
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021
https://gov.wales/regional-investment-wales-steering-group-meeting-24-march-2021


Exploring the innovation prospects for Carmarthenshire  

74  

  

Welsh Government (2021d) Wales procurement policy statement. Retrieved from 

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/wales-procurement-

policystatement-2021.pdf.  

Welsh Government (2021e) Working together to reach net zero: All Wales plan. Retrieved 

from https://gov.wales/working-together-reach-net-zero-all-wales-plan.  

Welsh Senedd (2021) UK internal market act 2020 research briefing. Retrieved from 

https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-actsummary/.  

WERU (2020) Digital maturity survey for Wales 2020. Cardiff University, Cardiff. Retrieved 

from https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/2477581/DMS-Report-

Full2020-083.pdf [Accessed: 8th January 2021].  

Wilkinson R. (2021) Digital infrastructure update: 4G gap between Wales and the UK 

average set to narrow. Retrieved from 

https://research.senedd.wales/researcharticles/digital-infrastructure-update-4g-gap-

between-wales-and-the-uk-average-set-tonarrow/.  

Williams C. (2021) The future of work. The Economist, 10th April.  

WLGA (2021) Wales and levelling up/community renewal funds, 27 May.  

Woods M., Heley J., Goodwin-Hawkins B. & Howells H. (2021) A rural vision for Wales: The 

evidence report. Retrieved from 

https://ruralurban.eu/sites/default/files/Rural%20Vision%20Evidence%20Report%20Final%

20Eng.pdf.  

Wright S. & Cook A. ( 2021) Local food and the public plate: Findings and recommendations 

for Carmarthenshire Public Services Board.   

  

Tudalen 89

https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/uk-internal-market-act-2020-act-summary/


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 
 
 

ADRODDIAD CHWARTEROL YNGYLCH RHEOLI’R TRYSORLYS A 
DANGOSYDD DARBODAETH EBRILL 1AF 2022 I MEDI 30AIN 2022. 

 
Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau Allweddol Sydd Eu Hangen:    
Bod y Cabinet yn ystyried a cymeradwyo yr adroddiad. 

 
Y Rhesymau:  
I ddarparu y gwybodaeth diweddaraf i aelodau, ynglyn a gweithgareddau’r adran Rheoli’r 
Trysorlys yn ystod y cyfnod Ebrill 1af 2022 i Medi 30ain 2022. 
 
Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad  OES     
  
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad  OES        
 
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: Gwasanaeth 
Corfforaethol 
 
Cyfarwyddwr: Chris Moore 
 
 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: Anthony 
Parnell 

 

 
 
 
Cyfarwyddwr 
Gwasanaethau 
Corfforaethol 
 
Rheolwr Pensiwn a 
Buddsodiadau 
Gyllidol  

 

 

Rhif ffon: 01267 224120 Ebost: 
CMoore@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

Rhif ffon: 01267 224180 Ebost: 
AParnell@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 
 

  

CABINET
28 TACHWEDD 2022

Tudalen 91

Eitem Rhif  7

mailto:CMoore@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:AParnell@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
CABINET 

28 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

Mid-Year Treasury Management and Prudential Indicator Report 1st April 2022 to 30th 
September 2022 

 
1. BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT. 
 
     To provide members with an update on the treasury management activities from 1st    
     April 2022 to 30th September 2022. 
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES 
 

 
 

  

Tudalen 92



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
2. Finance   
 
The authority’s investments during the period returned an average return of 0.94%,    
exceeding the 90-day uncompounded SONIA rate. 
 
The average gross interest earned on investments for the period amounted to £920k and       
interest paid on loans was £8.18m. 
 
The Authority did not breach any of its Prudential Indicators during the period.   

 

 
 
 

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 
Signed:      C Moore                                                           Director                             

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 
 

Finance 
 

ICT 
 

Risk 
Management 
Issues 
 

 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 

YES  NONE 
 
 

YES  NONE NONE NONE NONE 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 
 
Within the requirements of the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy Report     
2022-2023. 

 

Tudalen 93



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 
 
Signed:       C Moore                                                           Director 

 
Please specify the outcomes of consultations undertaken where they arise against 
the following headings) 

1. Scrutiny Committee request for pre-determination  N/A  
If yes include the following information: - 
Scrutiny Committee   
Date the report was considered:-  
Scrutiny Committee Outcome/Recommendations:- 
 

 
2.Local Member(s)   
N/A 
3.Community / Town Council  
N/A 
4.Relevant Partners   
N/A 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   
N/A 

 
CABINET MEMBER  PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

Include any observations here 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THERE ARE NONE  
 
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

CIPFA  
Treasury Management 
in the Public Services 
- Code of Practice 
Revised 2017 

 County Hall, Carmarthen 
 

 
 

Tudalen 94



CABINET 
28TH NOVEMBER 2022 

 
MID YEAR TREASURY MANAGEMENT AND PRUDENTIAL 

INDICATOR REPORT 
 

1ST April 2022 – 30TH September 2022 
 

A. TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT  
 
 
1. Introduction 
 
The Treasury Management Policy and Strategy for 2022-2023 was approved by Council on 
2nd March 2022. Section B 1.1(2) stated that Treasury Management activity reports would be 
made during the year. This report outlines the Treasury Management activities in the period 
1st April 2022 to 30th September 2022 and satisfies the reporting requirement stated above.  
 
There was one policy change to the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy for this period.  
Due to the increased level of income and cash available for investment, the Director of 
Corporate Services made the decision in April 2022 under emergency powers to increase the 
counterparty limits for the DMADF and Money Market Funds (as per section A. 4). To reflect 
these changes, the limits for Interest Rate Exposure have been updated for 2022-2023 (as 
per section B. 2.1.1).  
 
 
2. Economic update  
 
In August 2022, the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) increased Bank 
Rate to 1.75%, and in September 2022 moved rates up a further 50 basis points to 2.25%.  
The MPC continues to work through the challenges of getting inflation back on track over 
a three-year period. 
 
The core of the government’s new policies are tax cuts and regulatory simplification. This 
position has now been superseded following the change of Chancellor, who has announced 
a reversal of the planned tax cuts and changes to the level of Government spending. It is 
currently too early to say how  these revised policies will impact growth and inflation, but the 
expectation is that the plans will reduce the concerns about the level of unfunded 
expenditure that had previously alarmed the markets. 
 
The Bank Rate forecast set out below will be dependent on joint communications from the 
Bank of England and the government.   
 
The US Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) has increased its rate by 3% this year 
to date and is expected to increase rates further before the end of 2022.  Similarly, the 
European Central Bank (ECB) has also started to tighten monetary policy, albeit from a low 
starting point, as have all the major central banks apart from Japan.  It is US monetary 
policies that are having the greatest impact on global bond markets. 
 
What happens in Ukraine will also impact the global economy, but particularly in Europe.  
The search for alternative providers of energy, other than Russia, will take both time and 
effort.   
  Tudalen 95



 
 
 
3. Prospects for Interest Rates 
 
Based on the average projection from a number of sources we can expect the trend in base 
rates over the year to be as follows: 
 

 Dec 2022 Mar 2023 Jun 2023 Sep 2023 Dec 2023 
Base Rate % 4.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 4.50 

              (Source: LINK Asset Services) 
             
 
Link Asset Services undertook its last review of interest rate forecasts on 27th September 
2022 after the MPC meeting on 22nd September 2022, where the decision was made to 
increase the Bank Rate to 2.25% from 1.75%. 
 
 
The revised 3 year projection based on this review is: 
 

 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 
 % % % 

Revised Average Bank Rate 3.13 4.63 3.19 
Original Average Bank Rate 
(TM Strategy 2022-23) 1.13 1.25 1.25 

 
 
4. Investments 
 
One of the primary activities of the Treasury Management operation is the investment of 
surplus cash for which the Authority is responsible. As well as the Authority’s own cash the 
County Council invests School Trust Funds and other Funds, with any interest derived from 
these investments being passed over to the relevant Fund.    
 
All surplus money is invested daily on the London Money Markets. The security of the 
investments is the main priority; appropriate liquidity should be maintained and returns on the 
investments a final consideration. It continues to be difficult to invest these funds as the market 
continues to be insecure and as a consequence, appropriate counterparties are limited. 
 
The total investments at 1st April 2022 and 30th September 2022 analysed between Banks, 
Building Societies, Local Authorities and Money Market Funds, are shown in the following 
table:  
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 96



Call and Fixed Call and Fixed 
notice Term Total notice Term Total 

£m £m £m % £m £m £m %

Banks 39.50 0.00 39.50 25 27.50 14.00 41.50 21

Building Societies 0.00 7.00 7.00 4 0.00 7.00 7.00 4

Money Market Funds 25.00 0.00 25.00 16 40.00 0.00 40.00 21

DMADF (DMO) 0.00 57.00 57.00 36 0.00 76.50 76.50 39

Local Authorities 0.00 32.00 32.00 20 0.00 30.00 30.00 15

TOTAL 64.50 96.00 160.50 100 67.50 127.50 195.00 100

Investments 01.04.22 30.09.22

 
 
Investments on call are available immediately on demand. Fixed term investments are fixed 
to a maturity date. The current longest investment is maturing on 7th July 2023. 
 
The DMADF (DMO) limit was increased in April 2022 to £125m from £100m by the Director 
of Corporate Services under Emergency powers. The limits on Money Market Funds were 
also increased to £10m (each) from £5m. 
 
During the period the total investments made by the Council and repaid to the Council 
(turnover) amounted to £1,060.50m. This averaged approximately £40.57m per week or 
£5.80m per day. A summary of turnover is shown below: 
 

£m

160.50

547.50

708.00

(513.00)

195.00

Sub Total

Investments Repaid during the period

Total Investments 30th September 2022

Total Investments 1st April 2022

Investments made during the period

 
 
The main aims of the Treasury Management Strategy is to appropriately manage the cash 
flows of the Council, the required short term and longer term market transactions and the risks 
associated with this activity. Lending on the money market secures an optimum rate of return 
and also allows for diversification of investments and hence reduction of risk, which is of 
paramount importance in today’s financial markets.  
 
Benchmarks are widely used to assess investment performance. Previously, the “7 day LIBID 
rate” was the recognised rate which the Council would aim to exceed when lending money, 
however the LIBID rates ceased from 31st December 2021. Following discussions with our 
Treasury advisors at Link, a decision was made to utilise the “90 day uncompounded SONIA 
rate” (backward looking) to benchmark our investment performance going forward. This 
benchmark will be reviewed periodically with our advisors.  
 
 

Tudalen 97



 
 
For the period under review the average “90-day uncompounded SONIA rate” was 0.91% 
whereas the actual rate the Council earned was 0.94%, an out performance of 0.03%. This 
outperformance can be quantified as £29k additional interest earned compared to the “90-
day uncompounded SONIA rate”. 
 
The average gross interest earned on investments for the period amounted to £920k. This 
includes £220k interest on monies held for the Swansea Bay City Deal region. 
 
The income from investments is used by the Authority to reduce the net overall costs to the 
Council taxpayer.  

 
5. Security, Liquidity and Yield (SLY) 
  
Within the Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2022-2023, the Council’s 
investment priorities are: 
• Security of Capital 
• Liquidity and 
• Yield 

The Council aims to achieve the optimum return (yield) on investments commensurate with 
proper levels of security and liquidity. In the current economic climate it is considered 
appropriate to keep investments short term to cover short term cash flow needs but also to 
seek out value available in significantly higher rates in periods up to 12 months with highly 
credit rated financial institutions.  
 
Attached at Appendix 1 is the Investment Summary and Top 10 Counterparty Holdings as at 
30th September 2022. 
 

6. Borrowing 

One of the methods used to fund capital expenditure is long term borrowing. The principal 
lender for Local Authorities is the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).  
 
Under the Treasury Management Strategy, it was agreed to borrow when interest rates are 
at their most advantageous.  
 
The total loans at 1st April 2022 and 30th September 2022 are shown in the following table: 
 

Balance at Balance at Net Increase/
01.04.22 30.09.22 (Net Decrease) 

£m £m £m

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 387.61 398.61 11.00

Market Loan 3.00 3.00 0.00

Salix, Invest to Save, HILS & TCL 10.13 10.11 (0.02)

TOTAL 400.74 411.72 10.98

Loans

 

Tudalen 98



 

The Salix interest free loans have been provided by an independent publicly funded company 
dedicated to providing the public sector with loans for energy efficiency projects. 

The interest free ‘Invest-2-Save’ funding is to assist in the conversion of traditional street 
lighting to LED, which will help deliver a legacy of reduced energy costs and associated 
carbon taxes. 

The Home Improvement Loan Scheme (HILS) repayable funding is provided by the Welsh 
Government to help individual homeowners, small portfolio landlords, developers and 
charities to improve homes and increase housing supply. 

The Town Centre Loan (TCL) repayable funding is provided by the Welsh Government to 
provide loans to reduce the number of vacant, underutilised and redundant sites and premises 
in town centres and to support the diversification of the town centres by encouraging more 
sustainable uses for empty sites and premises, such as residential, leisure and for key 
services.  
 

6.1 New Borrowing  

The following loans were borrowed during the period: 
 
Loan 

Reference
Amount 

(£m)
Interest 

Rate Start Date Period Maturity Date 
PWLB 548866 5.00 3.91% 12th September 2022 47yrs 28th September 2069
PWLB 548868 5.00 3.90% 12th September 2022 48yrs 28th September 2070
PWLB 548870 5.00 3.90% 12th September 2022 49yrs 28th September 2071
PWLB 548872 5.00 3.89% 12th September 2022 49yrs 10mths 31st July 2072
Total 20.00  

 
6.2 Interest Paid 

 
Interest paid on loans during the period was: 
 
 

PWLB Market Loan Total
Interest Interest Interest

Paid Paid Paid
£m £m £m

8.11 0.07 8.18
 

7. Rescheduling and Premature Loan Repayments 

No rescheduling opportunities arose during the period and there were no premature loan 
repayments. However, due to the current economic climate and the consequential structure 
of interest rates opportunities may arise in the future. 

 
 
  

Tudalen 99



 

 

8. Leasing 
 
No leases were negotiated during the period 1st April 2022 to 30th September 2022. 
 
 
 
B. PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR REPORT 
 

1. Prudential Indicators 

As part of the 2022-2023 Budget and the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-
2023, the Council adopted a number of Prudential Indicators. These Indicators are designed 
to ensure that any borrowing or other long-term liabilities entered into for capital purposes 
were affordable, sustainable and prudent. 

The indicators are required by the Local Government Act 2003 and the Revised Prudential 
Code of Practice in order to control Capital Finance. The Prudential Code also required that 
those Prudential Indicators that were forward looking should be monitored and reported. 
Some of the indicators are monitored by officers monthly and are only reported if they are 
likely to be breached, others are to be monitored quarterly by the Executive Board. 
 
 
 
 1.1 Affordability Prudential Indicator 
 
 
 1.1.1 Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

 
The indicator set for 2022-2023 in the Budget was: 
 

 
 2022-2023 

% 
Non-HRA  3.95 
HRA 30.90 

 
 
An examination of the assumptions made in calculating this indicator concluded that there 
have been no changes in this period. 

  

Tudalen 100



 
 
 
1.2 Prudence Prudential Indicators 

 
 

1.2.1 Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
 
The Director of Corporate Services reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the current or 
future years in complying with this prudential indicator.   
 

2022-2023 As at 2022-2023
Estimate 30.09.22 Forecast

£m £m £m

CFR – non housing 285 283 283
CFR – housing 178 170 170
CFR - housing subsidy buy-out 69 69 69
Total CFR 532 522 522

Capital Financing Requirement

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.2.2. Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary 
 

The actual value of loans outstanding must not exceed the Authorised Limit.  In normal 
activity actual loans outstanding should be close but less than the Operational Boundary. 
The Operational Boundary can be breached in the short term due to adverse cash flows. 
 

250

275

300

325

350

375

400

425

450

475

500

525

550

575

600

625

Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22

Authorised Limit

Operational Boundary

Actual Loans Outstanding
£m

Month

Tudalen 101



2022-23 2022-23 2022-23 2022-23
Estimate Forecast Estimate Forecast

£m £m £m £m
Borrowing 584.9 584.9 532.1 532.1
Other Long-Term Liabilities 0.5 0.5 0.1 0.1
Total 585.4 585.4 532.2 532.2

Authorised Limit for 
External Debt

Operational Boundary 
for External Debt

 
 

Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Authorised Limit 585.4 585.4 585.4 585.4 585.4 585.4
Operational Boundary 532.2 532.2 532.2 532.2 532.2 532.2

Loans Outstanding 401 401 401 392 392 412  
 
 
Neither the Authorised Limit nor the Operational Boundary have been breached. 
 

 
 
2.1 Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 

 
2.1.1 Interest Rate Exposure 

 
Position as at 30th September 2022: 

 
 Fixed Interest 

Rate 
£m 

Variable 
Interest Rate 

£m 

TOTAL 
 

£m 
Borrowed 408.72   3.00 411.72 
Invested (127.50) (67.50) (195.00) 
Net  281.22 (64.50) 216.72 
Limit 512.00 51.00  
    
Proportion of Net 
Borrowing Actual 

 
   129.76% 

 
  (29.76)% 

 
100.00% 

Limit    150.00%*   5.00%  
 
*Revised limit, increased from 125.00%. 
 
The authority is within limits set by the 2022-2023 indicators. 
 

  

Tudalen 102



 
 
 

2.1.2 Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 
 

 Structure at 
   30.09.22 
         % 

    Upper 
     Limit 
        % 

    Lower 
     Limit 
        % 

Under 12 months        0.52        15         0 
12 months to 2 years        1.77        15         0 
2 years to 5 years        6.76        50         0 
5 years to 10 years        8.89        50         0 
10 years to 20 years      20.80        50         0 
20 years to 30 years      20.28        50         0 
30 years to 40 years      22.52        50         0 
40 years and above      18.46        50         0 

 
The authority is within the limits set by the 2022-2023 indicators. 
 
 
2.1.3 Maximum Principal Sums Invested Longer than 365 Days 

 
  2022-2023 

       £m 
Limit  
 

       10 
 

Actual as at 30th September 2022 
 

       NIL 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

That Cabinet considers and approves the report including changes to the 
limits for Interest Rate Exposure (as per section B. 2.1.1) 

 

Tudalen 103



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Investment Summary as at 30th September 2022 Carmarthenshire County Council

Total £195,000,000 Yield 1.77% < 1 year £13,383 0.007%

Calls & MMFs £67,500,000 35% Maturity (Days) 1 - 2 years £0 0.000%

Fixed Deposits £127,500,000 65% Total Portfolio Total Portfolio 64.74 2 - 3 years £0 0.000%

Specified £67,500,000 100% 3 - 4 years £0 0.000%

Long Term Short Term 4 - 5 years £0 0.000%

AAA - 1.00 Total Portfolio £13,383 0.007%

AA F1 84.31

A F1 74.32

BBB F2 0.00

CCC C 0.00

< 1 Week £67,500,000 35%

< 1 Month £32,500,000 17%

2 - 3 Months £54,000,000 28%

3 - 6 Months £24,000,000 12%

6 - 9 Months £10,000,000 5%

9 - 12 Months £7,000,000 4%

12 Months+ £0 0%

Total £195,000,000 100%

Carmarthenshire County Council
30/09/2022

Totals Risk FactorsWeighted Average

Maturity Structure

SLY Model 

T
udalen 105



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



Top 10 Counterparty Holdings

Counterparty Principal
% of Total 

Holding

WAM 

(Days)
WAYield WADefault

1. Dmadf £76,500,000 51.52% 69 2.16% 0.003%

2. Federated £10,000,000 6.73% 1 1.91% 0.000%

3. Goldman Sachs £10,000,000 6.73% 1 1.75% 0.000%

4. Blackrock £10,000,000 6.73% 1 1.76% 0.000%

5. Bank of Scotland £7,000,000 4.71% 1 0.50% 0.000%

6. Nationwide Building Society £7,000,000 4.71% 49 0.35% 0.013%

7. Standard Chartered Bank £7,000,000 4.71% 1 2.04% 0.000%

8. National Westminster Bank £7,000,000 4.71% 182 2.30% 0.047%

9. Lloyds Bank £7,000,000 4.71% 280 2.00% 0.072%

10. HSBC £7,000,000 4.71% 1 1.62% 0.000%

Carmarthenshire County Council

£0

£10,000,000

£20,000,000

£30,000,000

£40,000,000

£50,000,000

£60,000,000

£70,000,000

£80,000,000

£90,000,000

1. Dmadf 2. Federated 3. Goldman Sachs 4. Blackrock 5. Bank of Scotland 6. Nationwide
Building Society

7. Standard
Chartered Bank

8. National
Westminster Bank

9. Lloyds Bank 10. HSBC

T
udalen 107



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



 

CABINET 
28 TACHWEDD 2022 

 
FFIOEDD A THALIADAU CYN-YMGEISIO Y CORFF CYMERADWYO 

DRAENIO CYNALIADWY (SAB) 
 
Y Pwrpas:   
Helpu'r Corff Cymeradwyo Draenio Cynaliadwy i fod yn niwtral o ran cost.  

 
Yr argymhellion / penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 

• Caniatáu i'r Corff Cymeradwyo Draenio Cynaliadwy (SAB) godi tâl am gyngor ac 
arweiniad cyn cyflwyno cais sy'n gysylltiedig â phroses geisiadau'r SAB.   

• Ar ôl cymeradwyo'r papur hwn, codir tâl.  

 
Y Rhesymau:  

• Helpu i sicrhau bod y SAB yn ariannu ei hun ac nad yw'n cael effaith andwyol ar gyllideb 
yr Awdurdod;  

• Codi tâl realistig am wasanaethau y mae'r Awdurdod yn eu darparu; 
• Sicrhau bod y SAB yn gadarn ac yn wydn yn economaidd i reoli gofynion y ddyletswydd 

statudol hon yn y dyfodol.  
 

Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad                    OES  

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                            NAC OES 

YR AELOD CABINET SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-             
Y Cynghorydd Edward Thomas 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 
Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth: 
 
Ainsley Williams 
 
 
 
 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
Ben Kathrens  
 

Swyddi: 
 
 
 
Cyfarwyddwr Dros Dro yr 
Amgylchedd a Phennaeth 
y Gwasanaethau 
Amgylcheddol a 
Gwastraff 
 
Rheolwr Amddiffyn rhag 
Llifogydd a Diogelu'r 
Arfordir  

Manylion Cyswllt 
 
 
 
4500 
AiWilliams@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
4520 
bkathrens@sirgar.gov.uk 

Tudalen 109

Eitem Rhif  8



 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
CABINET 

28 NOVEMBER 2022 

 
Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB) pre-application fees 

and charges. 
BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT. 
 
In January 2019 Schedule 3 of the Flood & Water Management Act 2010 was enacted and 
Carmarthenshire County Council became a Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB).  This 
is a statutory duty that requires new developments of more than one dwelling or where the 
area covered by construction work, which has drainage implications, equals or exceeds 100 
square metres to obtain approval from the SAB before construction can commence.  The 
SAB will only grant approval if it is satisfied that the proposed surface water drainage system 
is compliant with the SuDS National Standards. 
 
The SAB team is part of the Flood Defence and Coastal Protection Unit within Waste and 
Environmental Services Division. The team has an Assistant SAB Engineer and a SAB 
Engineer.  The team also funds one FTE of business services support from the Planning 
service.  
As with all new legislation, time and resource is spent developing processes and systems but 
also educating stakeholders. The team have continued to expend considerable effort and 
time providing statutory pre-application processing as well as advice and guidance which, is 
currently not being charged for.  
 
While the statutory instruments pertaining to the legislation provide a charging scheme for 
SAB full applications they did not provide such a scheme for pre-applications and enquiries.  
Advice from Welsh Government, is that the SAB can charge for pre-application services 
under existing legislation such as the Local Government (LG) Act 2003.  Additionally, there 
are existing charging mechanism for pre-application services contained within The Town and 
Country Planning Regulations 2016.  
 
For example; Neath and Port Talbot Council are charging a flat fee of £250 (including VAT) in 
line with section 93 of the LG Act. Caerphilly County Borough Council are also charging for 
pre-application services under regulation 2A, schedule 4 of the Town and Country Planning 
Regulations 2016. Regulation 2A contains a charging scheme that provides greater scope to 
charge for a wide range of potential applications in terms of size and end usage. 
 
In 2020/21 there were 66 official pre-application submissions which currently have no fee.  
Based on a standard fee of £250 these applications could have generated a further £16,500.  
In 2021/22 there were 65 pre application with no fee which would have generated £16,250.  
This year there have been 22 pre-apps which would have been another £5500. It is proposed 
that, like the Planning Process, most queries and advice will be channelled down the pre-app 
route once the charging mechanism is agreed.    
 
This paper is being presented to gain approval to charge, under section 93 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 for pre-application advice and guidance associated with SAB 
application works.   
 

Tudalen 110



 

 
 

  

The charges will be based on the schedule set out in regulation 2A, schedule 4 of the Town 
and Country Planning Regulations 2016 (see attached).  These provide fairness and 
transparency in that they are charges written into legislation and in addition, they are use by 
multiple SABs which is affording consistency.  At least eleven of the twenty-two Welsh 
Councils are charging for SAB Pre-Application services.  All neighbouring SABs in southwest 
Wales are charging under the same mechanism.  
 
It is proposed that the charging mechanism becomes effective as soon as this paper is 
approved. 
 
OTHER OPTIONS AVAILABLE AND THEIR PROS AND CONS 
 
Continue with a free service 
Pros – customers get a free service which provides them with valuable information to ensure 
that their full applications and suitability robust. 
Cons – the SAB looses out on the income and its ability to grow the team to meet greater 
demands in future. 
 
 
 
 

 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? Yes 
 

Tudalen 111



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
 

  

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 
Signed:    Ainsley Williams                                                          Director of Environment                      

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 
 

Finance 
 

ICT 
 

Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 
NONE YES YES No YES  NONE NONE 

2. Legal   
The Town and County Planning (Pre-Application Services) Regulations 2016 imposes a 
duty of CCC to provide planning pre-application planning services. 
 
The information/services that we must provide are prescribed by Regulations 7 & 8 of the 
above regulations. This includes the provision of information about “any other considerations 
which are or could be material in the opinion of the authority” and “an initial assessment of the 
proposed development”.  
 
SUDs pre-application advice, in conjunction with the pre-planning process, can therefore be 
charged inline with the Fees/Charges set out in Schedule 4 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications and Site Visits) (Wales)(Amendment) 
Regulations 2016. 
 
Under Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003, CCC has the power to charge for 
discretionary services. The pre-SAB advice is discretionary, not a statutory requirement and 
as such falls into this category.  
 
Legal colleagues have confirmed that: 
SUDS pre-application advice is a discretionary service.  Currently it is separate from the 
statutory pre-application T&CP process under the 2016 Planning Regs and as such the 
charging powers under section 93 of the LGA are most applicable.   
 
Under this provision we have discretion over the sums to charge, although the 
charges that we impose - taking one financial year with another – must not exceed 
the costs of providing the service. 

Tudalen 112



 

3. Finance   
The SAB currently sits in the Waste and Environmental Services Division in the Flood 
Defence and Coastal Protection Business Unit.  The team consists of 3 members of staff (x2 
Engineers in the Flood Defence Team and x1 Business Support Officer based in the Planning 
Department).  
 
There is no budget allocated to this team, the business case for these posts is based on the 
team receiving enough SAB application fees to cover the £131k associated costs (2022/23 
figures). Costs are currently only partly covered and last year the SAB’s balance sheet was a 
negative £45k. 
 
The ability to charge for pre-application advice and guidance will make the SAB team more 
economically robust and self-sufficient which in turn will reduce if not eliminate the impact on 
the Flood Defence and Coastal Protection Business Unit whose revenue budget is currently 
subsidising these duties. 
 
5. Risk Management Issues 
 
Financial shortfall 
Across Wales we are not seeing the application numbers that were expected given the 
number of planning consents being issued.  As such we have a considerable shortfall in the 
predicted income while the volume (advice and guidance) has remained high.  
 
The lack of income and national assistance has resulted us developing our own legal 
agreements, adoption agreements and bond agreements in additional to developing our own 
policies and processes etc.  As such current resource levels do not allow for the development 
of an enforcement capability in this respect.  Locally and nationally most SAB Engineers are 
concerned that given the volume of planning there must be developments proceeding without 
the necessary SAB permissions.   
  
Most SABs across Wales are unable to fund further officers and engineers to undertake a 
monitoring / enforcement function and as such there is the risk that non-compliance will be the 
default as there is no consequence. This will undermine confidence in the process.  
 
It is envisaged that the pre-application charges will, in time, generate enough revenue to allow 
the team to become self-sufficient and potentially expand and have a dedicated enforcement 
officer.  In the short term, the proposed charging scheme will focus customers and reduce the 
number of general small basic queries that are currently resource intensive.  This will 
hopefully free up some resource to focus on monitoring and enforcement.  

 
 

  

Tudalen 113



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 
 
Signed:             Ainsley Williams                                                  Director of Environment                                      

 
(Please specify the outcomes of consultations undertaken where they arise against 
the following headings) 

1. Scrutiny Committee request for pre-determination  NO 
If yes include the following information: - 
Scrutiny Committee   
Date the report was considered:-  
Scrutiny Committee Outcome/Recommendations:- 

 
2.Local Member(s)  N/A 
3.Community / Town Council N/A 
4.Relevant Partners  N/A 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  N/A 

 
CABINET MEMBER  PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

 

Yes 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THERE ARE NONE  (Delete as applicable) 
 
Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

   
   
   

 

Tudalen 114



1 | P a g e    
 

FEES IN RESPECT OF REQUESTS FOR PRE-APPLICATION 
SERVICES 

 
The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications and Site 

Visits) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2016 : Schedule – Regulation 2(5) – Schedule 4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE 4, PART 1 
Fees payable under Regulation 2A 

1. —(1) Subject to paragraph 2 of this Part, the fee payable under regulation 2A is 

calculated in accordance with the table set out in Part 2 and paragraphs 3 to 
5. 

(2) In this Part— 
(a) a reference to a category is to a category of proposed development 

specified in the table set out in Part 2; and a reference to a numbered 
category is to the category so numbered in the table; and 

(b) “householder application” (“cais deiliad tŷ”) has the same meaning as in 

article 2(1) of the Development Management Procedure Order. 

2. Where a request for pre-application services relates to a proposed householder 

application, the fee payable is £25. 

3. Where, in respect of any category, the fee is to be calculated by reference to the 

site area, that area must be taken as consisting of the area of land to which the 
proposed application relates. 

4. In relation to proposed development within category 2 or 3, the area of the gross 

floor space to be created by the proposed development must be ascertained by 
external measurement of the floor space, whether or not it is to be bounded 

(wholly or partly) by external walls of a building. 

5. Where a request for pre-application services relates to proposed development 
within more than one category, a single fee is payable which is the higher or 

highest of the fees calculated in accordance with each such category. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 115

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/62/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/62/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/62/made


2 | P a g e    
 

 

Category of proposed development Fee Payable 
1. The erection of dwellinghouses 

(a) Where— 

(i) the number of dwellinghouses to be created by 

the proposed development is one to nine, £250, 

(ii) the number of dwellinghouses to be created by 

the proposed development is 10 to 24, £600, the 

number of dwellinghouses to be created by the 

proposed development exceeds 24, £1,000; 

(b) where the number of dwellinghouses to be created is 

not known and— 
(i) the proposed site area does not exceed 0.49 hectares, 

£250, 

(ii) the proposed site area is 0.5 to 0.99 hectares, £600, 

the proposed site area exceeds 0.99 hectares, £1,000. 
1. The erection of buildings  

(other than dwellinghouses) (a) Where— 

(i) the area of the gross floor space to be created by 

the proposed development does not exceed 999 

square metres, £250, 

(ii) the area of the gross floor space to be created by 

the proposed development is 1,000 to 1,999 square 

metres, £600, the area of the gross floor space to be 

created by the proposed development exceeds 1,999 

square metres, £1,000; 
(b) where the gross floor space to be created by 

the proposed development is not known and— 
(i) the proposed site area does not exceed 0.49 hectares, 

£250, 

(ii) the proposed site area is 0.5 to 0.99 hectares, £600, 
the proposed site area exceeds 0.99 hectares, £1,000. 

2. The making of a material change  

in the use of a building or land 
(a) Where the request for pre-application services relates 

to a proposed application for permission for a 

material change in the use of a building and— 

(i) the area of the gross floor space of the proposed 

development does not exceed 999 square metres, 

£250, 

(ii) where the area of the gross floor space of 

the proposed development is 1,000 to 1,999 

square metres, £600, where the area of the 

gross floor space of the proposed 

development exceeds 1,999 square metres, 

£1,000; 
(b) where the request for pre-application services relates 

to a proposed application for permission for a 

material change in the use of land and— 

(i) the site area does not exceed 0.49 hectares, £250, 
(ii) the site area is 0.5 to 0.99 hectares, £600, the site 

area exceeds 0.99 hectares, £1,000. 
4. The winning and working of minerals 

or the use of land for mineral-working 

deposits 

 

£600. 

5 Waste development £600. 

 

SCHEDULE 4, PART 2 

Fees in Respect of Requests for Pre-Application Services under Regulation 2A 

Tudalen 116



3 | P a g e    
 

 

Tudalen 117



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 
 

AILDDOSBARTHU'R A476 CROSS HANDS 
Y Pwrpas:  
Y bwriad oedd agor Ffordd Gyswllt Economaidd Cross Hands i draffig ym mis Hydref 2022. 
Cynigir y bydd dosbarthiadau ffordd yn cael eu diwygio i wneud y ffordd gyswllt newydd yr A476 
a bydd rhan o ffordd bresennol yr A476 yn cael ei dosbarthu fel ffordd B.    
 
Mae'r cynnig hwn wedi'i drafod gyda Llywodraeth Cymru sy'n rheoli'r rhwydwaith Cefnffyrdd 
sy'n cefnogi'r cynnig. Mae mân addasiadau eraill wedi'u cynnwys hefyd.  
 
Os cytunir, bydd y gwaith ailddosbarthu yn cael ei gydlynu gyda newidiadau i arwyddion ar y 
Rhwydwaith Cefnffyrdd gyda threfniadau dros dro ar waith hyd nes y bydd y ffordd yn cael ei 
hailddosbarthu. 

Yr argymhellion / penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen:  
Cytuno i'r egwyddor o ailddosbarthu'r A476 yn Cross Hands. 

 
Y Rhesymau: 
Sicrhau bod traffig yn cael ei reoli'n effeithiol a sicrhau y manteisir yn llawn ar y ffordd 
newydd.  
 
Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad                    OES  

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                  NAC OES  

YR AELOD CABINET SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-               
Y Cynghorydd Edward Thomas (Gwasanaethau Trafnidiaeth, Gwastraff a Seilwaith) 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 
 
Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 
 
Steve Pilliner 
 
Awduron yr Adroddiad: 
 
Richard Waters 
 
 
Adrian Harries 

Swyddi: 
 
 
 
Pennaeth Gwasanaeth – 
Priffyrdd a Thrafnidiaeth  
 
 
Rheolwr Gwasanaethau 
Priffyrdd a Thrafnidiaeth 
 
Rheolwr y Gwasanaethau 
Dylunio Proffesiynol 
  

Cyfeiriadau e-bost: 
 
 
 
sgpilliner@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
 
 
rwaters@sirgar.gov.uk 
 
 
raharries@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

CABINET
28 TACHWEDD 2022

Tudalen 119

Eitem Rhif  9

mailto:rwaters@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
CABINET 

28 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

Reclassification of A476 Cross Hands 
 

The construction of the Cross Hands Economic Link Road is expected to be completed in 
October 2022 and the new road open to traffic.  The new road will provide a high quality and 
more direct link between the A48 Trunk Road at Cross Hands and the A476 to the north of 
Gorslas. 
 
The new road will take traffic out of an urban area and away from homes and a local school.  It 
will also relieve pressure on the existing A48/A476 roundabout at Cross Hands which can be a 
source of traffic congestion and delay. The new road will play a key role in facilitating access to 
future development sites and improving access to existing sites. 
 
To derive all of the potential benefits of the new road it is proposed to designate it as part of the 
A476 and to reclassify a section of the existing A476 through Gorslas as a ‘B’ class road.This 
reclassification will enable the route north from the A48 along the A476 to Llandeilo to be 
signed from the grade separated junction to the east of Cross Hands rather than through the 
existing roundabout. 
 
Associated with the new road a short section of the B4556 (Norton Road) will also be 
redesignated along a new access onto the Link Road.  Plans indicating the proposed highway 
classifications is attached along with a plan of the existing arrangement. 
 
Welsh Government are supportive of the changes and recognise the benefits of reclassification 
in relieving pressure on the key roundabout junction at Cross Hands which can become 
congested during peak times.   
 
The proposal would require changes to the existing signage on the A48 Trunk Road which 
Welsh Government hope to be in a position to implement in 2023/24.  The reclassification will 
be brought forward in coordination with Welsh Government’s signage changes.  In the interim 
the existing road classification will remain.    
 
Powers to reclassify roads are vested in local authorities.  Advertising and consultation is not a 
requirement however new road numbers, which will be required for a short section of current 
A476, are generated by Welsh Government. 
 
Further details on the process are available at:    
Classification of roads and the Primary Route Network | GeoPlace LLP 
GeoPlace - NSG Department for Transport A4 Insert_AW3 - Revised Contact Details.indd 
 
Recommendation:  
That the reclassification of the A476 is approved in principle. 
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO 

Tudalen 120

https://www.geoplace.co.uk/addresses-streets/street-data-and-services/classification-of-roads-and-the-primary-route-network
https://static.geoplace.co.uk/downloads/Local-authorities-handed-greater-control-of-road-network-by-Department-for-Transport.pdf


 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
 Legal   
The reclassification of County roads is a power vested in local authorities. Details of this 
process are contained and referenced within the report. 

 
Finance   
Traffic sign changes on County roads will be funded from scheme budgets.  Welsh 
Government will fund their own changes to Trunk Road signs which is expected in 2023/24. 

  
Physical Assets   
The new Economic Link Road will provide a significant improvement in traffic management in 
the area.  The road will take pressure off the A48 Cross Hands roundabout which can be 
subject to congestion during peak traffic hours.  The new link road also removes traffic from 
an existing section of the A476 which has many residential frontages and a local school 
nearby.   
 
The Link Road also improves access to existing employment and retail sites and facilitates 
further development. 
 

 
 
 

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 
 
Signed:               Steve Pilliner                                           Head of Highways and Transportation Services 

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 
 

Finance 
 

ICT 
 

Risk 
Management 
Issues 
 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 
NONE 
 

YES  YES NONE 
 

NONE 
 

NONE 
 

YES  
 

Tudalen 121



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 
 

Signed:   Steve Pilliner                                                    Head of Highways and Transportation Services  
(Please specify the outcomes of consultations undertaken where they arise against 
the following headings) 

1. Scrutiny Committee request for pre-determination  NO  
If yes include the following information: - 
Scrutiny Committee   
Date the report was considered:-  
Scrutiny Committee Outcome/Recommendations:- 
 

 
2.Local Member(s)   
N/A 
3.Community / Town Council  
NA at this stage  
 
4.Relevant Partners   
Welsh Government 
South Wales Trunk Road Agency 
 
5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations   
N/A 

 
 

CABINET MEMBER  PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER(S) AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

Include any observations here 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 
THERE ARE NONE 
 

 
  

 

Tudalen 122



Tudalen 123



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 125

Eitem Rhif  12
Yn rhinwedd  paragraff(au) 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 fel y'i diwygiwyd gan 
Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at Wybodaeth) (Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Tudalen 131

Yn rhinwedd  paragraff(au) 14 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A o ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 fel y'i diwygiwyd gan 
Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at Wybodaeth) (Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol


	Agenda
	3 LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR GOFNODION CYFARFOD Y CABINET A GYNHALWYD AR 14 TACHWEDD 2022
	6 STRATEGAETH ARLOESI LLEOL
	Adroddiad

	7 ADRODDIAD CHWARTEROL YNGYLCH RHEOLI'R TRYSORLYS A DANGOSYDD DARBODAETH EBRILL 1AF 2022 I MEDI 30AIN 2022
	Adroddiad
	4. Investments
	6. Borrowing
	One of the methods used to fund capital expenditure is long term borrowing. The principal lender for Local Authorities is the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).
	The Salix interest free loans have been provided by an independent publicly funded company dedicated to providing the public sector with loans for energy efficiency projects.
	The interest free ‘Invest-2-Save’ funding is to assist in the conversion of traditional street lighting to LED, which will help deliver a legacy of reduced energy costs and associated carbon taxes.
	The Home Improvement Loan Scheme (HILS) repayable funding is provided by the Welsh Government to help individual homeowners, small portfolio landlords, developers and charities to improve homes and increase housing supply.
	The Town Centre Loan (TCL) repayable funding is provided by the Welsh Government to provide loans to reduce the number of vacant, underutilised and redundant sites and premises in town centres and to support the diversification of the town centres by encouraging more sustainable uses for empty sites and premises, such as residential, leisure and for key services.
	6.1 New Borrowing
	The following loans were borrowed during the period:
	7. Rescheduling and Premature Loan Repayments
	No rescheduling opportunities arose during the period and there were no premature loan repayments. However, due to the current economic climate and the consequential structure of interest rates opportunities may arise in the future.
	8. Leasing
	1. Prudential Indicators


	As part of the 2022-2023 Budget and the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022-2023, the Council adopted a number of Prudential Indicators. These Indicators are designed to ensure that any borrowing or other long-term liabilities entered into for capital purposes were affordable, sustainable and prudent.
	The indicators are required by the Local Government Act 2003 and the Revised Prudential Code of Practice in order to control Capital Finance. The Prudential Code also required that those Prudential Indicators that were forward looking should be monitored and reported. Some of the indicators are monitored by officers monthly and are only reported if they are likely to be breached, others are to be monitored quarterly by the Executive Board.


	Appendix 1a
	Appendix 1b

	8 FFIOEDD A THALIADAU CYN-YMGEISIO Y CORFF CYMERADWYO DRAENIO CYNALIADWY (SAB)
	Adroddiad

	9 AILDDOSBARTHU'R A476 CROSS HANDS
	Atodiad

	12 STRATEGAETH DERBYNIADAU CYFALAF
	Atodiad


